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Risk to be continuously monitored by Holcim and risk 
governance adjusted accordingly to limit negative business 
impact.

Opportunity improving the conditions for delivery of our 
strategy and with a positive business impact.

PARIS AGREEMENT-
ALIGNED SCENARIO

INEFFECTIVE COLLECTIVE 
ACTION

RISKS

1. POLICY AND LEGAL

RISKS OPPORTUNITIESOPPORTUNITIES

2. MARKET

3. TECHNOLOGY

4. REPUTATION

5. PHYSICAL

1.1 CO₂ prices and 
other climate policies

2.1 Access to mineral components

2.2 Cost of fossil fuels/energy

2.3 Circular construction (recycling 
materials, smart design and driving 
repair and renovation)

2.4 Demand for low-carbon 
building materials

3.1 Decarbonization of supply chain 
(energy and transportation)

3.2 Deployment of breakthrough 
technologies on a large scale

4.1 Impact on Group’s stakeholders

5.1 Chronic – higher average 
temperatures and sea level rise

5.2 Acute – extreme events 
(flooding and heat)
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PARIS AGREEMENT-ALIGNED SCENARIO INEFFECTIVE COLLECTIVE ACTION 
AGAINST CLIMATE CHANGE SCENARIO

1. POLICY AND LEGAL Consistent with our net-zero strategy, reliable and 
stable carbon prices in all regions facilitates long-term 
investment decisions in low-carbon technologies and 
encourages significant changes across the building 
material and construction value chain. It will also 
support the collective effort to create a CO₂ 
transportation and storage network at large scale, in line 
with the needs of other industries.

The limited number of CO₂ pricing schemes hampers 
deployment of breakthrough technologies at the pace 
needed, making it more challenging for Holcim to 
deliver on its net-zero target. Also, with fragmented 
decarbonization efforts in the construction value chain, 
it is more difficult to benefit from the competitive 
advantage offered by a low-carbon footprint.

2. MARKET While decarbonization of the construction value chain 
progresses, focus is on reducing operational emissions 
in the built environment, and circular construction is 
progressively endorsed by norms and regulations 
globally. This results in higher demand for low-carbon 
and circular building materials, and for our Solutions & 
Products segment. Simultaneously, as the steel and 
energy industries decarbonize, the availability of 
supplementary materials such as fly ash or slag 
decreases. Holcim mitigates this risk by securing 
sources of limestone, construction demolition materials 
or byproducts from other industries, but also by 
investing in calcined clay facilities and developing novel 
cements with new binders. With the progressive 
transition to decarbonized energy sources, Holcim’s 
dependency on fossil fuel decreases.

As there are few regulatory incentives to use low-carbon 
products and to recycle, there is a limited increase in  
sales of our low-carbon cement and concrete. Demand 
for our circular materials and our products and 
solutions will be driven by urbanization, the need to 
protect natural resources and increased fossil fuel 
prices. By 2030, while the average clinker factor reduces 
moderately, the availability and cost of mineral 
components will remain virtually unchanged compared 
with today’s levels. By 2050, the price of these materials 
modestly increases as some decarbonization of 
industries is underway, leading to a limited negative 
impact. However, with the slower transition to 
decarbonized energy sources, demand for fossil fuels 
remains strong.

3. TECHNOLOGY Holcim will benefit from the overall decarbonization 
efforts in society thanks to: (1) Earlier readiness and 
affordability of breakthrough technologies, such as kiln 
electrification, hydrogen and – most importantly – 
CCUS. (2) Efforts in our own value chain/with suppliers, 
which will reduce our Scope 3 emissions. Additionally, 
we expect the production of supplementary 
cementitious material such as calcined clay to mature.

Holcim will need to make significant additional efforts 
to reach its Scope 1 targets, as governments are slow to 
implement the necessary policies to scale up 
breakthrough technologies, such as kiln electrification, 
hydrogen and CCUS and the associated networks and 
infrastructure. Scope 3 targets are challenged, as 
suppliers do not decarbonize at the necessary pace.

4. REPUTATION In the short term, Holcim’s cement production segment 
remains in the spotlight as a CO₂-intensive business, 
bringing reputational risks. However, as the net-zero 
roadmap is delivered and Holcim is seen as a keen 
contributor to climate change mitigation, its reputation, 
trust and credibility grow and the strategy is aligned 
with stakeholders’ expectations.

The slow pace of the required regulatory incentives will 
pose additional challenges for Holcim’s decarbonization 
journey, progressively increasing associated 
reputational risks.

5. PHYSICAL Extreme precipitation and flooding impacting sites and 
supply chains in affected areas will require further 
protective measures and mitigation plans. Today, 26% of 
our sites are located in areas with medium to extremely 
high water stress, which explains why appropriate 
governance and management in water consumption, 
recycling and treatment are already required.

Extreme weather events such as torrential precipitation, 
flooding, drought and excessive heat days will increase 
significantly in frequency and intensity. In the long term, 
these may be considerably more intense, and mean that 
protection measures at existing locations are 
insufficient. This could have severe financial impacts on 
sites and supply chains and could potentially jeopardize 
the economic viability of some of our operations. 
Further risks, such as wildfire and windstorms, will 
increase and become significant threats. An opportunity 
is presented by the development of our Solutions & 
Products business segment, which offers integrated 
solutions and systems specifically designed to tackle 
climate change challenges -by increasing energy 
efficiency, providing cooling effects, extending the 
longevity of building materials and enhancing options 
to generate renewable energy. 
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Battersea Power Station in London, UK, was retrofitted
using Holcim’s sustainable building solutions
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This management discussion and analysis should 
be read in conjunction with the shareholders’ letter and 
the individual reports for the Group operating segments.

GROUP PERFORMANCE

2024 2023 ±%

±% 
Growth in local 

currency
±% 

organic growth

Net sales Million CHF  26,407  27,009  -2.2%  +1.3%  +0.2% 

Recurring operating costs Million CHF  (19,994)  (20,935)  -4.5% 

Recurring EBITDA after leases Million CHF  6,677  6,378  +4.7%  +9.1%  +8.4% 

Recurring EBIT Million CHF  5,049  4,760  +6.1%  +10.8%  +10.5% 

Recurring EBIT margin %  19.1  17.6  +150 bps

Operating profit (EBIT) Million CHF  4,642  4,577  +1.4% 

Net income Group share Million CHF  2,926  3,060  -4.4% 

Net income before impairment 
and divestments Group share Million CHF  3,185  3,089  +3.1% 

Earnings per share before 
impairment and divestments CHF  5.70  5.42  +5.3% 

Cash flow from operating 
activities Million CHF  5,667  5,470  +3.6% 

CapEx Million CHF  1,477  1,408  +4.9% 

Free Cash Flow after leases Million CHF  3,801  3,705  +2.6% 
Return on Invested Capital 
(ROIC) %  11.2  10.6  +60bps 

Net financial debt Million CHF  8,448  7,896  +7.0% 

Debt leverage times 1.2 1.2
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26,407M
Net sales CHF
+0.2% organic growth 
2023: CHF 27,009M

5,049M
Recurring EBIT CHF
+10.5% organic growth
2023: CHF 4,760M

3,801M
Free Cash Flow CHF
57% cash conversion 
2023: CHF 3,705M

11.2%
ROIC 
2023: 10.6%

19.1%
Recurring EBIT margin 
2023: 17.6%

5.70
EPS before impairment and 
divestments CHF
+5.3% EPS growth
2023: CHF 5.42

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 



Year of highlights
Shifting from volume to value and supported by 
acquisitions, net sales for the full year 2024 stood at 
CHF 26,407 million in challenging market conditions. 
Net sales in local currency grew by 1.3% with growth 
in the most attractive markets and positive price 
developments in cement, aggregates and ready-mix. 
The appreciation of the Swiss franc against several 
currencies affected net sales negatively by 3.5%, a more 
moderate impact than in the previous year (6.8%).

Recurring EBIT reached a new record of CHF 5,049 million 
for the full year 2024 and grew by 6.1% in Swiss franc 
compared with the full year 2023. The Recurring EBIT 
margin continued to expand and reached 19.1%, 150 basis 
points higher than in 2023. The Group’s strong 
performance is the result of increased contributions from 
all segments, including Solutions & Products. Recurring 
EBIT growth of 10.8% in local currency was negatively 
impacted by the appreciation of the Swiss franc against 
several currencies by 4.8%.

Earnings per share before impairment and divestments 
reached a new record level of CHF 5.70 for the full year 
2024, compared with CHF 5.42 in 2023. Since 2018, 
Holcim has delivered outstanding growth in earnings for 
shareholders with a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) 
of 13.8%.

Holcim delivered Free Cash Flow of CHF 3,801 million, a 
new record for the Group, with a cash conversion of 57%. 
In 2024, Holcim’s ratio of Net financial debt to Recurring 
EBITDA was 1.2. The Net financial debt amounted to CHF 
8,448 million at the end of 2024. 

Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) was 11.2% in 2024, 
significantly higher than Holcim’s Strategy 2025 target 
and up by 60 basis points compared with 2023. These 
indicators reflect Holcim’s resilient performance culture, 
financial strength and strong balance sheet.

Decarbonization is driving profitable growth
In 2024, Holcim made significant progress in expanding its 
sustainable building solutions. ECOPlanet sales in the 
Group’s cement portfolio increased from 19% in 2023 to 
26% of cement net sales, and ECOPact sales increased 
from 19% in 2023 to 29% of ready-mix net sales. 

By establishing decarbonization as one of the key drivers 
of future profitable growth, Holcim is making notable 
progress by consistently improving its thermal 
substitution ratio, reducing the clinker factor of cement 
and innovating in alternative raw materials. 

Continuing to make progress by investing in carbon 
capture, utilization and storage (CCUS) projects, in 
October 2024, the EU Innovation Fund (EUIF) selected the 
CCUS CarboClearTech project in Martres-Tolosane, France 
for a grant. In Spring, Europe also celebrated the 
groundbreaking ceremonies for two flagship CCUS 
projects: Carbon2Business in Lägerdorf, Germany, and 
GO4ZERO in Obourg, Belgium. As of the end of 2024, 
seven full-scale CCUS projects across Europe have been 
selected for grants by the EUIF. These include projects in 
Belgium, Croatia, France, Greece, Germany and Poland.

Value-accretive M&A
Holcim continued to sharpen its footprint to focus on the 
most attractive markets and business segments, to ensure 
we remain at the cutting-edge of the industry, with 22 
value-accretive acquisitions and five divestments in 2024. 

Holcim strengthened its Solutions & Products segment 
with four acquisitions in Europe, Latin America, and North 
America. These include ZinCo (green roofing systems), 
Tensolite (precast and prestressed concrete construction 
systems) and OX Engineered Products (insulation 
systems). 

In 2024, Holcim acquired four businesses specialized in 
recycling construction demolition materials (CDM), 
including Mendiger Basalt in Germany, Land Recovery in 
the UK, Cand-Landi in Switzerland and Mark Desmedt in 
Belgium. 

To strengthen its footprint in Latin America, the Group 
expanded in Guatemala and entered the Peruvian market 
by acquiring Comacsa and Mixercon. In Asia Pacific, 
Holcim’s joint venture Cement Australia signed an 
agreement to acquire a division of the Buckeridge Group 
of Companies (BCG), expanding its presence in Western 
Australia. The transaction is subject to regulatory 
approvals.

Pursuing its ongoing portfolio optimization in 2024, 
Holcim closed the divestments of its activities in Uganda, 
Tanzania, South Africa, Russia and Kenya. Holcim also 
signed an agreement with Huaxin Cement to sell its 
Nigerian business. The transaction is subject to customary 
and regulatory approvals.

On 28 January 2024, Holcim announced its intent to list 
its North American business in the U.S. with a full capital 
market separation. Holcim is progressing on the planned 
full capital market separation of its North American 
business, planned by way of a 100% spin-off to be listed 
on the New York Stock Exchange. The spin-off is planned 
as a domestic issuer under SEC rules, reporting in US 
GAAP and seeking inclusion in relevant US equity indices. 
An additional listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange is planned 
to accommodate European investors. The planned spin-
off is subject to shareholder approval at the Holcim 
Annual General Meeting on 14 May 2025, and is expected 
to occur by the end of the first half 2025. Completion of 
the planned spin-off is subject to customary approvals.
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Health & Safety
Health, Safety and Environment (HSE) are core values at 
Holcim. In 2024, our Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 
(LTIFR) fell to 0.39, with 98% of our sites and 42% of 
countries reporting zero lost-time injuries (LTIs).

Sadly, during 2024, two employees lost their lives in work-
related incidents. Holcim is committed to ensuring a safe, 
healthy workplace and will not rest until it reaches zero. 

In 2024, Holcim made progress toward zero environmental 
impact by completing over 150 projects globally: diverting 
63,000 tons of waste from landfill, recycling 1.8 million m³ 
of water, and reducing Scope 2 CO₂ emissions by 45,000 
tons. Real-time monitoring systems and focus projects 
enhanced emissions governance, cutting absolute dust (–
42%), SO₂ (–1.6%), and NOx (–5.6%) emissions.

Sustainability at the core of Holcim’s strategy
Holcim’s strong sustainability focus is embedded within 
all operations and is oriented around four key pillars: 
climate and energy, nature, people and circular economy.

In keeping with its purpose of building progress for 
people and the planet, Holcim was the first global 
building materials and solutions company to have its 2030 
and 2050 net-zero targets validated by the Science Based 
Targets initiative (SBTi) for all scopes.

In 2024, Holcim made strong progress toward its targets,
which are in line with the 1.5°C framework. The Group 
reduced its clinker factor, used more alternative fuels and 
raw materials and increased its use of renewable energy. 
We also continued investing in breakthrough technologies 
such as carbon capture utilization and storage (CCUS). As 
of the end of 2024, Holcim secured seven investments 
from the European Union (EU) Innovation Fund for its 
breakthrough CCUS projects.

Holcim is committed to creating a high-performance 
culture of empowerment, lifelong learning and 
development. A diverse and inclusive culture where 
everyone can develop the skills they need to thrive. With 
65,000 employees worldwide, Holcim is committed to 
fully realizing their potential and making a positive 
difference to the world.

Circular construction is a driver of profitable growth. We 
are committed to building new from old, reducing our use 
of primary materials and minimizing waste. This year, 
Holcim reached its target of recycling at least 10.2 million 
tons of construction demolition materials (CDM) a year 
ahead of schedule. The Group now operates over 150 
recycling centers worldwide in or near major metropolitan 
areas in which Holcim operates.

Holcim is committed to replenishing freshwater and 
increasing biodiversity based on transformative 
rehabilitation plans. These goals were set out in our nature 
strategy and are supported by the Nature Policy. In 2024, 
Holcim was named by the Science Based Targets Network 
(SBTN) as one of the first three companies globally to 
adopt science-based targets for nature. 

Sustainable finance framework
Recognizing the role of sustainable finance in supporting 
the transition to a low-carbon and more resource-efficient 
economy, Holcim put in place its Sustainable Finance 
Framework allowing for the issuance of green finance 
instruments as well as sustainability-linked instruments. 

The framework is aligned with best practices as confirmed 
by ISS ESG, which issued the second-party opinion: 

• EU Taxonomy 

• Green Bond Principles and the Sustainability-Linked 
Bond Principles published by the International Capital 
Markets Association (ICMA)

• United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 

The framework will further support transparency and 
accountability with regard to the Group’s environmental 
impacts and sustainability strategy in respect of investors, 
banks and other stakeholders in the market and society. 
Combining green and sustainability-linked features in a 
single document enables Holcim to demonstrate its 
environmental performance ambitions through 
quantifiable metrics, while also highlighting the key 
projects underpinning the continuous improvement of 
those metrics.

Holcim intends to pursue its journey with sustainable 
finance instruments in the capital, money and loan 
markets, putting core sustainability projects linked to 
climate, renewable energy, circular economy, clean 
transport and biodiversity at the heart of its financing 
strategy. To make a bigger impact, the company 
committed to increasing the share of sustainable 
financing to more than 40% by the end of 2025. This ratio 
was already achieved in 2023 and was maintained in 2024.

GROUP PERFORMANCE CONTINUED
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8,448

7,896

6,032

9,977

8,483

2024

2023

2022

2021

2020

1.2×

1.2×

0.9×

1.4×

1.4×

LEVERAGE RATIO ×
NET FINANCIAL DEBT 
CHF M 

1 After swap.
2 USD and EUR private placements.

l EUR Bonds  46 %

l USD Bonds  33 %

l CHF Bonds  12 %

l GBP Bonds  4 %

l Others2  5 %

CAPITAL MARKET FINANCING 
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 20241

CHF 10,941M

CO₂ REDUCTION 

4%
Reduction in CO₂ 
per net sales1 

CIRCULAR 
CONSTRUCTION

+20%
Recycling of 
Construction 
Demolition Materials2

CCUS PROJECTS
 

7
CCUS projects in 
execution 
with EU funding

SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS 

1 2024 Scope 1 + Scope 2 CO₂ emissions per million of net sales compared to 2023.
2 Compared to 2023.

57%

58%

54%

50%

58%

2024

2023

20221

2021

2020

FINANCING HIGHLIGHTS 

 
1 Before resolution with U.S. Department 
 of Justice (DOJ).

FREE CASH FLOW AND 
CASH CONVERSION 
CHF M



Financing profile
Holcim has a strong financing profile with 79% of financial 
liabilities financed through various capital markets and 
21% through banks and other lenders. There are no major 
positions with individual lenders. The average maturity of 
financial liabilities was 6.0 years as of 31 December 2024. 
The Group’s maturity profile is well balanced with a large 
share of mid- to long-term financing.

Maintaining a favorable credit rating is one of the Group’s 
objectives and hence Holcim gives priority to achieving its 
financial targets while retaining a solid investment-grade 
rating (current rating information is provided on page 
129). As of 31 December 2024, the average nominal 
interest rate on financial liabilities remained stable at 3.2%, 
unchanged from the previous year.

Note 14 contains detailed information on financial 
liabilities.

Liquidity
To secure liquidity, the Group held cash and cash 
equivalents of CHF 5,347 million on 31 December 2024. 
This cash is mainly invested in term deposits held with a 
large number of banks on a broadly diversified basis and 
in short-term money market funds. The counterparty risk 
is continuously monitored on the basis of clearly defined 
principles as part of the risk management process. As of 
31 December 2024, Holcim had unused committed credit 
lines of CHF 4,883 million. 

Current financial liabilities as of 31 December 2024 of 
CHF 1,842 million are comfortably covered by existing 
cash, cash equivalents and unused committed credit 
lines.

GROUP PERFORMANCE CONTINUED
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Foreign exchange sensitivity
The Group has a global footprint, generating the majority 
of its results in currencies other than the Swiss franc. Only 
about 2.4% of net sales are generated in Swiss francs.

Foreign currency volatility has little effect on the Group’s 
operating profitability. As the Group produces a very high 
proportion of its products locally, most sales and costs 
are incurred in the respective local currencies. The effects 
of foreign exchange movements are therefore largely 
restricted to the translation of local financial statements 
for the consolidated statement of income. As a large part 
of the foreign capital is financed with matching 
transactions in local currency, the effects of foreign 
currency translation on local balance sheets for the 
consolidated statement of financial position have not, in 
general, resulted in significant distortions in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

The following sensitivity analysis presents the effect of the 
main currencies on selected key figures of the 
consolidated financial statements. The sensitivity analysis 
only factors in effects that result from the conversion of 
local financial statements into Swiss francs (translation 
effect). Currency effects from transactions conducted 
locally in foreign currencies are not included in the 
analysis.

The following table shows the effects of a hypothetical 5% 
depreciation of the respective foreign currencies against 
the Swiss franc.
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Million CHF 2024 USD EUR CAD GBP

Latin 
American 

basket 
(MXN, 

ARS, COP)

Asian 
basket 

(AUD, CNY, 
PHP, BDT)

Middle East 
African 
basket 

(NGN, DZD, 
EGP, IQD)

Assuming a 5% strengthening of the Swiss franc, the impact would be as follows:

Net sales  26,407  (431)  (235)  (125)  (86)  (114)  (100)  (60) 

Recurring EBIT  5,049  (97)  (28)  (24)  (7)  (39)  (20)  (19) 

Cash flow from operating activities  5,667  (88)  (50)  (23)  (7)  (23)  (19)  (23) 

Net financial debt  8,448  (134)  (283)  26  (27)  5  16  15 

Sensitivity analysis



Background
The Taxonomy Regulation (EU) 2020/852 is a cornerstone 
of the European Green Deal’s sustainable finance strategy. 
It introduces a classification framework to identify 
economic activities deemed environmentally sustainable, 
with the objective of channeling capital flows toward 
activities and technologies that support the green 
transition.

The EU Taxonomy defines the conditions and criteria for 
assessing the environmental sustainability of economic 
activities. 

An activity is classified as “eligible” if it is defined in the EU 
Taxonomy Delegated Acts issued by the European 
Commission. 

For an eligible activity to be deemed environmentally 
sustainable (i.e., “eligible and aligned”), it must meet the 
following criteria:

1) Substantial Contribution: The activity must contribute
 significantly to at least one of the six environmental

objectives:

2) Do No Significant Harm (DNSH): The activity must 
 not adversely impact any of the other environmental 
 objectives.

3) Minimum Safeguards: The activity must comply with 
 fundamental social and governance safeguards.

In 2023, Holcim established a sustainable finance 
framework to facilitate the issuance of green financial 
instruments. These instruments aim to finance activities 
already aligned with the EU Taxonomy Regulation or to 
support the transformation of cement activities to meet 
alignment criteria. As of the end of 2024, Holcim has not 
issued any green financial instruments. For further details, 
refer to Note 14 of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(page 318).

Holcim Ltd, as a Swiss-based company, is not currently 
required to report under the EU Taxonomy Regulation. 
Recognizing the EU Taxonomy’s pivotal role in advancing 
green financing across Europe, the Group has proactively 
opted to voluntarily disclose the framework. Starting with 
its 2023 reporting, Holcim focused on cement and 
insulation products. In 2024, the company expanded its 
commitment by implementing standardized templates 
and tools across the Group, broadening the EU Taxonomy 
assessment to include eligible activities under all six 
environmental objectives.

Holcim views the EU Taxonomy as an essential tool to 
advance its sustainability strategy, aligning with its goals 
in respect of decarbonization, circular economy initiatives, 
and sustainable product development. The activity-based 
criteria set by the EU Taxonomy provide a framework that 
integrates the construction industry’s entire value chain, 
an area where Holcim is actively engaged and making a 
significant impact.

Assessment of eligibility
EU Taxonomy-eligible activities correspond to those listed 
and described in the EU Taxonomy Delegated Acts. 
Holcim has identified the following eligible activities:

• Manufacture of energy efficiency equipment for 
buildings (CCM 3.5): The eligible activity mainly pertains 
to Holcim Elevate insulation boards manufactured in 
Europe and the U.S., the spray foam manufactured and 
commercialized solely in the U.S. market, as well as other 
insulation products such as Airium from France, Algeria 
and Belgium, External Thermal Insulation Composite 
System (ETICS) from France and Belgium, and green 
roofing systems from ZinCo in Europe.

• Manufacture of cement (CCM 3.7): This activity pertains 
to Holcim’s cement operations, encompassing Geocycle 
operations, which foster the use of alternative fuels and 
alternative raw materials in cement production as well as 
activities related to the processing of mineral 
components, which supply raw materials for the cement 
manufacturing process. Ready-mix and concrete 
products, as activities downstream of cement, are not 
considered eligible under the current Delegated Acts or 
the specifications outlined in the European 
Commission’s Technical Expert Group (TEG) report 
published in 2020.

EU TAXONOMY
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1
Climate change

mitigation (CCM)

4
Transition to a

circular economy (CE)

5
Pollution prevention

and control (PPC)

3
Sustainable use 

and protection of 
water and

marine resources (WTR)

2
Climate change

adaptation (CCA)

6
Protection and 

restoration
of biodiversity and
ecosystems (BIO)

SIX ENVIRONMENTAL OBJECTIVES



• Material recovery from non-hazardous waste (CCM5.9): 
The EU Taxonomy defines this activity as “Construction 
and operation of facilities for the sorting and processing 
of separately collected non-hazardous waste streams 
into secondary raw materials involving mechanical 
reprocessing, except for backfilling purposes.” At 
Holcim, this primarily encompasses operations 
processing construction and demolition waste, which 
supply secondary raw materials for cement, aggregates, 
and ready-mix production. It also includes certain 
Geocycle preprocessing platforms when managing non-
hazardous waste. The same operations are also assessed 
and reported under the Circular Economy objective with 
reference to the activity “Sorting and material recovery 
of non-hazardous waste (CE2.7)”. 

• Freight transport services by road (CCM6.6): Holcim 
employs road vehicles for the transportation of its raw 
materials and products. While the majority of freight 
services are provided by third parties, a portion involves 
Holcim’s ownership or leasing of vehicles. 

To avoid double counting, when an activity qualifies 
under multiple environmental objectives, the KPIs 
associated with Climate Change Mitigation (CCM) are 
reported in the primary disclosure table. KPIs related to 
other environmental objectives are presented separately 
in the annex tables (pages 250, 252 and 254).

Activities with all of their eligible KPIs (turnover, CapEx, 
and OpEx) below 0.5% are deemed non-material and, as 
such, are not disclosed.

Non-eligible activities
Economic activities that are not recognized by the EU 
Taxonomy Delegated Acts as making a substantial 
contribution to one of the EU’s climate and environmental 
objectives are not necessarily harmful or unsustainable. 

As the EU Taxonomy Regulation continues to evolve, 
additional activities may be considered for inclusion in the 
future. Nonetheless, Holcim’s sustainability strategy spans 
all business areas, driving low-carbon solutions, energy 
efficiency and circular practices that extend beyond the 
current scope of the EU Taxonomy. Specifically, activities 
involved in the manufacture of aggregates, ready-mix, and 
asphalt are currently not classified as eligible.
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CHF M Percent

l Manufacture of cement 10,842  41.1 %

l Manufacture of energy efficiency 
equipment for buildings, other 
eligible activities 854  3.2 %

l Material recovery from non-
hazardous waste 26  0.1 %

l Non-eligible activities 14,685  55.6 %

Total 26,407  100 %

1  Turnover corresponds to net sales to external customers.

EU TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
TURNOVER1 



Assessment of alignment
To ensure an appropriate interpretation of the EU 
Taxonomy Regulation and its technical screening criteria, 
Holcim has established working groups comprising 
internal and external industry and environmental experts. 
A prudent approach to the assessment of Taxonomy 
alignment has been adopted.

Climate change adaptation: To meet EU Taxonomy 
requirements on DNSH criteria on climate change 
adaptation, the Group has implemented a climate 
resilience and adaptation program to identify and mitigate 
the risks and impacts of the current and future physical 
climate risks on economic activities, or on people, nature 
and assets, alongside a timescale up to 2050. The 
assessment is based on the 2050 Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change (IPCC) RCP 8.5 pathway projection. 
This risk and vulnerability assessment has been 
completed for eligible activities, including currently active 
operations and future assets (CapEx projects), by site 
location. Appropriate adaptation action plans have been 
defined with implementation expected within five years 
to reduce the material physical climate risks. It is essential 
to ensure alignment with local, regional and community 
adaptation plans. The Group encourages the adoption 
of sustainable adaptation solutions, such as nature-based, 
green or blue infrastructure. Holcim uses a centralized 
reporting system that enables all countries to report, 
update and continuously monitor their adaptation action 
plans.

Pollution prevention and control: The EU Taxonomy 
DNSH criteria requires that the activity does not lead to 
the manufacture, placing on the market or use of the 
substances of concern defined in a list of EU Directives 
and Regulations, subject to certain exceptions. Screening 
of the substances used in the manufacturing process is 
performed to ensure application of the EU Directives and 
Regulations required in the EU Taxonomy Regulation.

Protection of water and marine resources: Holcim 
evaluates the Taxonomy criteria relating to water on the 
basis of the Holcim Nature Policy, Water Directive and 
Water Management Standard. Alignment with the DNSH 
criteria is assessed based on the following conditions: 
a) A water risk assessment is conducted in accordance 
with the Group Water Directive based on the World 
Resources Institute (WRI) Aqueduct tool. b) For sites 
located in areas with medium, high or very high water risk, 
a water management program has been implemented. 
c) All water discharged is fully compliant with local 
regulations and Holcim’s water quality standards. The 
compliance of discharged water is additionally validated 
through quarterly verifications, critical controls and audits 
conducted by the Health, Safety and Environment (HSE) 
function.

Protection and restoration of biodiversity and 
Ecosystems: Alignment with DNSH criteria is assessed 
based on the following conditions: the biodiversity level 
of each manufacturing site is assessed using the 
International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) 
methodology and a Biodiversity Importance Category 
(BIC) is determined. Sites located in or near globally or 

nationally recognized sensitive and protected areas are 
classified as BIC 1 or BIC 2 and have implemented a 
Biodiversity Management Plan, which includes mitigation 
and compensation measures.

Minimum safeguards: Holcim ensures compliance with 
minimum safeguards on human rights, anti-corruption, 
fair competition, and taxation through due diligence 
processes in place. Holcim’s commitment to respecting 
and promoting human and labor rights is aligned with the 
principles and values contained in the UN Guiding 
Principles on Business and Human Rights and the OECD 
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, as well as with 
the internationally recognized rights contained in the 
International Bill of Human Rights. For further information 
on Holcim’s human rights due diligence process and 
salient human rights risks identified from business 
activities, please refer to the sections “Human rights & our 
communities” (page 114) and “Human rights salient 
risks” (page 212), respectively. 

Compliance with internal and external laws and 
regulations, including anti-corruption, fair competition 
and taxation rules, are among the principles of the Holcim 
Code of Business Conduct and are binding across the 
entire Group. Refer to the section “Compliance 
Program” (page 147). Tax governance, tax risk 
management and compliance are integral to the Group’s 
Tax Directives, and are embedded within Holcim’s risk 
management and internal control systems. Refer to the 
section “Key financial risks” (page 209) and “Internal 
control” (page 210).

Specific considerations are included in our methodology 
to assess the Taxonomy alignment of different eligible 
economic activities: 

For CCM 3.5. Manufacture of energy efficiency equipment 
for buildings:

• Pollution prevention and control: Screening has been 
performed for the full list of components for materials 
used at our insulation and spray foam manufacturing 
sites to ensure compliance with Appendix C to Annex I 
of the Climate Delegated Act. 

• Circular Economy: With regard to product-specific 
features and the manufacturing process, Holcim has 
assessed the techniques available and adopted to 
support the EU Taxonomy criteria, including the use of 
secondary raw materials, durability, recyclability, ease of 
disassembly, adaptability and the waste management 
program.

For CCM 3.7. Manufacture of cement: 

• Manufacturing footprint: Each clinker or cement product 
involves an activity with a specific manufacturing 
footprint, including quarrying, clinker production, 
cement grinding, cement blending, and is individually 
assessed against all applicable Taxonomy criteria 
throughout the end-to-end manufacturing process.

EU TAXONOMY CONTINUED
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• Climate change mitigation: Holcim uses the Global 
Cement and Concrete Association (GCCA) Sustainability 
Guidelines for the reporting of CO₂ emissions from 
cement manufacturing (previously WBCSD CSI Cement 
CO₂ and Energy Protocol version 3.1). CO₂ emissions 
from own production of mineral components used as a 
clinker substitute (such as calcined clay) are included in 
this calculation. With reference to the EU Sustainable 
Finance Platform Technical Expert Group report of 2020, 
the following are excluded from the CO₂ calculation for 
clinker: a) non-kiln fuel emissions, b) Scope 2 CO₂ from 
purchased electricity, c) CO₂ emissions from Holcim’s 
own captive power plants. 

• Pollution prevention and control: Holcim’s Emission 
Monitoring and Reporting standards apply to the 
emissions of SO₂, NOx and dust from kiln stacks. A kiln is 
considered “Taxonomy aligned for emissions” when it 
emits pollutants below the limits defined in the EU Best 
Available Techniques reference document, as follows: 
1) Continuously monitored emissions: With regard 
to the emissions of SO₂, NOx and dust from kiln stacks, 
Holcim’s Emission Monitoring and Reporting standards 
apply. Daily average results are calculated and are 
validated against the ranges defined by Best Available 
Techniques (BAT) Reference Document for the 
Production of Cement, Lime and Magnesium Oxide 
of the Industrial Emissions Directive 2010/75/EU. Data 
is automatically collected via an integrated plant 
production system (TiS) and consolidated globally in 
real time. Alignment assessment is performed by the 
Group HSE department on a monthly basis. As regards 
measurement uncertainty, variability is calculated and 
corrected according to each country’s required 
methodology (e.g., EN 14181, linear regression or fixed 
reduction percentages), with corrections limited by 
Industrial Emissions Directive (IED 2.0) thresholds. 
2) Non-continuously monitored emissions: Spot 
measurements are used to assess the kiln’s Taxonomy 
alignment. The dataset used is taken from the Annual 
Report campaign.

EU Taxonomy CapEx plan
In accordance with its sustainability strategy, Holcim has 
established an EU Taxonomy CapEx plan in accordance 
with the requirements of the EU Taxonomy Regulation as 
an integral part of its annual strategy planning process 
since 2023. Holcim’s EU Taxonomy CapEx plan is 
established in particular for the purpose of aligning its 
cement activity to the EU Taxonomy based on the climate 
change mitigation objective and includes: 

• 2023–2032 plan based on individual cement plant 
development plans

• Group-level prioritization of major CapEx projects, 
including carbon capture1, large plant modernization 
and global assumptions on capacity optimization and 
target area setting. 

Holcim has established a 10-year EU Taxonomy CapEx 
plan, the maximum duration permitted under the EU 
Taxonomy Regulation. This timeframe reflects the 
transitional nature of cement as an activity, recognizing 
that the decarbonization of cement production and the 
alignment of all plants with EU Taxonomy criteria require a 
long-term approach. The transition of the construction 
market and the adoption of low-carbon construction 
materials are expected to be gradual. Furthermore, the 
widespread installation of carbon capture technologies 
across cement plants is a complex process that cannot be 
achieved in the short term.

As disclosed in 2023, Holcim has established an EU 
Taxonomy CapEx plan totaling CHF 4.4 billion, aimed at 
increasing Taxonomy-aligned cement activities over the 
period from 2023 to 2032.  

In line with the Group’s advanced strategy to streamline 
its business portfolio, divested entities were excluded 
from the long-term EU Taxonomy CapEx plan, leading to 
an additional decrease of CHF 51 million during 2024.

During the 2024 annual mid-term-plan process, the 
countries reviewed their Taxonomy-aligned CapEx action 
plans to optimize investments, resulting in a CHF 38 
million net adjustment to the Group’s overall CapEx plan.

CHF 174 million and CHF 265 million were spent in 2023 
and 2024, respectively, with the majority of the 
expenditure focused on decarbonizing the cement 
manufacturing process.

As a result, on 31 December 2024, the remaining 
Taxonomy CapEx plan for the period 2025–2032 amounts 
to CHF 3.9 billion. 
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2,547

1,486

67

257

Carbon capture

Decarbonization

Clean energy

Other1

EU TAXONOMY CAPEX PLAN
2023–2032 (CHF M)

1 Climate change adaptation, air emissions, water, biodiversity and other.

1 Carbon capture for cement plants is considered to be a key measure impacting the gross CO₂ emissions per ton criteria, provided carbon capture, 
 transport and storage activities comply with EU Taxonomy criteria.



Explanation of key performance indicators 
The consolidated EU Taxonomy KPIs comprise those of 
Holcim Ltd and its consolidated subsidiaries. In 2024, 
Holcim did not issue any environmentally sustainable 
bonds to finance Taxonomy-aligned activities and hence 
did not disclose adjusted KPIs. Based on the definition in 
Annex I to the Delegated Act under Article 8 of the EU 
Taxonomy Regulation, the EU Taxonomy KPIs are defined 
as the following: 

Turnover
Turnover denominator: net sales shown in the 
consolidated income statement pursuant to IFRS 15 
Revenue recognition, referring to Note 4.2 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (page 291). 

Turnover numerator: Taxonomy-aligned sales correspond 
to the revenues from the activities that have met all 
Taxonomy alignment criteria. 

In 2024, Holcim achieved CHF 1,648 million in Taxonomy-
aligned sales1 (6.2% of total net sales), an increase of 0.8% 
from 2023, driven by higher low-carbon cement sales and 
improved alignment with DNSH criteria for air pollution 
and climate change adaptation.

Within Holcim Group’s intercompany sales, the main 
Taxonomy-eligible stream consists of CHF 1,297 million in 
cement produced and sold to other Group entities for 
ready-mix production, of which CHF 116 million is 
Taxonomy-aligned. These intercompany sales are 
excluded from the turnover KPIs.

Capital expenditure (CapEx)
CapEx denominator: the total of additions to property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets, including the 
addition of right-of-use assets for leases recognized 
under IFRS 16, and the addition of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets resulting from business 
combinations following purchase price allocation. Refer to 
Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements (page 
306). Grants, including government funding such as EU 
innovation funds, are deducted from the disclosed CapEx 
amounts in accordance with Holcim's accounting policy, 
which aligns with IAS 20.

CapEx numerator: eligible and aligned CapEx is 
composed of three parts: 

• CapEx to expand aligned activities as part of the 
Taxonomy CapEx plan. For cement as a transitional 
activity, this covers CapEx to increase already 
Taxonomy-aligned activities and CapEx that allows 
Taxonomy-eligible activities to become aligned 

• CapEx to enable low-carbon operations mainly based 
on energy efficiency equipment for buildings

• CapEx on already aligned activities. Specifically for 
cement activities, this is determined by the allocation of 
the remaining CapEx between aligned and eligible but 
not aligned, based on the percentage of aligned sales 
volume by country

Business combination: In 2024, the CapEx denominator 
includes CHF 743 million related to additions to property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets resulting from 
business combinations following purchase price 
allocation. Refer to Note 2.3 of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements (page 277). For newly acquired companies 
that are Taxonomy-eligible but for which Holcim is still in 
the process of collecting data to assess EU Taxonomy 
alignment, their status is reported as “Eligible but not 
aligned.”

In 2024, Holcim’s total eligible CapEx reached CHF 1,852 
million, up from CHF 1,212 million in 2023. This increase 
was mainly driven by the inclusion of material recovery 
from non-hazardous waste in the EU Taxonomy disclosure 
and higher investments in cement. 

Holcim achieved a Taxonomy-aligned CapEx of CHF 354 
million, marking a 4.2% increase from 2023. This growth 
was driven by an acceleration in investments in 
decarbonization and circularity initiatives, aiming at 
increasing the use of alternative raw materials, alternative 
fuels, calcined clay and plant modernization, notably in 
Poland and Belgium as part of our carbon capture 
projects.

Operating expenditure (OpEx) 
OpEx denominator: the EU Taxonomy defines OpEx as 
direct non-capitalized costs that relate to research and 
development (R&D), building renovation measures, short-
term lease, maintenance and repair and any other direct 
expenditures relating to the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment that are necessary to 
ensure the continued and effective functioning of such 
assets. In Holcim, the denominator mainly includes 
maintenance and direct R&D expenses. 

OpEx numerator: eligible and aligned OpEx is composed 
of three parts: 

• OpEx related to Taxonomy-aligned economic activities

• OpEx to expand aligned activities as part of the 
Taxonomy CapEx plan

• OpEx to enable low-carbon operations mainly based 
on energy efficiency equipment for buildings

Eligible and aligned maintenance OpEx for cement is 
calculated based on the total eligible maintenance 
expenses multiplied by the percentage of aligned sales 
volumes per country. Eligible and aligned R&D OpEx is 
determined based on a review of individual projects 
aimed at increasing Taxonomy-aligned activities or 
enabling Taxonomy-eligible activities to become aligned. 

With reference to FAQ 13 of the second Commission 
notice of December 2022: “Where the relevant 
undertakings are not able to ascertain compliance of 
Taxonomy-eligible activities that are not material for their 
business with the technical screening criteria due to a lack 
of data or evidence, they should report those activities as 
not Taxonomy-aligned without any further assessment.” 
This provision has been adopted for short-term and low-
value leases. 

EU TAXONOMY CONTINUED
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TURNOVER2 % 

+0.8%

STEADY EXPANSION OF TAXONOMY-
ALIGNED ACTIVITIES IN 20241

Monitoring and reporting processes
Implementation of the EU Taxonomy at Holcim includes 
putting in place robust processes and controls for 
defining and collecting data points, conducting 
assessments, reporting and disclosures as well as 
impacting the business through strategy setting and 
performance tracking. A collaborative approach across all 
functions has been a critical success factor. 

To ensure consistency and quality, Taxonomy-aligned 
cement sales are evaluated in the Group financial 
dashboard system, with full traceability of validation by 
product and site. This process uses data from existing 
Group reporting systems and internal controls. Air 
emissions measurements are collected from integrated 
cement plant information systems across all locations.

In 2024, a dedicated IT platform was introduced to 
streamline EU Taxonomy assessment processes across all 
countries. This platform ensures the use of standardized 
templates and adequate documentation for evaluating EU 
Taxonomy eligibility and alignment. It covers non-cement 
activities, Taxonomy-aligned CapEx projects and lease 
contracts, requiring countries to upload supporting 
evidence to enhance transparency and consistency.

The KPI calculation process involves analyzing the 
Group’s consolidated data while ensuring accuracy and 
avoiding double counting. This is achieved by processing 
accounting information from a single source and verifying 
the traceability and precision of the data.

Both financial and non-financial data submitted for 
Taxonomy assessments are reviewed and signed off by 
the respective country management as part of the annual 
financial certification process. 
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CHF M Percent

l Eligible and aligned 1,648  6.2 %

l Eligible but not aligned 10,074  38.2 %

l Not eligible 14,685  55.6 %

Total 26,407  100 %

1  Turnover corresponds to net sales to external customers.

TURNOVER1 

CHF M Percent

l Eligible and aligned 354  11.7 %

l Eligible but not aligned 1,498  49.5 %

l Not eligible 1,172  38.8 %

Total 3,024  100 %

1  Capital expenditure based on EU Taxonomy definition.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE (CAPEX)1 

CHF M Percent

l Eligible and aligned 68  4.3 %

l Eligible but not aligned 812  50.7 %

l Not eligible 719  45.0 %

Total 1,599  100 %

OPERATING EXPENDITURE (OPEX) 

CAPEX3 %

+4.2%
OPEX %  

+0.8%
1 Compared with 2023.
2 Turnover corresponds to net sales to external customers.
3 Capital expenditure based on EU Taxonomy definition.



Proportion of turnover from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities
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2024 financial year Year Substantial Contribution Criteria

Turnover

Proportion of 
Turnover in 

2024

Climate 
Change 

Mitigation

Climate 
Change 

Adaptation Water Pollution
Circular 

Economy Biodiversity

Economic Activities  Code CHF M % Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2

A. Taxonomy Eligible Activities

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned) 

Manufacture of energy 
efficiency equipment 
for buildings CCM3.5 790  3.0% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Manufacture of cement CCM3.7 857  3.2% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Material recovery from 
non-hazardous waste5

CCM5.9, 
CE2.7 0  0.0% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL Y N/EL

Turnover of 
environmentally 
sustainable activities 
(Taxonomy-aligned) 
(A.1) 1,648  6.2%  6.2%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

Of which enabling 790  3.0%  3.0%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

Of which transitional 857  3.2%  3.2%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

Code Million CHF % EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2

A.2 Taxonomy-Eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities) 

Manufacture of energy 
efficiency equipment 
for buildings CCM3.5 64  0.3% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Manufacture of cement CCM3.7 9,984  37.8% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Material recovery from 
non-hazardous waste

CCM5.9, 
CE2.7 26  0.1% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL EL N/EL

Turnover of Taxonomy 
eligible but not 
environmentally 
sustainable activities 
(not Taxonomy-aligned 
activities) (A.2) 10,074  38.2%  38.2%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

Turnover of Taxonomy 
eligible activities 
(A.1+A.2) 11,722  44.4%  44.4%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

B. Taxonomy Non-eligible activities 

Turnover of Taxonomy 
non-eligible activities 14,685  55.6% 

Total (A+B)  26,407  100.0% 

1 Y – Yes, Taxonomy-eligible and Taxonomy-aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective. N – No, Taxonomy-eligible but not Taxonomy-aligned activity 
 with the relevant environmental objective.
2 EL – Eligible. Taxonomy-eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective. N/EL – Not eligible, Taxonomy non-eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective.
3 Enabling activities (E): an economic activity shall qualify as contributing substantially to one or more of the environmental objectives by directly enabling other activities.
 to make a substantial contribution to one or more of those objectives, provided that such economic activity: (a) does not lead to a lock-in of assets that undermine long-term
 environmental goals, considering the economic lifetime of those assets; and (b) has a substantial positive environmental impact, on the basis of life-cycle considerations.
4 Transitional activities (T): activities for which there are no technologically and economically feasible low-carbon alternatives, but that support the transition to a climate-
 neutral economy in a manner that is consistent with a pathway to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels, for example, by phasing 
 out greenhouse gas emissions.
5 Taxonomy-aligned turnover for the activity CCM5.9 is CHF 69,000. Due to rounding, the Taxonomy-aligned turnover breakdown by economic activity in this table does not 
 add up precisely to the total. The total amount of CHF 1,647,506,600 is calculated from the underlying precise figures rather than the rounded values presented.

Turnover annex

Proportion of turnover/Total turnover

Taxonomy-aligned per 
objective

Taxonomy-eligible per 
objective

Climate change mitigation (CCM)  6.2%  44.4% 

Climate change adaptation (CCA)

Sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources (WTR)

Circular economy (CE)  0.0%  0.1% 

Pollution prevention and control (PPC)

Protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems (BIO)
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DNSH criteria ('Does Not Significantly Harm')

Climate 
Change 

Mitigation

Climate 
Change 

Adaptation Water Pollution
Circular 

Economy Biodiversity
Minimum 

Safeguards

Proportion of 
Taxonomy-

aligned (A.1.) 
or eligible 

(A.2.) turn-
over in 2023

Category 
enabling 

activity

 Category 
transitional 

activity

Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 % E 3 T 4

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  3.1% E

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  2.3% T

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  5.4% 

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  3.1% E

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  2.3% T

 39.2% 

 39.2% 

 44.6% 

 55.4% 

 100.0% 



Proportion of CapEx from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities
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2024 financial year Year Substantial Contribution Criteria

CapEx

Proportion of 
CapEx in 

2024

Climate 
Change 

Mitigation

Climate 
Change 

Adaptation Water Pollution
Circular 

Economy Biodiversity

Economic Activities  Code CHF M % Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2

A. Taxonomy Eligible Activities

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)

Manufacture of energy 
efficiency equipment 
for buildings CCM3.5 21  0.7% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Manufacture of cement CCM3.7 327  10.8% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Material recovery from 
non-hazardous waste

CCM5.9, 
CE2.7 6  0.2% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL Y N/EL

CapEx of 
environmentally 
sustainable activities 
(Taxonomy-aligned) 
(A.1) 354  11.7%  11.7%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

Of which enabling 21  0.7%  0.7%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

Of which transitional 327  10.8%  10.8%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

Code Million CHF % EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2

A.2 Taxonomy-Eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)

Manufacture of energy 
efficiency equipment 
for buildings CCM3.5 6  0.2% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Manufacture of cement CCM3.7  1,137  37.6% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Material recovery from 
non-hazardous waste

CCM5.9, 
CE2.7 327  10.8% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL EL N/EL

Freight transport 
services by road CCM6.6 28  0.9% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

CapEx of Taxonomy 
eligible but not 
environmentally 
sustainable activities 
(not Taxonomy-aligned 
activities) (A.2)  1,498  49.5%  49.5%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

CapEx of Taxonomy 
eligible activities 
(A.1+A.2) 1,852  61.2%  61.2%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

B. Taxonomy Non-eligible activities 

CapEx of Taxonomy 
non-eligible activities 1,172  38.8% 

Total (A+B)  3,024  100.0% 

1 Y – Yes, Taxonomy-eligible and Taxonomy-aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective. N – No, Taxonomy-eligible but not Taxonomy-aligned activity 
 with the relevant environmental objective.
2 EL – Eligible. Taxonomy eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective. N/EL – Not eligible, Taxonomy non-eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective.
3 Enabling activities (E): an economic activity shall qualify as contributing substantially to one or more of the environmental objectives by directly enabling other activities 
 to make a substantial contribution to one or more of those objectives, provided that such economic activity: (a) does not lead to a lock-in of assets that undermine long-term 
 environmental goals, considering the economic lifetime of those assets; and (b) has a substantial positive environmental impact, on the basis of life-cycle considerations.
4 Transitional activities (T): activities for which there are no technologically and economically feasible low-carbon alternatives, but that support the transition to a climate-
 neutral economy in a manner that is consistent with a pathway to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels, for example by phasing 
 out greenhouse gas emissions.
5 The 0.1% related to CCM7.6, disclosed in 2023, was not reported in 2024 as its eligibility fell below the 0.5% threshold and was deemed non-material.

CapEx annex

Proportion of CapEx/Total CapEx

Taxonomy-aligned per 
objective

Taxonomy-eligible per 
objective

Climate change mitigation (CCM)  11.7%  61.2% 

Climate change adaptation (CCA)

Sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources (WTR)

Circular economy (CE)  0.2%  11.0% 

Pollution prevention and control (PPC)

Protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems (BIO)
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DNSH criteria ('Does Not Significantly Harm')

Climate 
Change 

Mitigation

Climate 
Change 

Adaptation Water Pollution
Circular 

Economy Biodiversity
Minimum 

Safeguards

Proportion of 
Taxonomy-

aligned (A.1.) 
or eligible 

(A.2.) CapEx 
in 2023 5

Category 
enabling 

activity

 Category 
transitional 

activity

Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 % E 3 T 4

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  0.5% E

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  7.0% T

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  7.5% 

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  0.5% E

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  7.0% T

 30.4% 

 30.4% 

 38.0% 

 62.0% 

 100.0% 



Proportion of OpEx from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities
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2024 financial year Year Substantial Contribution Criteria

OpEx

Proportion of     
OpEx in     

2024

Climate 
Change 

Mitigation

Climate 
Change 

Adaptation Water Pollution
Circular 

Economy Biodiversity

Economic Activities  Code Million CHF % Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2 Y; N; N/EL 1, 2

A. Taxonomy-eligible activities

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)

Manufacture of energy 
efficiency equipment 
for buildings CCM3.5 5  0.3% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Manufacture of cement CCM3.7 63  4.0% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Material recovery from 
non-hazardous waste

CCM5.9, 
CE2.7 0  0.0% Y N/EL N/EL N/EL Y N/EL

OpEx of 
environmentally 
sustainable activities 
(Taxonomy-aligned) 
(A.1) 68  4.3%  4.3%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

Of which enabling 5  0.3%  0.3%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

Of which transitional 63  4.0%  4.0%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

Code Million CHF % EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2 EL; N/EL 2

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities) 

Manufacture of energy 
efficiency equipment 
for buildings CCM3.5 0  0.0% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Manufacture of cement CCM3.7 811  50.6% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Material recovery from 
non-hazardous waste

CCM5.9, 
CE2.7 1  0.1% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL EL N/EL

OpEx of Taxonomy 
eligible but not 
environmentally 
sustainable activities 
(not Taxonomy-aligned 
activities) (A.2) 812  50.7%  50.7%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

OpEx of Taxonomy 
eligible activities 
(A.1+A.2) 880  55.0%  55.0%  0%  0%  0%  0%  0% 

B. Taxonomy non-eligible activities 

OpEx of Taxonomy 
non-eligible activities 719  45.0% 

Total (A+B) 1,599  100.0% 

1 Y – Yes, Taxonomy-eligible and Taxonomy-aligned activity with the relevant environmental objective. N – No, Taxonomy-eligible but not Taxonomy-aligned activity 
 with the relevant environmental objective. 
2 EL – Eligible. Taxonomy eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective. N/EL – Not eligible, Taxonomy non-eligible activity for the relevant environmental objective.
3 Enabling activities (E): an economic activity shall qualify as contributing substantially to one or more of the environmental objectives by directly enabling other activities 
 to make a substantial contribution to one or more of those objectives, provided that such economic activity: (a) does not lead to a lock-in of assets that undermine long-term 
 environmental goals, considering the economic lifetime of those assets; and (b) has a substantial positive environmental impact, on the basis of life-cycle considerations.
4 Transitional activities (T): activities for which there are no technologically and economically feasible low-carbon alternatives, but that support the transition 
 to a climate-neutral economy in a manner that is consistent with a pathway to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels, for 
 example by phasing out greenhouse gas emissions.

OpEx annex

Proportion of OpEx/Total OpEx

Taxonomy-aligned per 
objective

Taxonomy-eligible per 
objective

Climate change mitigation (CCM)  4.3%  55.0% 

Climate change adaptation (CCA)

Sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources (WTR)

Circular economy (CE)  0.0%  0.1% 

Pollution prevention and control (PPC)

Protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems (BIO)
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DNSH criteria ('Does Not Significantly Harm')

Climate 
Change 

Mitigation

Climate 
Change 

Adaptation Water Pollution
Circular 

Economy Biodiversity
Minimum 

Safeguards

Proportion of 
Taxonomy-

aligned (A.1.) 
or eligible 

(A.2.) OpEx in 
2023

Category 
enabling 

activity

 Category 
transitional 

activity

Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 Y/N 1 % E 3 T 4

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  0.3% E

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  3.1% T

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  3.4% 

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  0.3% E

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  3.1% T

 50.4% 

 50.4% 

 53.8% 

 46.2% 

 100.0% 

Nuclear and fossil gas related activities

Nuclear energy related activities

1. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to research, development, demonstration and deployment of innovative 
electricity generation facilities that produce energy from nuclear processes with minimal waste from the fuel cycle.

NO

2. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction and safe operation of new nuclear installations to produce 
electricity or process heat, including for the purposes of district heating or industrial processes such as hydrogen production, as 
well as their safety upgrades, using best available
technologies.

NO

3. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to safe operation of existing nuclear installations that produce electricity or 
process heat, including for the purposes of district heating or industrial processes such as hydrogen production from nuclear 
energy, as well as their safety upgrades.

NO

Fossil gas related activities

4. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction or operation of electricity generation facilities that produce 
electricity using fossil gaseous fuels.

NO

5. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction, refurbishment, and operation of combined heat/cool and 
power generation facilities using fossil gaseous fuels.

NO

6. The undertaking carries out, funds or has exposures to construction, refurbishment and operation of heat generation facilities 
that produce heat/cool using fossil gaseous fuels.

NO



NORTH AMERICA
2024

Net sales to external customers Million CHF 6,360

Organic growth %  -2.9 %

Growth in local currency %  -2.8 %

Recurring EBITDA after leases Million CHF 2,132

Organic growth % +10.3%

Growth in local currency % +10.3%

Recurring EBIT Million CHF 1,624

Organic growth % +12.4%

Growth in local currency % +12.2%

In North America, the business displayed a resilient 
performance despite experiencing a 2.8% decline in net 
sales to external customers on a local currency basis. 
Strong pricing strategies, commercial resilience and 
strategic investments resulted in profitable growth across 
all product lines and markets. The region capitalized on 
opportunities arising from the Infrastructure Investment 
and Jobs Act and the Inflation Reduction Act, while also 
benefiting from investments in the energy sector and the 
onshoring of manufacturing.

A value-driven commercial approach led to over-
proportional Recurring EBIT growth of 12.2% on a local 
currency basis. This translated into a 330 basis point 
expansion in the Recurring EBIT margin to 24.9%, with 
improvements across all segments. 

The strategic expansion through the value-accretive 
acquisition of King William Sand & Gravel near Richmond, 
Virginia, broadened Holcim’s operational footprint and 
product portfolio, generating significant synergies.

North America remains firmly committed to decarbonizing 
and expanding its low-carbon product offerings. The 
ECOPlanet cement range shows a commitment to low-
carbon construction, delivering at least a 30% lower 
carbon footprint compared to ordinary cement. The 
clinker factor improved by 0.7 percentage points, with 
OneCem (limestone Portland cement) accounting for 87% 
of total cement sales. ECOPact concrete represented 36% 
of the region’s ready-mix sales in 2024 and has 
contributed to reducing carbon emissions. 

The capacity expansion project at the Ste. Genevieve 
(Missouri) Cement Plant is well on track and will be 
completed by late 2025. This investment will increase 
production capacity by over 600,000 tons of cement while 
reducing net CO₂ emissions by more than 400,000 tons 
per year. 

There are three carbon capture and storage projects in 
North America at an early development stage at the Ste. 
Genevieve (Missouri), Portland (Colorado) and Exshaw 
(Alberta) plants. The ambition is to capture over four 
million tons of CO₂ by 2030.

Strategic investments, innovative product offerings and 
ambitious sustainability initiatives position the region for 
continued success and leadership in the evolving 
construction landscape. The region is well-positioned to 
capitalize on future opportunities, driving sustainable 
growth and delivering exceptional value to stakeholders.

PERFORMANCE BY OPERATIONAL SEGMENT
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LATIN AMERICA
2024

Net sales to external customers Million CHF 2,882

Organic growth % +2.4%

Growth in local currency % +4.0%

Recurring EBITDA after leases Million CHF 1,184

Organic growth % +9.8%

Growth in local currency % +10.4%

Recurring EBIT Million CHF 1,044

Organic growth % +9.3%

Growth in local currency % +9.7%

In Latin America, Holcim’s operations demonstrated 
resilience in 2024 despite facing several challenges, 
including the presidential election in Mexico, significant 
fiscal and monetary reforms in Argentina and political and 
social instability in Ecuador. Net sales to external 
customers grew by 4.0% on a local currency basis despite 
lower volumes, reflecting the ability to meet customer 
demand for sustainable building solutions. Recurring EBIT 
increased by 9.7% on a local currency basis, driven by 
strong performances in Mexico and Argentina. The 
Recurring EBIT margin expanded by 190 basis points to 
36.0% thanks to effective execution in commercial 
excellence and cost management.

In Mexico, domestic cement volumes remained stable in 
2024, supported by a recovery in bagged cement, 
particularly in the self-building segment. However, bulk 
cement volumes demand declined due to uncertainty 
surrounding new government policies and the completion 
of large infrastructure projects. In Ecuador, the 
construction market continued declining due to a lack of 
infrastructure investments and power rationing. However, 
there was a positive trend in pricing and volumes during 
the last quarter of the year.

The region remained focused on decarbonization, with 
specific net CO₂ emissions per ton of cementitious 
material decreasing by over 6kg/ton. This reduction in CO₂ 
emissions was driven by a substantial increase in the use 
of alternative fuels and a reduction in clinker content. 
ECOPlanet and other local sustainable products 
accounted for almost 70% of cement net sales in the 
region, while ECOPact sales represented 17% of ready-mix 
net sales.

In Mexico, the region invested USD 55 million in building a 
new grinding facility at its cement plant in Macuspana, 
Tabasco. This expansion, which boosts cement production 
capacity to 1.5 million tons per year, aligns with Holcim’s 
commitment to drive sustainable economic development 
in Mexico’s southeast region. The new grinding unit is 
expected to create 800 jobs during construction and 
increase the plant’s workforce to more than 300 jobs once 
operational in early 2025.

Holcim also continued to execute its growth strategy with 
several acquisitions in 2024. In the third quarter of the 
year, Holcim completed the acquisition of Comacsa, a 
white cement and industrial non-metallic minerals 
business entity and Mixercon, a production, marketing 
and supply of cement and ready-mix business. These 
acquisitions mark Holcim’s entry into the Peruvian market, 
strengthening its position in Latin America, generating 
synergies and expanding export opportunities. In 
September, Holcim further strengthened its presence in 
Guatemala through the acquisition of one grinding mill, 
three ready-mix plants and five distribution centers.
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EUROPE
2024

Net sales to external customers Million CHF 7,198

Organic growth %  -1.8 %

Growth in local currency %  -0.1 %

Recurring EBITDA after leases Million CHF 1,808

Organic growth % +7.8%

Growth in local currency % +9.1%

Recurring EBIT Million CHF 1,335

Organic growth % +11.3%

Growth in local currency % +12.1%

Net sales to external customers were stable on a local 
currency basis, driven by excellent commercial execution 
and a solid contribution from acquisitions. Eastern Europe 
delivered a strong performance, compensating for 
subdued market conditions in western and central 
Europe.

The region delivered a strongly positive price over cost 
across all product lines thanks to the higher contribution 
from low-carbon products, commercial and operational 
excellence as well as disciplined cost management. As a 
result, Recurring EBIT increased by 12.1% on a local 
currency basis and the Recurring EBIT margin reached 
17.8%, expanding by 200 basis points.

Sustainability, from decarbonization to circularity, remains 
at the forefront of the European strategy for driving 
profitable growth. Construction demolition materials grew 
by 31% to reach 6.2 million tons. Europe continues to 
scale up its ECOCycle® technology, bringing the total 
number of recycling platforms in Europe to 98. ECOPlanet 
reached 27% of cement net sales and ECOPact reached 
30% of ready-mix net sales.

Europe hosted groundbreaking ceremonies for two 
flagship carbon capture projects: Carbon2Business in 
Lägerdorf, Germany, and GO4ZERO in Obourg, Belgium. 
In October 2024, Holcim was selected for a new grant 
from the European Union (EU) Innovation Fund for its 
breakthrough carbon capture and storage project in 
Martres-Tolosane, France. This grant for the 
CarboClearTech project brings the number of Holcim’s 
large-scale EU-supported carbon capture, utilization and 
storage (CCUS) projects to seven, advancing the European 
Green Deal.

Europe made 13 acquisitions in construction demolition 
materials, aggregates and ready-mix, advancing its 
capabilities in circular construction. Key transactions 
included Cand-Landi and Seekag in Switzerland, Land 
Recovery in the UK, Mark Desmedt in Belgium, Mendiger 
Basalt in Germany, CemEnergy and Eurobud’s ready-mix 
operations in selected markets in Poland.

PERFORMANCE BY OPERATIONAL SEGMENT CONTINUED
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ASIA, MIDDLE EAST & AFRICA
2024

Net sales to external customers Million CHF 3,612

Organic growth % +8.2%

Growth in local currency % +3.2%

Recurring EBITDA after leases Million CHF 1,096

Organic growth % +11.9%

Growth in local currency % +9.9%

Recurring EBIT Million CHF 878

Organic growth % +13.5%

Growth in local currency % +11.7%

Asia, Middle East & Africa region delivered a strong 
performance in 2024. Net sales to external customers 
grew across countries in Middle East & Africa, with 
positive development in domestic markets in major 
countries, e.g., Algeria, Egypt, Iraq, Nigeria and the 
United Arab Emirates. Australia recorded robust margin 
expansion across business segments.

Strong emphasis on commercial actions, cost reductions 
and value strategy led to over-proportional profitable 
growth. The Middle East & Africa remained at the forefront 
with broad-based growth across all segments. Recurring 
EBIT was up by 11.7% on a local currency basis. The 
Recurring EBIT margin for the region grew by 170 basis 
points to reach 22.8% for the year.

The region made significant progress on its 
decarbonization journey, with sales of low-carbon 
products such as ECOPact and ECOPlanet in new 
markets, e.g., Nigeria, New Zealand and Iraq, the  
increased adoption of these low-carbon products in 
existing markets, e.g., Australia, the Philippines and the 
United Arab Emirates, and increased use of alternative 
fuel and greener sources of energy.

In 2024, the region further optimized its portfolio. Holcim 
has closed the divestments of its businesses in Uganda, 
Tanzania, South Africa and Kenya. In addition, the Group 
has signed an agreement to sell its Nigerian business, 
which is subject to customary and regulatory approvals. 
Holcim’s joint venture Cement Australia has signed an 
agreement to acquire a division of the Buckeridge Group 
of Companies (BCG) to strengthen its footprint in Western 
Australia. The transaction is subject to regulatory 
approvals.
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SOLUTIONS & PRODUCTS
2024

Net sales to external customers Million CHF 5,915

Organic growth % +1.9%

Growth in local currency % +7.4%

Recurring EBITDA after leases Million CHF 965

Organic growth % +10.2%

Growth in local currency % +14.8%

Recurring EBIT Million CHF 707

Organic growth % +14.3%

Growth in local currency % +17.6%

Net sales to external customers grew by 7.4% on a local 
currency basis, driven by the strong contribution from the 
acquisitions in Europe and North America coupled with 
notable growth in commercial and residential roofing 
revenues in North America. This contrasts with the lower 
2023 baseline, which was impacted by the normalization 
of purchasing trends and destocking that began in the 
fourth quarter of 2022 and persisted throughout 2023.

Recurring EBIT grew over-proportionally by 17.6% on a 
local currency basis, predominantly due to the good 
performance of the roofing business in North America. As 
a result, the Recurring EBIT margin improved by 100 basis 
points, with broad-based growth across all regions, 
especially Latin America. The acquisitions in Europe 
throughout the year also supported the segment’s growth.

Precast, paving solutions and dry mortars remained firm 
overall and showed margin improvement thanks to 
efficient cost management. The Disensa retail network is 
progressing steadily in Latin America, with almost 2,000 
stores across the region. 

Holcim continued to execute its growth strategy in the 
segment, with four acquisitions finalized during the year. 
In January, Holcim acquired ZinCo, a Germany-based 
manufacturer and designer of sustainable green roofing 
systems, which complements Holcim’s existing roofing 
business as well as its overall commitment to advancing 
decarbonization. In May, Holcim acquired Tensolite in 
Argentina, a manufacturer of innovative precast and 
prestressed concrete construction systems, increasing its 
footprint in the growing Latin American market. This was 
followed in June with the acquisition of Bantle Gips in 
Germany. Lastly, in November, Holcim acquired OX 
Engineered Products, a leading U.S. provider of advanced 
insulation systems. 

These companies will reinforce Holcim’s footprint, putting 
Holcim in a good position to deliver strong growth over 
the coming year.

PERFORMANCE BY OPERATIONAL SEGMENT CONTINUED
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Responsibility statement 
We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and having 
made reasonable inquiries to that end, the financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable Accounting Standards and give a true and fair 
view of the assets and liabilities, and of the financial 
position and results of the Company and of its 
consolidated subsidiaries, and that this Annual Report 
provides a true and fair view of the evolution of the 
business, results and financial condition of the Company 
and of its consolidated subsidiaries, and a description of 
the main risks and uncertainties to which the Company 
and its consolidated subsidiaries are exposed.

Zug, 27 February 2025
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Australia’s tallest residential skyscraper, Australia 108 in Melbourne, built using 
DYNAMax – Holcim’s ultimate high-strength concrete
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Million CHF Notes 2024 2023

Net sales 3.3  26,407  27,009 

Production cost of goods sold 4.3  (14,731)  (15,511) 

Gross profit  11,676  11,498 

Distribution and selling expenses  (5,784)  (5,905) 

Administration expenses  (1,514)  (1,319) 

Share of profit of joint ventures 6.4  264  304 

Operating profit  4,642  4,577 

Profit on disposals and other non-operating income 5.2  50  156 

Loss on disposals and other non-operating expenses 5.3  (169)  (97) 

Share of profit of associates 6.9  24  36 

Financial income 7.2  156  198 

Financial expenses 7.3  (681)  (697) 

Net income before taxes  4,022  4,174 

Income taxes 8.2  (981)  (999) 

Net income  3,042  3,176 

Net income attributable to:

Shareholders of Holcim Ltd 2,926  3,060 

Non-controlling interests 115  115 

Earnings per share in CHF

Earnings per share 9 5.24 5.37

Fully diluted earnings per share 9 5.22 5.35

Alternative Performance Measures used in 
this report are defined from page 370

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME OF HOLCIM

264  HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report



Million CHF Notes 2024 2023

Net income  3,042  3,176 

Items that will be reclassified to the statement of income in future periods

Currency translation effects

– Exchange differences on translation  865  (2,466) 

– Realized through statement of income1 216 0

– Tax effect 8.4  9  (10) 

Cash flow hedges

– Change in fair value  76  25 

– Realized through statement of income  (48)  (261) 

– Tax effect 8.4  (8)  52 

Net investment hedges in subsidiaries

– Realized through statement of income1  (21)  (11) 

Subtotal  1,089  (2,672) 

Items that will not be reclassified to the statement of income in future periods

Defined benefit plans

– Remeasurements 15.3  83  (281) 

– Tax effect 8.4  (4)  89 

Share of other comprehensive earnings of associates and joint ventures

– Change in fair value 0  (2) 

Subtotal  79  (194) 

Total other comprehensive earnings  1,168  (2,866) 

Total comprehensive earnings  4,210  309 

Total comprehensive earnings attributable to:

Shareholders of Holcim Ltd  4,086  339 

Non-controlling interests  124  (30) 

1  In 2024, the currency translation effects and net investment hedges realized through the statement of income relate to the divestment of several 
Group’s businesses (see Note 2.3).
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Million CHF Notes 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Cash and cash equivalents 14.3  5,347  6,082 

Short-term derivative assets 14.5  55  13 

Current financial receivables 12.3  137  128 

Trade accounts receivable 10.2  2,613  2,723 

Inventories 10.3  3,117  2,807 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 10.4  837  849 

Assets classified as held for sale 13.2  81  239 

Total current assets  12,187  12,842 

Long-term financial investments and other long-term assets 12.2  538  542 

Investments in associates and joint ventures 6.4, 6.9  3,331  3,184 

Property, plant and equipment 11.2  20,307  19,341 

Goodwill 11.3  14,594  13,589 

Intangible assets 11.3  2,380  2,127 

Deferred tax assets 8.4  565  674 

Pension assets 15.3  378  296 

Long-term derivative assets 14.5  6  90 

Total non-current assets  42,098  39,844 

Total assets  54,285  52,686 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF HOLCIM
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Million CHF Notes 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Trade accounts payable 10.5  4,745  4,336 

Current financial liabilities 14.4  1,842  1,416 

Current income tax liabilities  712  801 

Other current liabilities  2,068  1,899 

Short-term provisions 16.2  387  348 

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 13.2  0  104 

Total current liabilities  9,754  8,904 

Long-term financial liabilities 14.4  12,014  12,665 

Provision for pensions and other post-employment benefit plans 15.3  548  587 

Long-term income tax liabilities 8.6  154  170 

Deferred tax liabilities 8.4  1,994  1,868 

Long-term provisions 16.2  1,866  1,708 

Total non-current liabilities  16,575  16,999 

Total liabilities  26,330  25,903 

Share capital 17.2  1,158  1,158 

Capital surplus  14,593  16,672 

Treasury shares 17.2  (1,744)  (811) 

Reserves  13,232  8,978 

Total equity attributable to shareholders of Holcim Ltd  27,239  25,997 

Non-controlling interests 2.5  716  786 

Total shareholders' equity  27,956  26,783 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  54,285  52,686 
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Million CHF
Share

 capital 
Capital 
surplus

Treasury
shares

Equity as of 1 January 2024  1,158  16,672  (811) 

Net income       

Other comprehensive earnings       

Total comprehensive earnings       

Payout    (1,570)   

Subordinated fixed rate resettable notes1       

Hyperinflation2       

Change in treasury shares3    (488)  (933) 

Share-based remuneration    (22)   

Acquisition/(Disposal) of participation in Group companies       

Change in participation in existing Group companies       

Equity as of 31 December 2024  1,158  14,593  (1,744) 

Equity as of 1 January 2023  1,232  18,840  (1,297) 

Net income       

Other comprehensive earnings       

Total comprehensive earnings       

Payout    (1,414)   

Subordinated fixed rate resettable notes1       

Hyperinflation2       

Change in treasury shares3    (747)  (1,514) 

Cancellation of shares3  (74)    2,000   
Share-based remuneration    (7)   

Acquisition of participation in Group companies       

Change in participation in existing Group companies       

Equity as of 31 December 20234  1,158  16,672  (811) 

1 On 28 May 2024, Holcim exercised the redemption option on the EUR 500 million (CHF 490 million) subordinated fixed rate resettable perpetual notes issued on 
 5 April 2019 at an initial fixed coupon of 3.0%. This equity instrument is reflected at historical value in equity. See more information in Note 17.1.
2 See more information in Note 2.2.
3 In 2024, the amount of CHF -933 million includes the impact of the share buyback program of CHF -1,000 million launched in March 2024. In 2023, the amount of 
 CHF -1,514 million includes CHF -1,550 million impact relating to the share buyback program launched in November 2022. For more information, see Note 17.2. 
4 Equity as of 31 December 2023 includes a currency translation adjustment of CHF -132 million relating to assets and directly associated liabilities classified as held for sale. 
 In 2024, the currency translation effects relating to the divestment of several Group’s businesses are realized through the statement of income.
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Currency 
translation adjustments4

Other Reserves and Retained 
earnings

Total equity 
attributable to 

shareholders 
of Holcim Ltd

Non-controlling
interests

Total 
shareholders' 

equity

 (19,847)  28,825  25,997  786  26,783 

   2,926  2,926  115  3,042 

 1,062  98  1,160  8  1,168 

 1,062  3,024  4,086  123  4,210 

     (1,570)  (146)  (1,715) 

   (555)  (555)    (555) 

   196  196  35  232 

   527  (893)    (893) 

     (22)    (22) 

   (7)  (7)  (64)  (71) 

 (11)  17  6  (18)  (12) 

 (18,796)  32,027  27,239  716  27,956 

 (17,440)  27,339  28,674  940  29,614 

   3,060  3,060  115  3,176 

 (2,349)  (372)  (2,721)  (145)  (2,866) 

 (2,349)  2,688  339  (30)  309 

     (1,414)  (99)  (1,513) 

   (221)  (221)    (221) 

   124  124  21  145 

   756  (1,506)    (1,506) 

   (1,926)      0 

     (7)    (7) 

       8  8 

 (58)  66  8  (54)  (46) 

 (19,847)  28,825  25,997  786  26,783 



Million CHF Notes 2024 2023

Net income  3,042  3,176 

Income taxes 8.2  981  999 

Loss (profit) on disposals and other non operating items non cash  86  (68) 

Share of profit of associates and joint ventures 6.4, 6.9  (288)  (340) 

Financial expenses, net 7.2, 7.3  525  499 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of operating assets 4.5  2,219  2,076 

Employee benefits and other operating items  (82)  (99) 

Change in inventories  (251)  (83) 

Change in trade accounts receivable  205  (123) 

Change in trade accounts payable  350  308 

Change in other receivables and liabilities  (86)  50 

Cash generated from operations  6,701  6,395 

Dividends received  257  216 

Interest received  160  184 

Interest paid  (523)  (622) 

Income taxes paid 8.3  (928)  (702) 

Cash flow from operating activities (A)  5,667  5,470 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (1,650)  (1,505) 

Disposal of property, plant and equipment  173  96 

Acquisition of participation in Group companies (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) 2.3  (984)  (1,975) 

Disposal of participation in Group companies (net of cash and cash equivalents disposed of) 2.3  472  6 

Purchase of financial assets, intangible and other assets  (248)  (251) 

Disposal of financial assets, intangible and other assets  200  159 

Cash flow from investing activities (B) 19  (2,037)  (3,469) 

Payout on ordinary shares 9  (1,570)  (1,414) 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (164)  (91) 

Net movement of treasury shares1 17.2  (951)  (1,609) 

Repayment from subordinated fixed rate resettable notes 17.1  (490)  (200) 

Coupon paid on subordinated fixed rate resettable notes  (13)  (27) 

Net movement in current financial liabilities  125  (16) 

Proceeds from long-term financial liabilities  26  9 

Repayment of long-term financial liabilities  (931)  (1,454) 

Repayment of long-term lease liabilities 14.7  (389)  (357) 

Increase in participation in existing Group companies  (12)  (64) 

Cash flow from financing activities (C)  (4,369)  (5,223) 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C)  (739)  (3,223) 

Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the period (net)  6,052  9,757 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (739)  (3,223) 

Currency translation effects  21  (483) 

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the period (net) 14.3  5,334  6,052 

1  The net movement of treasury shares for 2024 is mainly related to the share buyback program announced in March 2024 and completed in December 2024 (see Note 17.2). 
The net movement of treasury shares for 2023 is mainly related to the share buyback program completed in May 2023 (see Note 17.2).
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As used herein, the terms “Holcim” or the “Group” refer 
to Holcim Ltd (Switzerland) together with the companies 
included in the scope of consolidation.

1. Accounting policies
1.1 Basis of preparation
The Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with the IFRS® Accounting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this report may not add up precisely to the totals provided. All ratios 
and variances are calculated using the underlying amount rather than the presented rounded amount.

Critical estimates and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and related disclosures as of the date of the financial 
statements.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and additional factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Due to the nature of making estimates and assumptions relating to the future, the resulting accounting estimates could 
deviate from the related actual results.

Management also uses judgment in applying the Group’s accounting policies.

The following details the judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and which have a significant impact on the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements:

• Classification of a subsidiary or a disposal group as held for sale or available for distribution to owners only when it is 
available for immediate sale or distribution in its current condition. The sale or distribution must be highly probable 
and expected to be completed within one year from the classification date. In case of subsidiaries or disposal groups 
to be sold, assessment is required as to whether the proceeds expected to be received will exceed the carrying 
amount (Note 2.3 and Note 13). 

• Certain lease contracts entered into by the Group which include extension options that require an assessment of 
whether such options will be exercised. If it is reasonably certain that an extension option will be exercised, the period 
covered by the extension option is included in the lease liability. As part of this judgment, the Group considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for it to exercise an extension option, including 
any expected changes in facts and circumstances from the commencement date until the exercise date of the option. 
Note 14.7 includes additional information about future payments covered by an extension option not included in the 
lease term.

• As part of Holcim’s strategy to decarbonize its energy mix, the Group is entering into power purchase agreements 
(PPAs) through partnerships with power producers. These agreements are long-term contracts where Holcim is 
securing sourcing of power from renewable energy. The structure of the agreements may differ depending on the 
intention of the parties involved and as such entails applying judgment in determining whether the underlying 
contracts contain leases or embedded derivatives.

The following details the assumptions the Group makes about the future and other major sources of estimation 
uncertainty at year-end that could have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year:

• Assumptions underlying the estimation of value-in-use in respect of cash-generating units for impairment testing 
purposes require the use of estimates such as long-term discount rates, growth rates, price, costs and sustainability 
related key assumptions (Note 6, Note 11.3).

• For all acquisitions of subsidiaries, the fair value of the consideration transferred (including any contingent 
consideration) and the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed involves a high degree of estimation 
and judgment (Note 2.3).
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• Liabilities and costs for defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits are determined using 
actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuations involve making assumptions regarding discount rates, expected future 
salary increases and mortality rates, which are subject to significant uncertainty due to the long-term nature of such 
plans (Note 15.3).

• The measurement of site restoration and other environmental provisions requires long-term assumptions regarding 
the completion of raw material extraction, the costs of restoration and the phasing of the restoration work to be 
carried out (Note 16.1).

• The recognition and measurement of provisions such as litigation provisions or indemnification provisions require an 
estimate of the expenditure and timing of the settlement. Litigation and claims to which the Group is exposed are 
assessed by management with the assistance of the legal department and in certain cases with the support of 
external specialized lawyers (Note 16.2). Disclosures related to such provisions, as well as contingent liabilities, also 
require significant judgment (Note 16.3).

• The recognition of deferred tax assets from tax losses carried forward requires an assessment of whether it is probable 
that sufficient future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilized (Note 8).

• The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions and the calculation of the Group’s tax charge involves 
a degree of estimation and judgment in respect of certain items. There are many transactions and calculations where 
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes liabilities for 
potential tax audit issues and uncertain tax positions based on management’s estimate of whether additional taxes 
will be due and on the requirements of IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (Note 8).

The critical estimates and assumptions related to climate change-related impacts are presented in Note 1.3.

1.2 Adoption of new and amended IFRS Accounting Standards
The following amendments became effective as of 1 January 2024:

• Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
The adoption of the amendments to IAS 1 concerning the classification of liabilities as current or non-current did not 
materially impact the Group financial statements, as the Group was in compliance with all covenants during the 
reporting period and on the reporting date (Note 14.4).

• Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases – Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 
The adoption of the amendments to IFRS 16 did not materially impact the Group financial statements, as the Group 
usually does not employ sale and leaseback transactions as a source of financing.

• Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 – Disclosures: Supplier Finance Arrangements 
Additional disclosures resulting from the adoption of the amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 are included in Note 10.5.

The following amendments will become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025:

• Amendments to IAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability 
Since the Group is active in countries with limited availability of hard currencies, it is currently assessing 
the impact of the adoption of the amendments to IAS 21. The Group does not expect this standard to have a material 
impact on its financial statements. 

The following amendments will become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026:

• Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Classification and Measurement of Financial Liabilities 
The adoption of the above-mentioned amendments might result in additional disclosures on sustainable financing.

• Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, Nature-dependent Electricity 
The targeted update provides clarification concerning the application of the ‘own-use’ requirements in relation 
to power purchasing agreements and the permission of hedge accounting if these contracts are used as hedging 
instruments. The Group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on the financial statements.

The following standards will become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027:

• IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the adoption of IFRS 18 on the primary Financial Statements. 

• IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability 
The Group does not expect this standard to have any impact on its operations or financial statements.
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The Group has not early adopted any new standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are not 
yet effective in these consolidated financial statements. 

1.3 Climate change-related impacts
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future, including climate-related matters. There is 
considerable uncertainty over these assumptions and how they will impact the Group’s business operations and cash 
flow projections. Holcim consistently evaluates these assumptions to be consistent with risk management and the 
commitments made by the company to investors and other stakeholders. The estimates and assumptions, notably 
those relating to assets and goodwill impairment, useful life of assets, CapEx and research and development, inventory 
valuation, financial expenses, recoverability of deferred tax assets, provisions and contingent liabilities, and insurance 
costs are based on the available information and regulations in place as of 31 December 2024.

Risk Management 
On Holcim’s journey to become the leader in innovative and sustainable building solutions, the risks in relation to the 
decarbonization of its own operations remain a key challenge. Based on the Taskforce for Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations, Holcim systematically assesses all potential impacts of climate-related risks: 
both transition risks (risks in relation to Holcim’s decarbonization journey) and physical risks (physical impact of climate 
change on Holcim’s assets and supply chain).

Regarding transition risks, the decarbonization journey is exposed to major uncertainties, some of which are beyond 
Holcim’s control. Unfavorable climate policies, slow market acceptance or unsuccessful investments in next generation 
technologies have the potential to affect Holcim’s business activities and impair the achievement of its CO₂ targets. In 
addition, a perception as a high emitter of CO₂ could impact Holcim’s reputation, thus reducing its attractiveness to 
investors and the workforce talent needed for deep decarbonization. With Holcim’s strategic shift to become a leader in 
the transition to sustainable building, climate-related risk also entails the capacity to meet customers’ product quality 
and decarbonization expectations. Indeed, the successful launch of low-carbon products under the global brands 
ECOPact and ECOPlanet exposes the Group to new threats should the Group be unable to build strong credibility with 
its customers, document and back-up environmental claims, develop strategic partnerships or promote a marketing- 
and product-led approach within the Group.

The physical impact of climate change (such as increased regularity of extreme weather events and water scarcity) has 
the potential to disrupt our operations in both on-site operations and transportation activities, leading to higher 
logistics and transportation costs and reduced production capacities, business interruptions and even reputational 
damage. This could increase the Group’s insurance costs due to the higher amounts at stake or more frequent insured 
events.

The Group takes a holistic approach to climate risks. To accelerate green growth, Holcim is comprehensively 
transforming its business model to become a major player in decarbonizing buildings across the value chain, to 
eliminate emissions and build smarter and better with less.

Holcim’s CO₂ reduction roadmap for its 2030 and 2050 targets (net-zero pledge) was validated by the Science Based 
Targets initiative (SBTi). Holcim is accelerating the decarbonization of its own operations to become a net-zero 
company by switching to low carbon energy, developing new formulations, adopting green mobility and using 
advanced technologies such as carbon capture, utilization and storage (CCUS). In total, seven full-scale projects were 
selected for EU Innovation Fund grants to capture five million tons of CO₂ by 2030. The Group is also scaling up 
innovations and other solutions from increasing the use of low-carbon raw materials produced from construction and 
demolition materials to replacing slag or fly ash with novel binders such as calcined clay. Holcim continues to explore 
other opportunities including smart design, novel binders, kiln electrification and the use of hydrogen. However, in line 
with the financial reporting requirements, the business plans used for assets and goodwill impairment testing only 
include future investment projects which were approved as of 31 December 2024.
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Impairment testing
The cash flow projections used in the impairment process are generally based on a four-year financial planning period 
using business plans approved by management. Cash flows beyond the planning period are extrapolated based on 
increasing sustainable cash flows. The business plans include, among others, management’s current view on market 
growth, pricing and costs. In any event, the growth rate used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond the planning 
period does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the relevant market for the products and country in 
which the cash-generating unit operates. The long-term average growth rate is based on the long-term inflation rate 
and gross domestic product of the relevant market, as published by the International Monetary Fund (IMF).

Useful lives of assets
Useful lives of assets may be affected by climate-related matters due to transitional risks such as obsolescence and 
legal restrictions or physical risks, as operations could be adversely impacted by extreme variability in weather patterns. 
The change in useful lives has a direct impact on the amount of depreciation or amortization recognized each year. 
Management’s review of useful lives considers the impact of the Group’s 2030 targets. The various input factors and the 
residual values used for the calculation of useful lives are reviewed annually.

CapEx and R&D
The transition to lower-emission technologies will impact the allocation of future CapEx. The Group’s research and 
development (R&D) expenditures will be aligned with the Group’s R&D strategy to focus on new and alternative 
technologies as a result of diverse research initiatives that will either impact CapEx or R&D costs in the statement of 
income, depending on the success of the initiatives.

Sustainable finance framework
In 2023, Holcim implemented a sustainable finance framework, which will enable the issuance of green finance 
instruments to finance activities that are aligned with the EU Taxonomy Regulation or which contribute to the 
transformation of the cement activities so that they can fulfill the criteria in order to become aligned. Green finance 
instruments are used for the funding of projects with a positive environmental impact, i.e. eligibility is based on their 
contribution to the attainment of lower-emission manufacturing, the development of energy-efficient building 
solutions as well as the sourcing of renewable energy and use of clean transportation. Holcim had not yet issued any 
green instruments as of year-end 2024. 

Sustainability-linked financing contains features through which the cost of funding relates to meeting specific 
sustainability performance targets. This could impact the Group’s financial expenses in the event the Group does not 
reach the targets that have been set.

Litigation and site restoration provisions
Climate-related matters may affect the level of provisions recognized, including site restoration and litigation 
provisions, as a result of the levies imposed by governments for failure to meet climate-related targets, or new 
regulations, requirements to remediate environmental damages on Holcim’s sites, or due to existing obligations now 
being considered more likely. Some contracts may become onerous as a result of climate-related changes, which 
would potentially decrease the Group’s revenue or increase its operating costs.

Emission rights
The initial allocation of emission rights granted is recognized at nominal amount (nil value). Where a Group company 
has emissions in excess of the emission rights granted, it will recognize a provision for the shortfall based on the market 
price at that date. The emission rights are held for compliance purposes only, and, therefore, the Group does not intend 
to speculate with these in the open market.
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2. Fully consolidated companies and non-controlling interests 
2.1 Scope of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise those of Holcim Ltd and of its subsidiaries. The list of principal 
consolidated companies is presented in Note 2.4.

2.2 Accounting principles
Principles of consolidation
The Group consolidates a subsidiary if it has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights or otherwise it 
considers that it has power over the subsidiary when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the current and practical 
ability to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary unilaterally and is exposed to variable returns from the 
subsidiary. Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration given as of the date of exchange.

For each business combination, the Group measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or 
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed in the 
income statement within operating profit. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are initially measured at fair value as of the acquisition date.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as of the acquisition date.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying amount of the Group’s previously held equity interests in 
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as of the acquisition date, with any resulting gain or loss recognized in the 
statement of income.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in the statement of income.

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at 
the higher of the amount that would be recognized as a provision and the amount initially recognized.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer 
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Changes in the ownership interest in a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control are accounted for as an equity 
transaction. Consequently, if Holcim acquires or partially disposes of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary, without 
losing control, any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair 
value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in retained earnings. However, if the Group loses 
control of a subsidiary, it derecognizes all the assets (plus goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, including the 
carrying amount of any non-controlling interests.

Additionally, the Group reclassifies the currency translation adjustments relating to that subsidiary recognized in equity 
and records the resulting difference as a gain or loss on disposal in the statement of income.

It is common practice for the Group to write put options and acquire call options in connection with the remaining 
shares held by the non-controlling shareholders, mainly as part of a business combination. If the Group has acquired a 
present ownership interest as part of a business combination, the present value of the redemption amount of the put 
option is recognized as a financial liability, with any excess over the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests 
recognized as goodwill. In such a case, the non-controlling interests is deemed to have been acquired as of the 
acquisition date and therefore any excess arising should follow the accounting treatment as in a business combination. 
All subsequent changes in the fair value of the financial liability are recognized in the statement of income and no 
earnings are attributed to the non-controlling interests. However, where the Group has not acquired a present 
ownership interest as part of a business combination, the non-controlling interests continue to receive an allocation of 
profit or loss and are reclassified as a financial liability at each reporting date as if the acquisition had taken place on 
that date. Any excess over the reclassified carrying amount of the non-controlling interests and all subsequent changes 
in the fair value of the financial liability are recognized directly in retained earnings.

Foreign currency translation
The assets and liabilities of each of the Group’s companies are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). Statements of income of foreign entities are 
translated into the Group’s reporting currency (Swiss francs) at average exchange rates for the year, and statements of 
financial position are translated at the exchange rates prevailing on 31 December.

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of a foreign operation is expressed in the functional currency of the foreign 
operation and is translated into Swiss francs at the closing rate of the reporting period (for more information, see 
Note 11.3).
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Foreign currency transactions translated into the functional currency are accounted for at the exchange rate prevailing 
at the date of the transactions; gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement of 
income, except when deferred outside the statement of income as qualifying cash flow hedges or net investment 
hedges.

Exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of a company’s net investment in a foreign operation are 
recognized in other comprehensive earnings (currency translation adjustment) and are fully reclassified to the 
statement of income should the Group lose control of a subsidiary, lose joint control over an interest in a joint 
arrangement or lose significant influence over an associate. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, 
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognized in the statement of income as part of the net gain or 
loss on sale, except for a partial disposal of a subsidiary without loss of control, where a proportionate share of the 
cumulative currency translation adjustments is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and not recognized in the 
statement of income.

In countries with limited foreign currency availability and where several exchange rates are available, the Group has 
applied the rate at which the future cash flows represented by the transaction or balance could have been settled if 
those cash flows had occurred at the measurement date. If exchangeability between two currencies is temporarily 
lacking, the rate used is the first subsequent rate at which exchanges could be made.

Hyperinflation
Since 31 December 2018, the Group has applied IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies for 
Argentina. In accordance with IAS 29, the financial statements for Argentina are expressed in terms of the measuring 
unit current as of 31 December 2024 and 2023. Monetary assets and liabilities are not restated as they are already 
expressed in the measuring unit current at the end of the reporting period, whereas all non-monetary items such as 
inventory, property, plant and equipment and equity recorded at historical rates are restated in terms of the measuring 
unit current at the end of December 2024 and 2023.

The resulting gain of CHF 61 million (2023: CHF 25 million) on the net liability monetary position was recorded as part of 
production cost of goods sold in the consolidated statement of income.

The restatement of equity by CHF 232 million (2023: CHF 145 million) was reflected as an increase in retained earnings, 
of which CHF 35 million (2023: CHF 21 million) was attributable to non-controlling interests. The restated financial 
statements for Argentina are translated into Swiss francs at the exchange rate applicable as of 31 December 2024 and 
2023 and the organic growth of the country is adjusted to limit the impact of hyperinflation.

Inflation in Lebanon has increased significantly and the three-year cumulative inflation exceeded 100% in July 2020. No 
hyperinflation accounting was applied for the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2024 and 2023, as 
the impact is considered immaterial.

Principal exchange rates
Statement of income

Average exchange rates
in CHF

Statement of financial position
Closing exchange rates

in CHF

2024 2023 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

100 Argentinian Peso ARS 0.08 0.09 0.08 0.09

1 Australian Dollar AUD 0.58 0.60 0.56 0.57

1 Canadian Dollar CAD 0.64 0.67 0.63 0.64

1 Chinese Renminbi CNY 0.12 0.13 0.12 0.12

100 Algerian Dinar DZD 0.66 0.66 0.67 0.63

1 Euro EUR 0.95 0.97 0.94 0.93

1 British Pound GBP 1.12 1.12 1.13 1.07

100 Mexican Peso MXN 4.83 5.07 4.36 4.97

100 Nigerian Naira NGN 0.06 0.10 0.06 0.07

100 Philippine Peso PHP 1.54 1.61 1.56 1.52

1 Polish Zloty PLN 0.22 0.21 0.22 0.21

1 Romanian Leu RON 0.19 0.20 0.19 0.19

1 US Dollar USD 0.88 0.90 0.90 0.84
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2.3 Changes in the scope of consolidation
As part of its strategy, Holcim completed several acquisitions and disposals in the past two years.

Acquisitions of businesses

Million CHF Total 20241 Total 20231 Duro-Last Others1

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at acquisition date: 

Cash and cash equivalents  59  47  10  37 

Other current assets  151  284  112  172 

Property, plant and equipment  450  492  68  424 

Intangible assets  293  662  443  219 

Other long-term assets  12  21  19  3 

Bank overdrafts  0  (2)  0  (2) 

Other current liabilities  (137)  (167)  (54)  (112) 

Long-term provisions  (22)  (82)  (21)  (61) 

Other long-term liabilities  (139)  (117)  (3)  (114) 

Fair value of net assets  668  1,138  573  565 

Goodwill acquired:

Fair value of net assets  (668)  (1,138)  (573)  (565) 

Non-controlling interests  18  8  0  8 

Fair value of net assets acquired  (650)  (1,130)  (573)  (557) 

Total purchase consideration  1,195  1,969  1,203  766 

Fair value of previously held equity interests  16  6  0  6 

Goodwill acquired  561  845  630  215 

Cash outflow on acquisitions:

Total purchase consideration  1,195  1,969  1,203  766 

Purchase consideration in the form of shares  (4) 

Acquired cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts  (59)  (45)  (10)  (35) 

Deferred and advance considerations2  (148)  52  0  52 

Cash outflow from acquisitions  984  1,975  1,193  782 

1  Including purchase price allocation refinements from prior-year acquisitions.
2  Deferred and advance considerations include future expected cash out related to current-year acquisitions (CHF 104 million at the end of 2024).

STRATEGIC           
REVIEW

FINANCIAL           
REVIEW

GOVERNANCE, RISK & 
COMPENSATION

MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION

SUSTAINABILITY 
PERFORMANCE

HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report  277



Acquisitions in the current reporting period
In 2024, Holcim acquired the following businesses:

• Mendiger Basalt, a producer of aggregates and recycled construction demolition materials, Germany (January 2024)

• ZinCo, a manufacturer and designer of sustainable green roofing systems, Germany (January 2024)

• Grupo Comosa Company’s ready-mix business, a producer of ready-mix materials, Mexico (March 2024)

• Eurobud’s ready-mix operations in selected markets, Poland (May 2024) 

• Tensolite, a manufacturer of innovative precast and prestressed concrete construction systems, Argentina (May 2024)

• Land Recovery, a supplier of recycled construction materials and aggregates, UK (May 2024)

• Cand-Landi, a producer of construction materials and provider of recycling, earth moving, logistics and pipeline 
maintenance services, Switzerland (June 2024)

• Bantle Gips, a gypsum quarries and landfill operator, Germany (June 2024)

• King William Sand & Gravel, a sand and gravel supply business, U.S. (July 2024) 

• Mark Desmedt, a company recycling construction demolition materials, Belgium (July 2024)

• CemEnergy, a waste management and alternative fuels producer, Poland (July 2024)

• Comacsa, a white cement and industrial non-metallic minerals businesses entity, Peru (August 2024)

• Sablières de l’Atlantique, a marine alluvial sand dredging company, France (September 2024)

• Mixercon, a cement and ready-mix production, marketing and supply cement and ready-mix business, Peru 
(September 2024)

• Cemex operations in Guatemala, companies operating in the production, marketing and supply of cement and ready-
mix materials, Guatemala (September 2024)

• Seekag, a ready-mix company, Switzerland (October 2024)

• Dunex Plus, a production and pumping company, Serbia (October 2024)

• OX Engineered Products, a U.S. provider of advanced insulation systems, U.S. (November 2024)

• Sekundar Usluge d.o.o., a waste management and alternative fuels producer, Croatia (November 2024)

• Ghielmicementi SA, a cement distribution company, Switzerland (December 2024)

• Rock 2023, an aggregate company, Bulgaria (December 2024)

• Certain aggregates operations from Carrières du Sud Ouest, France (December 2024)

All acquisitions aggregated contributed CHF 232 million to the Group’s net sales in 2024. If the acquisitions had 
occurred on 1 January 2024, the contribution to Group net sales would have been CHF 560 million.

Acquisitions in the comparative period
Acquisition of Duro-Last in 2023
In February 2023, Holcim signed an agreement to acquire Duro-Last, a U.S. manufacturer of PVC roofing systems. 
The acquisition was completed on 31 March 2023 when Holcim acquired 100% of the voting equity shares for a 
consideration of CHF 1,203 million (USD 1,313 million) in cash.

As of 31 December 2023, the purchase price allocation (PPA) was completed with no material refinements. The value
of the intangible assets acquired amounted to CHF 443 million and mainly reflected the recognition of customer
relationships, trademarks and technology. The final fair value of the net assets acquired was CHF 573 million.

The results of Duro-Last are reported within the Solutions & Products operating segment.
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Other acquisitions in the comparative period
In 2023, Holcim’s main acquisitions included the following businesses:

• Chrono Chape, a provider of on-site self-levelling screeds, France (January 2023)

• Nicem, a producer of grounded calcium carbonate, Italy (January 2023)

• Pioneer Landscape Centers, sand and aggregates quarries, U.S. (January 2023)

• Ol-Trans, a ready-mix concrete supplier, Poland (January 2023)

• Indar, a hardware wholesaler, Mexico (January 2023) 

• Fanger Kies und Beton, a ready-mix concrete and aggregates producer, Switzerland (February 2023)

• Beton Zdrug d.o.o., an aggregates producer, Croatia (February 2023)

• HM Factory, a provider of precast concrete solutions, Poland (February 2023)

• FDT Flachdach Technologie GmbH, a manufacturer of thermoplastic roofs, Germany (March 2023)

• Sivyer Logistics, a producer of recycled construction and demolition materials, UK (March 2023)

• Tezak Heavy Equipment, an aggregates producer, U.S. (March 2023)

• Stones Business Development, an aggregates producer, Romania (March 2023)

• Westridge Quarries, an aggregates producer, Canada (April 2023)

• PASA, a producer of roofing and waterproofing solutions, Mexico (April 2023)

• Quitam (Quimexur), a producer of liquid membranes for roofing and waterproofing applications, Argentina (May 2023)

• Besblock Ltd, a supplier of precast materials, UK (May 2023)

• Minerales y Agregados, a producer of advanced mortars and adhesive, Guatemala (May 2023)

• Klaus Heinz Group, a ready-mix concrete and recycled construction and demolition materials producer, 
Germany (May 2023)

• Larsinos, a ready-mix concrete and aggregates producer, Greece (May 2023)

• Cooper Standard Technical Rubber GmbH, a manufacturer of highly durable and technical rubber products, Germany 
(July 2023)

• OCL Regeneration Ltd, a company specialized in highways waste recycling solutions, UK (August 2023)

• Vic Mix Pty Ltd, a ready-mix concrete supplier, Australia (September 2023)

• Elite Cements S.L., a coastal grinding station, Spain (October 2023)

• Ready-mix operations from AML Ltd, New Zealand (November 2023)

• A majority stake in Artepref, a provider of precast concrete solutions, Spain (December 2023)

• W.A.T.T. Recycling, waste management company that produces alternative fuels, Greece (December 2023)

• Eco-Readymix, a producer of mortar and ready-mix concrete, UK (December 2023)

All acquisitions aggregated, excluding Duro-Last, contributed CHF 407 million to the Group’s net sales in 2023. If the 
acquisitions had occurred on 1 January 2023, the contribution to Group net sales would have been CHF 729 million.
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Disposals of businesses
In 2024, the disposals were as follows:

• Sale of the business in Russia (February 2024)

• Sale of the business in Uganda (March 2024)

• Sale of the business in Tanzania, representing a 65% stake in the company (March 2024)

• Sale of the business in South Africa (April 2024)

• Sale of the business in Kenya, representing a 58.6% stake in the company (December 2024)

Million CHF Total 2024

Cash and cash equivalents  43 

Other current assets  285 

Property, plant and equipment  310 

Intangible assets  1 

Other long-term assets  3 

Bank overdrafts  (7) 

Other current liabilities  (205) 

Long-term provisions  (10) 

Other long-term liabilities  (50) 

Net assets  369 

Non-controlling interests  (82) 

Net assets disposed of  287 

Goodwill disposed  99 

Cumulative other comprehensive income  195 

Net loss on disposals before taxes  (92) 

Tax and other expenses  43 

Total disposal consideration  533 

Disposed cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts  (36) 

Tax and disposal costs paid  (23) 

Deferred consideration  (1) 

Cash inflow from disposals  472 

In 2023, there were no material disposals of business.

Significant pending transactions
In 2024, Holcim initiated the following transactions:

• Holcim is progressing on the planned full capital market separation of its North American business. The transaction is 
subject to shareholder approval at the Holcim Annual General Meeting on 14 May 2025 and subject to customary 
approvals. Therefore, management has assessed and concluded that the requirements to present its North American 
business as held for distribution to owners are not yet met.

• Holcim has signed an agreement with Huaxin Cement Ltd to divest its Nigerian business through the sale of its entire 
83.81% shareholding in Lafarge Africa PLC. The transaction is subject to customary and regulatory approvals. 
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2.4 Principal consolidated companies of the Group
The following table lists the principal subsidiaries controlled by Holcim Ltd, Grafenauweg 10, CH-6300 Zug. It includes 
all legal entities representing at least 30% of the net sales of the country in which it operates.

Region / Company Country Municipality

Share Capital as of 
31 December 2024 
in million local 
currency Cement Aggregates

Ready-Mix 
Concrete

Solutions & 
Products

 
Percent of 

interest

Asia Pacific

Holcim (Australia) Pty Ltd Australia North Sydney AUD 1,120 u l p  100.0 %

LafargeHolcim Bangladesh PLC Bangladesh Dhaka BDT 11,614 n u  29.4 %

Lafarge Dujiangyan Cement Co., Ltd China
Dujiangyan 
City CNY 857 n u  75.0 %

Jiangyou LafargeHolcim Shuangma 
Cement Co., Ltd China Jiangyou City CNY 200 n  100.0 %

Holcim (New Zealand) Ltd
New 
Zealand Christchurch NZD 34 n u l  100.0 %

Holcim Philippines Inc. Philippines Taguig City PHP 6,452 n u p  99.0 %

Latin America

Holcim (Argentina) S.A. Argentina Cordoba ARS 366 n u l p  83.1 %

Holcim (Colombia) S.A. Colombia Bogotà COP 217,343 n u l p  100.0 %

Holcim (Costa Rica) S.A. Costa Rica San José CRC 8,577 n u l p  66.4 %

Holcim (Ecuador) S.A. Ecuador Guayaquil USD 61 n u l p  92.2 %

Cemento Holcim de El Salvador S.A. de C.V. El Salvador 
Antiguo 
Cuscatlán USD 10 n p  95.4 %

Holcim Concretos El Salvador, S.A. de C.V. El Salvador Colón USD n.m.1 l  94.0 %

Société des Ciments Antillais
French 
West Indies Baie-Mahault EUR 3 n  69.7 %

Cemento Holcim Guatemala S.A. Guatemala
Guatemala 
city GTQ 127 n l  100.0 %

Minerales y Agregados S.A. Guatemala
Guatemala 
city GTQ 19 p  52.0 %

Holcim México Operaciones S.A. de C.V. Mexico Mexico City MXN 5,877 n u l p  100.0 %

Holcim (Nicaragua) S.A. Nicaragua Managua NIO 19 n l p  53.1 %

Compañía Minera Agregados Calcareos S.A. Peru Lima PEN 80 n p  100.0 %

Mixercon S.A. Peru Lima PEN 124 n l  100.0 %

1  n.m.: not material.
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Region / Company Country Municipality

Share Capital as 
of 31 December 
2024 in million 
local currency Cement Aggregates

Ready-Mix 
Concrete

Solutions & 
Products

Percent of 
interest

Europe

Holcim (Österreich) GmbH Austria Vienna EUR 3 n  70.0 %

Holcim (Azerbaijan) O.J.S.C. Azerbaijan Baku AZN 32 n  90.3 %

Holcim (Belgique) S.A. Belgium Nivelles EUR 110 n u l  100.0 %

Holcim Solutions and Products EMEA BV Belgium Zaventem EUR 9 p  100.0 %

Holcim (Bulgaria) AD Bulgaria Beli Izvor BGN 1 n l  100.0 %

Holcim (Hrvatska) d.o.o. Croatia Koromacno EUR 38 n u l  100.0 %

Holcim (Cesko), a.s.
Czech 
Republic Cizkovice CZK 1,143 n  68.0 %

Lafarge Bétons France
Issy-les-
Moulineaux EUR 38 l  100.0 %

Lafarge Ciments France
Issy-les-
Moulineaux EUR 113 n  100.0 %

Lafarge Ciments Distribution France
Issy-les-
Moulineaux EUR 17 n  100.0 %

Lafarge Granulats France
Issy-les-
Moulineaux EUR 19 u  100.0 %

PRB Produits de revêtement du Batiment France Les Achards EUR 2 p  100.0 %

Holcim (Deutschland) GmbH Germany Hamburg EUR 47 n  100.0 %

Holcim (Süddeutschland) GmbH Germany Dotternhausen EUR 6 n  100.0 %

Holcim Kies und Splitt GmbH Germany Hamburg EUR n.m.1 u  100.0 %

Holcim Beton und Betonwaren GmbH Germany Hamburg EUR n.m.1 l  100.0 %

Heracles General Cement Company S.A. Greece Lykovrysi EUR 121 n p  100.0 %

Lafarge Beton Industrial Commercial SA Greece Lykovrysi EUR 35 u l  100.0 %

Holcim Hungary Ltd. Hungary Szentlőrinc HUF 1,000 n  70.0 %

Holcim (Italia) S.p.a. Italy Milano EUR 26 n  100.0 %

Holcim Aggregati Calcestruzzi s.r.l. Italy Milano EUR 11 u l  100.0 %

Lafarge Ciment (Moldova) S.A. Moldova Rezina MDL 223 n  95.3 %

Holcim Polska.2 Poland Małogoszcz PLN 811 n u l p  100.0 %

Holcim Kruszywa SP z.o.o.3 Poland Warsaw PLN 370 u  100.0 %

Holcim (Romania) S.A. Romania Bucharest RON 205 n u l p  99.7 %

Somaco Grup Prefabricate SRL Romania Bucharest RON 50 p  99.7 %

Lafarge BFC Srbija doo Beocin Serbia Beocin RSD 5,124 n u l  100.0 %

Holcim, Prodaja cementa, d.o.o. Slovenia Trbovlje EUR 6 n  70.0 %

Holcim España, S.A.U Spain Madrid EUR 221 n l p  100.0 %

Cand-Landi S.A. Switzerland Grandson CHF 1 p  100.0 %

Holcim (Schweiz) AG Switzerland Zurich CHF 71 n u  100.0 %

Holcim Kies und Beton AG Switzerland Zurich CHF 30 u l  100.0 %

Holcim Trading Ltd Switzerland Zurich USD 4  100.0 %

Aggregate Industries UK Ltd. UK Leicester GBP n.m.1 u l p  100.0 %

Lafarge Cauldon Limited UK Leicester GBP n.m.1 n  100.0 %

1  n.m.: not material.
2  Former Lafarge Lafarge Cement S.A.
3  Former Lafarge Kruszywa i Beton sp. z o.o.
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Region / Company Country Municipality

Share Capital as 
of 31 December 
2024 in million 
local currency Cement Aggregates

Ready-Mix 
Concrete

Solutions & 
Products

Percent of 
interest

North America

Lafarge Canada Inc. Canada Toronto CAD n.a.2 n u l p  100.0 %

Holcim (US) Inc. U.S. Chicago USD n.m.1 n  100.0 %

Holcim – ACM Management, Inc. U.S. Chicago USD n.m.1 u l  100.0 %

Holcim Solutions and Products US, LLC U.S. Nashville USD n.a.2 p  100.0 %

Herbert Malarkey Roofing Company U.S. Portland USD n.a.2 p  100.0 %

Middle East & Africa

Lafarge Ciment de M’sila “LCM” Algeria Algiers DZD 7,257 n  100.0 %

Lafarge Ciment d’Oggaz “LCO” Algeria Algiers DZD 3,848 n  100.0 %

Cilas Spa Algeria Algiers DZD 138 n  49.0 %

Lafarge Cement Egypt S.A.E. Egypt Cairo EGP 826 n  95.7 %

Lafarge Ready Mix S.A.E. Egypt Cairo EGP 635 l  100.0 %

Bazian Cement Company Limited Iraq Sulaymaniyah IQD 221,834 n p  70.0 %

Karbala Cement Manufacturing Ltd Iraq Karbala IQD 49,735 n  51.0 %

Jordan Cement Factories Co. Plc.3 Jordan Amman JOD 60 n l  50.3 %

Holcim (Liban) S.A.L. Lebanon Beirut LBP 97,580 n  52.1 %

Ashakacem Plc.4 Nigeria Gombe NGN 1,120 n  83.8 %

Lafarge Africa Plc.4 Nigeria Lagos NGN 8,054 n  83.8 %

Lafarge Emirates Cement L.L.C. UAE Dubai AED 323 n  100.0 %

Readymix Gulf Co Limited UAE Sharjah AED 8 l  69.4 %

1  n.m.: not material.
2  n.a.: not applicable.
3  Former Jordan Cement Factories Company P.S.C.
4  As of 31 December 2024, entities under divestment process. The transaction is subject to customary and regulatory approvals.

Holcim Innovation Centers
The following table lists the legal entities where the majority of employees are dedicated to research and development 
(R&D) and intellectual property.

Company Country Municipality

Share Capital as 
of 31 December 
2024 in million 
local currency

Percent 
of interest

Holcim Technology Ltd Switzerland Zug CHF 10  100.0 %

Holcim Innovation Center France
Saint-Quentin-
Fallavier EUR 23  100.0 %
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Principal finance, business services center and holding companies
The following table lists the principal finance, business services center and holding companies controlled by Holcim. It 
includes all entities with more than CHF 500 million of assets and direct participation in operational companies or with 
external financing over CHF 100 million over the last two years, and with more than 100 employees.

Principal finance, business services center and holding companies

Company Country Municipality

Share Capital as of 31 
December 2024 in 
million local currency

Percent 
of interest

Holcim Finance (Australia) Pty Ltd Australia North Sydney AUD n.m.1  100% 

Holcim (Australia) Holdings Pty Ltd Australia North Sydney AUD 1,444  100% 

Holcibel S.A. Belgium Mons EUR 691  100% 

Holcrest S.A.S. Colombia Medellin COP 1,795  100% 

Financière Lafarge S.A.S. France Issy-les-Moulineaux EUR 4,069  100% 

Holcim Investments (France) S.A.S. France Issy-les-Moulineaux EUR 136  100% 

Lafarge S.A. France Issy-les-Moulineaux EUR 1,161  100% 

Société financière immobilière et mobilière “SOFIMO” S.A.S. France Issy-les-Moulineaux EUR 1,055  100% 

Holcim Auslandbeteiligungs GmbH Germany Hamburg EUR 3  100% 

Holcim Beteiligungs GmbH Germany Hamburg EUR 102  100% 

Holcim Services (South Asia) Limited India Navi Mumbai INR 10  100% 

LH Global Hub Services Private Limited India Navi Mumbai INR 160  100% 

Holcim Gruppo (Italia) S.p.a. Italy Milan EUR 9  100% 

Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A. Luxembourg Luxembourg EUR 2  100% 

Holcim US Finance (Luxembourg) S.A. Luxembourg Luxembourg USD n.m.1  100% 

Caricement B.V. Netherlands Amsterdam EUR m.n.1  100% 

Holchin B.V. Netherlands Amsterdam EUR n.m.1  100% 

Holcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. Netherlands Amsterdam GBP n.m.1  100% 

Holderfin B.V. Netherlands Amsterdam EUR 4  100% 

Holcim European Business Services s.r.o. Slovakia Kosice EUR 2  100% 

Holcim EMEA Digital Center, S.L. Spain Madrid EUR n.m.1  100% 

Holcim Investments (Spain), S.L. Spain Madrid EUR 174  100% 

Holcim Continental Finance Ltd3 Switzerland Zug EUR 54  100% 

Holcim Group Services Ltd Switzerland Zug CHF 1  100% 

Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd Switzerland Zug CHF 10  100% 

Holcim International Finance Ltd4 Switzerland Zug USD 58  100% 

Holdertrade Ltd Switzerland Zug CHF 2  100% 

Marine Cement AG4 Switzerland Zug USD 17  100% 

Aggregate Industries Holdings Limited UK Leicester GBP n.m.1  100% 

Holcim Finance US LLC U.S. Wilmington USD n.a.2  100% 

Holcim Participations (US) Inc. U.S. Chicago USD n.m.1  100% 

1  n.m.: not material.
2  n.a.: not applicable.
3  Change in currency from CHF to EUR.
4  Change in currency from CHF to USD.

Listed Group companies

Region Company Country Municipality Place of listing

Market capitalization as 
of 31 December 2024 in 
local currency

Security
code number

Asia Pacific LafargeHolcim Bangladesh 
Limited Bangladesh Dhaka Chittagong, Dhaka BDT 62,598 BD0643LSCL09

Latin America Holcim (Argentina) S.A. Argentina Cordoba Buenos Aires ARS 793,662 ARP6806N1051 

Holcim (Costa Rica) S.A. Costa Rica San José San José CRC 107,217 CRINC00A0010 

Holcim (Ecuador) S.A. Ecuador Guayaquil Quito, Guayaquil USD 881 ECP516721068 

Middle East & Africa Holcim (Liban) S.A.L. Lebanon Beirut Beirut USD 1,368 LB0000012833 

Lafarge Africa Plc.1 Nigeria Lagos Lagos NGN 1,126,740 NGWAPCO00002

1  As of 31 December  2024, entity under divestment process. The transaction is subject to customary and regulatory approvals.

2.5 Non-controlling interests
Holcim has no individually material non-controlling interests.
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3. Segment reporting
3.1 Accounting principles
Segment reporting is aligned with the internal management structure, reflecting the way Holcim’s chief operating 
decision maker (i.e., the Group Chief Executive Officer) is regularly reviewing the operating results. The four regional 
segments of North America, Latin America, Europe and Asia, Middle East & Africa include only the cement, aggregates 
and ready-mix concrete products. The separate segment of Solutions & Products is reported globally. 

The five segments are as follows:

North America

Latin America

Europe

Asia, Middle East & Africa

Solutions & Products

Each of the above operating segments derives its revenues largely from the sales of the following four product lines:

Cement, which comprises clinker, cement and other cementitious materials (CEM)

Aggregates (AGG)

Ready-mix concrete (RMX)

Solutions & Products, which comprises precast, concrete products, asphalts, mortars, roofing systems, insulation systems, tile adhesives, 
facade solution and contracting and services (S&P)

Trading activities are classified largely as “Cement” to better reflect the nature of the operations to which it relates.

Group financing (including financing costs and financing income) and income taxes are managed on a Group basis and 
are not allocated to any operating segment. Segment revenues and segment results include transfers between 
segments. Those transfers are eliminated on consolidation.
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3.2 Operating segments
Information by operating segment
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North America Latin America

2024 2023 2024 2023

Statement of income (Million CHF)

Net sales to external customers  6,360  6,711  2,882  2,861 

Net sales to other segments  153  139  18  25 

Total net sales  6,513  6,849  2,901  2,887 

Recurring EBITDA after leases  2,132  1,981  1,184  1,109 

Recurring EBITDA after leases margin in %  32.7  28.9  40.8  38.4 

Recurring EBIT  1,624  1,483  1,044  985 

Recurring EBIT margin in %  24.9  21.7  36.0  34.1 

Operating profit (loss)  1,603  1,449  1,041  980 

Operating profit (loss) margin in %  24.6  21.2  35.9  33.9 

Reconciliation of measures of profit and loss to the consolidated statement of income

Recurring EBITDA after leases  2,132  1,981  1,184  1,109 

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment, intangible and other 
long-term assets  (508)  (498)  (140)  (124) 

Recurring EBIT  1,624  1,483  1,044  985 

Impairment of operating assets  (2)  (12)  (1) 0

Restructuring, litigation and other non-recurring costs  (19)  (22)  (2)  (5) 

Operating profit (loss)  1,603  1,449  1,041  980 

Profit on disposals and other non-operating income

Loss on disposals and other non-operating expenses

Share of profit of associates

Financial income

Financial expenses

Net income before taxes

Statement of financial position (Million CHF)

Investments in associates and joint ventures  51  51  3  3 

Property, plant and equipment  6,506  6,165  1,912  1,573 

Goodwill  4,391  4,197  1,187  1,005 

Intangible assets  194  191  43  21 

Reconciliation of measures of Statement of financial position (Million CHF)

Unallocated assets

Total assets

Personnel (unaudited)

Number of personnel (FTE)  9,781  10,090  8,927  8,322 

1 The Russia business was divested in February 2024 and has been excluded from the key performance indicators since 1 March 2022 (see Note 2.3).
2 The results of Duro-Last are reported in the segment Solutions & Products (see Note 2.3).
3 Including trading activities not allocated by operating segment.
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Europe1 Asia, Middle East & Africa Solutions & Products2 Corporate/ Eliminations3 Total Group

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

 7,198  7,284  3,612  3,982  5,915  5,608  439  562  26,407  27,009 

 303  333  231  264  25  23  (730)  (784)     

 7,501  7,617  3,843  4,246  5,939  5,632  (291)  (223)  26,407  27,009 

 1,808  1,673  1,096  1,135  965  858  (508)  (377)  6,677  6,378 

 24.1  22.0  28.5  26.7  16.2  15.2  25.3  23.6 

 1,335  1,202  878  898  707  614  (539)  (422)  5,049  4,760 

 17.8  15.8  22.8  21.2  11.9  10.9  19.1  17.6 

 1,122  1,163  829  841  675  583  (629)  (440)  4,642  4,577 

 15.0  15.3  21.6  19.8  11.4  10.4  17.6  16.9 

 1,808  1,673  1,096  1,135  965  858  (508)  (377)  6,677  6,378 

 (473)  (470)  (218)  (236)  (258)  (244)  (31)  (45)  (1,628)  (1,618) 

 1,335  1,202  878  898  707  614  (539)  (422)  5,049  4,760 

 (161)  (34)  (39)  (59) 0  (1) 0 7  (202)  (99) 

 (52)  (5)  (10)  2  (32)  (30)  (90)  (25)  (205)  (84) 

 1,122  1,163  829  841  675  583  (629)  (440)  4,642  4,577 

 50  156 

 (169)  (97) 

 24  36 

 156  198 

 (681)  (697) 

 4,022  4,174 

 225  223  3,051  2,908          3,331  3,184 

 6,943  6,576  3,218  3,602  1,697  1,383  31  42  20,307  19,341 

 3,978  3,643  965  995  4,050  3,729  23  21  14,594  13,589 

 343  211  91  119  1,516  1,400  192  185  2,380  2,127 

 13,674  14,444 

 54,285  52,686 

 18,045  17,522  10,529  12,447  14,919  13,660  1,464  1,407  63,665  63,448 



Information by product line
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1 Cement, clinker and other cementitious materials.
2 Precast, concrete products, asphalts, mortars, roofing systems, insulation systems, tile adhesives, facade solution and contracting and services. 
 The results of Duro-Last are reported in the product line Solutions & Products (for more information, see Note 2.3).
3 Excluding trading activities.
4 The Russia business was divested in February 2024 and has been excluded from the key performance indicators since 1 March 2022 (see Note 2.3).
5 Recurring EBIT includes corporate costs and trading.
6 CapEx consists of the purchase and disposal of property, plant and equipment. 

Cement1 Aggregates

Million CHF 2024 2023 2024 2023

Statement of income

Net sales to external customers  11,665  12,159  3,278  3,310 

Net sales to other segments  1,494  1,599  1,058  1,092 

Total net sales  13,159  13,758  4,335  4,402 

– of which North America  3,775  3,885  1,726  1,752 

– of which Latin America  2,417  2,385  47  45 

– of which Europe4  4,360  4,373  1,957  1,953 

– of which Asia, Middle East & Africa  2,443  2,880  607  653 

– of which Corporate/Eliminations  164  235     

Recurring EBITDA after leases  4,453  4,283  955  930 

Recurring EBITDA after leases margin in %  33.8  31.1  22.0  21.1 

Recurring EBIT5  3,474  3,301  665  644 

Recurring EBIT margin in %  26.4  24.0  15.3  14.6 

CapEx6  1,129  941  182  258 

Personnel (unaudited)

Number of personnel (FTE)  26,502  26,830  9,451  9,705 
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Ready-mix concrete Solutions & Products2 Corporate/Eliminations3 Total Group

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

 5,550  5,932  5,915  5,608      26,407  27,009 

 51  47  25  23  (2,627)  (2,761)     

 5,601  5,979  5,939  5,632  (2,627)  (2,761)  26,407  27,009 

 1,721  1,976  3,795  3,636  (865)  (905)  10,152  10,345 

 674  712  263  205  (250)  (261)  3,150  3,086 

 2,158  2,312  1,719  1,595  (1,190)  (1,246)  9,002  8,986 

 1,049  979  229  253  (282)  (278)  4,046  4,486 

     (66)  (58)  (41)  (72)  57  105 

 348  343  919  823      6,677  6,378 

 6.2  5.7  15.5  14.6  25.3  23.6 

 251  241  659  574      5,049  4,760 

 4.5  4.0  11.1  10.2  19.1  17.6 

 45  71  124  133  (3)  5  1,477  1,408 

 11,879  12,361  15,478  14,204  355  348  63,665  63,448 



3.3 Information by country

Net sales
to external customers

Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

Million CHF 2024 2023 2024 2023

U.S.1  7,726  7,912  6,705  6,102 

Canada  2,506  2,591  2,133  2,169 

France  1,984  2,197  2,028  2,087 

Mexico  1,744  1,803  657  685 

UK  1,723  1,811  1,452  1,213 

Australia  1,228  1,264  820  855 

Switzerland1  888  852  1,003  871 

Germany  789  825  715  642 

Others1  7,818  7,753  7,172  6,843 

Total  26,407  27,009  22,687  21,468 

1  Including trading activities.

Net sales to external customers are based on the location of assets (origin of sales), with the exception of the trading 
activities (see Note 3.2). There is no single external customer where net sales amount to 10% or more of the Group’s net 
sales.
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4. Operating profit
4.1 Accounting principles
Operating profit excludes items that are not directly related to the Group’s operating activities. These primarily relate to 
gains or losses on the disposals of Group companies, associates and joint ventures, revaluation gains or losses on 
previously held equity interests, indemnification provisions, disputes with minority shareholders, share of profit (loss) of 
associates and financial income and expenses.

4.2 Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of the Group’s core products is recognized when delivery has taken place and control of the 
goods has been transferred to the customer. The customer obtains control of the goods when the significant risks and 
rewards of products sold are transferred according to the specific delivery terms that have been formally agreed with 
the customer, generally upon delivery when the bill of lading is signed by the customer as evidence that they have 
obtained physical possession and accepted the products delivered to them.

The core products are often sold with volume discounts. Revenue from these sales is recognized based on the price 
specified on the invoice, net of estimated discounts. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the 
discounts, using the most likely amount. A liability is recognized for expected volume discounts in relation to sales 
made until the end of the reporting period. No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with 
credit terms largely ranging between 30 days and 60 days depending on the specific terms agreed to with the Group 
company concerned, which is consistent with market practice. Generally, cement, aggregates and ready-mix concrete 
are not returned as a customer will only accept these products once they have passed a stringent quality check at the 
delivery point.

The Group offers separately priced extended warranties covering roofing systems, generally ranging from five to 30 
years. Revenues from such activities are deferred and recognized in income over the life of the warranty on a straight-
line basis.

Contract liabilities, reflecting a Group company’s obligation to transfer to a customer goods or services for which the 
company has already received consideration, relate mainly to advance payments from customers, which are disclosed 
in Note 10.5, and to volume incentive programs and warranty programs. As of 31 December 2024, contract liabilities 
amounted to CHF 496 million (2023: CHF 412 million).

A trade receivable is recognized when the products are delivered to a customer, as this is the point in time when the 
consideration becomes unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Contract assets, which is a Group company’s right to consideration that is conditional on something other than the 
passage of time, relate mainly to construction and paving activities and are immaterial on a Group level.

The Group is also involved in providing services in conjunction with the sale of its core products and is developing retail 
activities in certain markets. However, both of these activities remain immaterial on Group level at this stage.

4.3 Production cost of goods sold
Million CHF 2024 2023

Material expenses  (6,193)  (6,599) 

Fuel expenses  (762)  (982) 

Electricity expenses  (1,080)  (1,270) 

Personnel expenses  (2,309)  (2,111) 

Maintenance expenses  (1,449)  (1,484) 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment  (1,753)  (1,648) 

Other production expenses  (1,209)  (1,352) 

Changes in inventory  23  (65) 

Total  (14,731)  (15,511) 
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4.4 Research and development
Innovation through research and development projects plays a key part in the Group’s activities. Holcim’s innovation 
centers in Switzerland and in France, with more than 300 researchers and a worldwide network of laboratories, are 
delivering breakthrough innovations to build the sustainable future of Holcim. The Holcim Innovation Hub, opened in 
September 2023, showcases Holcim’s sustainable building solutions and contributes to co-create accelerated low-
carbon, circular and energy-efficient building worldwide.

Research and development projects are carried out with a view to generating added value for customers through end 
user-oriented products and services, with a focus on:

• Disruptive solutions to decarbonize building.

• Breakthrough technologies aiming at production system improvements.

• Development of low-carbon products and solutions to protect the environment and lower the Group’s environmental 
footprint.

• Innovation in digital technology across Holcim’s business, fundamentally changing how the Group operates and 
delivers value to customers.

• Enabling sustainable construction and making sustainable building accessible for all, through houses of tomorrow 
projects.

• Partnering with startups to expand the number of environmental product declarations and gain access to innovative 
solutions.

The Group’s operating profit includes research and development costs of CHF 225 million (2023: CHF 224 million). 

4.5 Summary of depreciation, amortization and impairment
Million CHF 2024 2023

Production facilities  (1,753)  (1,648) 

Distribution and sales facilities  (365)  (340) 

Administration facilities  (101)  (88) 

Total depreciation, amortization and impairment of operating assets (a)  (2,219)  (2,076) 

Of which net impairment charge relating to property, plant and equipment (note 11.2)  (184)  (103) 

Of which net impairment charge relating to intangible assets (note 11.3)  (18)  (2) 

Of which net impairment reversal relating to investments in joint ventures (note 6.4)  0  6 

Total depreciation, amortization and impairment of non-operating assets (b)  0  0 

Total depreciation, amortization and impairment (a + b)  (2,219)  (2,076) 

Of which depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 11.2)  (1,450)  (1,424) 

Of which depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 11.2)  (389)  (359) 

Of which amortization of intangible assets and other long-term assets  (177)  (194) 

Of which total net impairment charge  (202)  (99) 
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5. Profit and loss on disposals and other non-operating items
5.1 Accounting principles
Profit and loss on disposals and other non-operating items comprise gains or losses on the disposals of Group 
companies, associates and joint ventures, other non-operating items that are not directly related to the Group’s 
operating activities such as revaluation gains or losses on previously held equity interests, indemnification provisions 
and disputes with minority shareholders.

5.2 Profit on disposals and other non-operating income
Million CHF 2024 2023

Gain on disposals before taxes  29  48 

Dividends earned  4  4 

Other  16  105 

Total  50  156 

“Gain on disposals before taxes” mainly includes current and deferred gain on disposals of Group companies (see Note 
2.3).

In 2023, “Other” mainly included non-operating items such as the operating profit generated by the Russian operations 
since 1 March 2022.

5.3 Loss on disposals and other non-operating expenses
Million CHF 2024 2023

Loss on disposals before taxes  (104)  (8) 

Other  (65)  (88) 

Total  (169)  (97) 

“Loss on disposals before taxes” mainly includes current and deferred losses on disposals of Group companies 
(see Note 2.3).

“Other” notably included the expenses relating to the Group’s activities that are not part of its operating cycle.
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6. Investments in associates and joint ventures
6.1 Accounting principles
The Group, in the course of its business, may enter into arrangements where it will exercise joint control over entities, 
resulting in classifying these operations as joint ventures or joint operations depending on the rights and obligations 
arising from the contractual arrangement. Alternatively, the Group may hold between 20% and 50% of the voting rights 
and exercise significant influence, resulting in these companies being classified as associates.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

The Group’s share of profit of joint ventures is classified within operating profit, as these operations form an integral 
part of the Group’s financial performance, reflecting its core business activities. The Group’s share of profit of 
associates is classified below operating profit.

Goodwill arising from an acquisition is included in the carrying amount of the investments in associates and joint 
ventures.

Equity accounting is discontinued when the carrying amount of the investment together with any long-term interest in 
a joint venture or in an associate reaches zero, unless the Group has either incurred or guaranteed additional 
obligations in respect of the joint venture or associate. 

The Group tests joint ventures or associates for impairment only when there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the net investment. Objective evidence of 
impairment includes events such as significant financial difficulties of the associate or joint venture, or information 
about significant changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the economic environment in which the joint 
venture or associate operates, and indicates that the carrying amount of the joint venture or associate may not be 
recovered.

An impairment loss is only recognized when the carrying amount of the joint venture or associate exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

The recoverable amount of an investment in a joint venture or associate is assessed for each joint venture or associate, 
unless the joint venture or associate does not generate cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent 
of those from other assets.

6.2 Main changes during the current reporting period
Significant pending transaction
In December 2024, Cement Australia signed an agreement to acquire a division of the Buckeridge Group of Companies 
(BGC), strengthening its footprint in Western Australia. The division of BGC to be acquired includes cement, concrete, 
quarry and asphalt, as well as its Materials Technology Centre. The transaction is subject to regulatory approvals. 

6.3 Main changes during the comparative period
In 2023, Huaxin Cement in China repurchased and canceled shares as a consequence of which Holcim’s ownership rate 
increased from 41.46% to 41.81%.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
Million CHF 2024 2023

Investments in associates  250  237 

Investments in joint ventures  3,080  2,947 

Total  3,331  3,184 
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6.4 Movements in investments in joint ventures
Million CHF 2024 2023

1 January  2,947  3,107 

Share of profit of joint ventures  264  304 

Dividends earned  (243)  (204) 

Net acquisitions (disposals)  (7)  15 

Reclassifications  1 0

Net Impairment reversal 0 6

Currency translation effects  115  (271) 

Others  4  (9) 

31 December  3,080  2,947 

In 2023, “Net acquisitions (disposals)” mainly relates to the increase of 0.35% in Huaxin Cement in China.

6.5 List of principal joint ventures

Principal joint ventures

Region Company
Country of incorporation
or residence

Effective participation 
(percent of interest)

Asia, Middle East & Africa Cement Australia Holdings Pty Ltd Australia  50.0 %

Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd China  41.8 %

Lafarge Maroc S.A.S. Morocco  50.0 %

Readymix Qatar L.L.C Qatar  49.0 %

Listed joint ventures

Region Company Country Municipality Place of listing

Market capitalization as of 31 
December 2024 in million local 
currency

Security
code number

Asia, Middle East & 
Africa

Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. – 
cement A shares China Wuhan Shanghai CNY 16,266 CNE000000DC6

Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. – 
cement H shares China Wuhan Hong Kong HKD 5,753 CNE1000057N3

LafargeHolcim Maroc S.A. Morocco Casablanca Casablanca MAD 45,339 MA0000012320
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6.6 Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. (China)
As of 31 December 2024, the Group holds 41.8% (2023: 41.8%) of the voting rights in the joint venture company Huaxin 
Cement Co. Ltd.

The fair value of the investment in Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. based on the quoted market price on 31 December 2024 
amounted to CHF 1,056 million (2023: CHF 968 million). 

Summarized financial information for the material joint venture company Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd., which is accounted 
for using the equity method, is presented below.

The carrying value of Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. in the Group’s 2024 financial statements is based on an estimated equity 
as of 31 December 2024. However, since Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. is a publicly listed company in China and has not yet 
published its financial statements for the year 2024, the disclosed amounts for the investment in the joint venture 
Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. are as of 30 September 2024.

The summarized financial information presented below shows the amounts included in the IFRS financial statements of 
Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. as of 30 September 2024 and as of 31 December 2023. As of 30 September 2024, dividends of 
CHF 57 million (31 December 2023: CHF 57 million) were received from Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd.

Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. – Statement of financial position
Million CHF  30.09.2024 31.12.2023

Cash and cash equivalents  662  692 

Other current assets  1,227  1,187 

Non-current assets  6,601  6,481 

Total assets  8,490  8,360 

Current financial liabilities  723  872 

Other current liabilities  1,304  1,369 

Long-term financial liabilities  1,820  1,649 

Other non-current liabilities  407  312 

Total liabilities  4,254  4,202 

Net assets  4,236  4,158 

Shareholders' equity (excluding non-controlling interests)  3,674  3,628 

Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. – Statement of comprehensive earnings
Million CHF Jan-Sep 2024 Jan-Dec 2023

Net sales  3,025  4,283 

Operating profit1  340  585 

Profit on disposals and other non-operating items  0  25 

Financial income  16  17 

Financial expenses  (85)  (106) 

Income taxes  (61)  (124) 

Net income  210  397 

Net income (excluding non-controlling interests)  157  324 

Other comprehensive earnings  (3)  (47) 

Total comprehensive earnings (excluding non-controlling interests)  154  277 

 1   Of which CHF 341 million (2023: CHF 485 million) relates to depreciation and amortization.

Impairment test of the investment in Huaxin
The fair value of the investment in Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd. based on a quoted market price was 39% (2023: 41%) lower 
than the value in Holcim Group's statement of financial position as of 31 December 2024.

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, an impairment test was carried out as of December 31, 2024. 
Management employed the value-in-use approach to determine the recoverable amount of Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd, 
using key assumptions including the projected Recurring EBITDA margin and discount rate. The test results did not 
lead to recognition of any impairment on the investment in Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd as of December 31, 2024. A 
sensitivity analysis was performed in which it was determined that a reasonably possible change in these key 
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the Huaxin Cement Co. Ltd investment to materially exceed its 
recoverable amount.
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6.7 Lafarge Maroc S.A.S. (Morocco)
As of 31 December 2024, the Group holds 50% (2023: 50%) of the voting rights in the joint venture company Lafarge 
Maroc S.A.S.. 

Summarized financial information for the material joint venture Lafarge Maroc S.A.S., which is accounted for using the 
equity method, is presented below.

The carrying value of Lafarge Maroc S.A.S. in the Group’s 2024 financial statements is based on an estimated equity as 
of 31 December 2024. However, since Lafarge Maroc S.A.S. is the parent company of LafargeHolcim Maroc S.A, a 
publicly listed company in Morocco which has not yet published its financial statements for the year 2024, the 
disclosed amounts for the investment in the joint venture Lafarge Maroc S.A.S. are as of 30 June 2024.

The summarized financial information presented below shows the amounts included in the IFRS financial statements of 
Lafarge Maroc S.A.S. as of 30 June 2024 and as of 31 December 2023. As of 30 June 2024, dividends of CHF 45 million 
(31 December 2023: CHF 45 million) were received from Lafarge Maroc S.A.S.

Lafarge Maroc S.A.S. – Statement of financial position
Million CHF  30.06.2024 31.12.2023

Cash and cash equivalents  27  28 

Other current assets  317  292 

Non-current assets  2,074  1,979 

Total assets  2,417  2,299 

Current financial liabilities  217  118 

Other current liabilities  260  260 

Long-term financial liabilities  539  530 

Other non-current liabilities  228  214 

Total liabilities  1,243  1,122 

Net assets  1,174  1,177 

Shareholders' equity (excluding non-controlling interests)  771  773 

Lafarge Maroc S.A.S. – Statement of comprehensive earnings
Million CHF Jan-Jun 2024 Jan-Dec 2023

Net sales  492  1,079 

Operating profit1  145  271 

Loss on disposals and other non-operating items  (8)  (24) 

Financial expenses  (17)  (34) 

Income taxes  (55)  (91) 

Net income  64  122 

Net income (excluding non-controlling interests)  42  77 

Other comprehensive earnings  (3)  0 

Total comprehensive earnings (excluding non-controlling interests)  39  78 

 1  Of which CHF 45 million (2023: CHF 107 million) relates to depreciation and amortization.

6.8 Other joint ventures
In 2024 and 2023, there were no unrecognized shares of losses relating to other joint ventures.
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6.9 Movements in investments in associates
Million CHF 2024 2023

1 January  237  216 

Share of profit of associates  24  33 

Net impairment reversal 0  4 

Subtotal  24  36 

Dividends earned  (8)  (8) 

Net acquisitions (disposals)  (14)  1 

Currency translation effects 0  (12) 

Others  11  3 

31 December  250  237 

As of 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group has no interests in associates that are considered as 
individually material. 

There are no unrecognized shares of losses relating to the above associates.
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7. Financing items
7.1 Accounting principles
Financial income and expenses primarily relate to interest earned on cash and cash equivalents, interest expenses on 
borrowings, unwinding of discount on long-term provisions, net interest expenses on retirement benefit plans, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and interest expenses on lease liabilities.

7.2 Financial income
Million CHF 2024 2023

Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents  134  170 

Other financial income  22  28 

Total  156  198 

7.3 Financial expenses
Million CHF 2024 2023

Interest expenses  (463)  (490) 

Interest expenses on lease liabilities  (78)  (63) 

Fair value changes on financial instruments  2  2 

Unwinding of discount on long-term liabilities  (24)  (7) 

Net interest expenses on retirement benefit plans  (21)  (8) 

Impairment and write off of long-term financial assets  (6)  (6) 

Other financial expenses  (82)  (90) 

Foreign exchange loss, net  (8)  (35) 

Total  (681)  (697) 

Interest expenses relate primarily to financial liabilities measured at amortized cost. The decrease in 2024 was mainly 
driven by debt maturities (see Note 14.4).

Interest expenses include CHF 4 million (2023: CHF 4 million) of amortization of bonds and private placements, which 
were fair valued in previous years following a purchase price allocation exercise. At the end of December 2024, the 
remaining balance to amortize amounts to CHF 47 million (2023: CHF 48 million). 

Interest expenses on lease liabilities include interest expenses related to ongoing lease contracts (see Note 14.7).

The increase in unwinding of discount on long-term provisions is driven by discount rate changes.

Other financial expenses include costs for commitment fees on credit facilities, bank charges and accruals for interest 
related to ongoing legal and tax cases.

Foreign exchange losses are mainly due to unhedgeable receivables and payables denominated in currencies other 
than functional currencies.
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8. Income taxes
8.1 Accounting principles
Income taxes
Holcim's business operations are subject to numerous income taxes imposed by state and local governments. Taxes 
recognized in the Group Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the Group's best estimate of the outcome based on 
the facts known at the balance sheet date in each individual country, including changes in tax laws or revised 
interpretations of existing tax rules and regulations, or on-going tax audits.

Significant judgment is often required in determining the Group's annual tax charges and in evaluating the Group tax 
positions. Although the Group believes the tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits and any 
related disputes could be materially different from the Group’s historical tax provisions and accruals, even if the Group 
assesses the tax positions in line with local tax laws and international guidelines such as those issued by the 
Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD).

Deferred taxes
Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period are used to determine the deferred tax expense.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses can be utilized. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for 
taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint arrangements 
except where the Group is able to control the distribution of earnings from these respective entities and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of income, except when it relates to items credited or charged 
outside the statement of income, in which case the deferred tax is treated accordingly.

OECD Pillar 2
The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)/G20 Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion and 
Profit Shifting previously published the Pillar Two model rules implementing a global minimum tax of 15%. The Group 
has a presence in jurisdictions that have enacted Pillar Two model rules. This includes Switzerland which enacted the 
Ordinance for implementing the OECD/G20 Qualified Domestic Minimum Tax (QDMTT) from 1 January 2024 and the 
Income Inclusion Rule (IIR) from 1 January 2025. 

The impact in those jurisdictions where the transitional safe harbor relief does not apply and the Pillar Two effective tax 
rate is below 15% is not material in 2024 and does not affect the Group's effective tax rate. Holcim has applied the 
mandatory exception to recognizing and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from 
Pillar Two income taxes.
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8.2 Tax expenses
Million CHF 2024 2023

Current taxes  (905)  (1,121) 

Deferred taxes  (76)  122 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences, tax losses and credits  (78)  125 

Relating to changes in tax rates and legislation  2  (3) 

Total  (981)  (999) 

8.3 Reconciliation of tax rate
The expected tax charge is the result of applying the domestic statutory tax rates to net income (loss) before taxes. 
For the Group, the applicable tax rate varies from one year to the next, depending on the relative weight of net income 
(loss) of each individual entity in the Group’s profit as well as the changes in statutory tax rates.

Million CHF 2024 2023

Net income before taxes  4,022  4,174 

Impairment and net gain (loss) on disposals of Group companies  277  44 

Net income before impairment, divestments and taxes  4,299  4,218 

Group's expected tax charge / rate  (972)  23 %  (966)  23 %

Tax effects of:

 – Non-recoverable withholding taxes  (91)  (67) 

 – Incentives for investment and development  52  65 

 – Non-deductible items  (70)  (90) 

 – Income not subject to tax  52  59 

 – Uncertain tax positions  67  (194) 

 – Recognition / (derecognition) of deferred tax assets  (42)  185 

 – Changes in tax rates  2  (3) 

Tax effect of impairment and net gain on disposals of Group companies  21  14 

Group's effective tax charge / rate  (981)  24 %  (999)  24 %

The Group’s effective tax rate, excluding impairment and divestments, amounts to 23% (2023: 24%).

In 2024, total income taxes paid amounts to CHF 928 million (2023: CHF 702 million).

8.4 Deferred taxes
Deferred tax in the consolidated statement of financial position:
Million CHF 2024 2023

Deferred tax assets  (565)  (674) 

Deferred tax liabilities 1,994  1,868 

Deferred tax liabilities, net  1,429  1,194 

The Group’s recognition of deferred tax assets amounting to CHF 565 million (2023: CHF 674 million) reflects the 
Group’s belief that sufficient taxable income will be generated to recover these assets in future periods. However, 
uncertainties regarding the future realization of recorded tax benefits on temporary differences and tax loss 
carryforwards from operations in various jurisdictions could result in material adjustments to the deferred tax assets 
recognized in future periods.
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Change in deferred tax assets and liabilities

Million CHF
Property, plant 
and equipment

Intangible and 
other long-
term assets

Provisions and 
defined benefit 

obligations Other
Tax losses 

carryforward Total

2024

Deferred tax liabilities net as of 1 January 2024  2,064  48  (226)  (249)  (443)  1,194 

Charged (credited)

     – to the statement of income  (20)  146  52  (88)  (14)  76 

     – to other comprehensive income1  0  0  4  (1)  0  3 

Change in scope  31  6 0  28  11  76 

Hyperinflation  34  0 0  6  0  40 

Currency translation effects  184  16  (65)  (94)  (1)  40 

Deferred tax liabilities net as of 31 December 2024  2,293  216  (235)  (398)  (447)  1,429 

2023

Deferred tax liabilities net as of 1 January 2023 2,221 98 (149) (143) (450) 1,577

Charged (credited)

     – to the statement of income  13  (36)  (6)  (77)  (16)  (122) 

     – to other comprehensive income1  0  0  (89)  (41)  0  (130) 

Change in scope  (14)  27  1  10  (1)  23 

Hyperinflation  27  0  0  2  0  29 

Currency translation effects  (183)  (41)  17  0  24  (183) 

Deferred tax liabilities net as of 31 December 2023  2,064  48  (226)  (249)  (443)  1,194 

1  The tax effects upon other comprehensive earnings are included within the consolidated statement of comprehensive earnings on page 265.

8.5 Tax losses carryforward
 Tax losses carry-

forward Tax effect
Tax losses carry-

forward Tax effect

Million CHF 2024 2024 2023 2023

Total tax losses carryforward  6,004  1,368  6,475  1,458 

Of which reflected in deferred taxes  (2,279)  (447)  (2,354)  (443) 

Total tax losses carryforward not recognized  3,724  922  4,121  1,015 

Expiring as follows:

Within 1 year  106  21  16  3 

Between 2 and 5 years  159  35  205  43 

Thereafter  3,459  865  3,900  969 

In 2024, CHF 922 million (2023: CHF 1,015 million) of deferred tax assets on tax losses were not recognized, as the 
Group considers it will not generate sufficient taxable income within the carryforward period to realize these deferred 
tax benefits in all jurisdictions where the Group operates.

8.6 Long-term income tax liabilities
The Group continually monitors its global tax position. Whenever uncertainties arise, the Group assesses the potential 
consequences and either accrues the liability or discloses a contingent liability in its financial statements, depending 
on the strength of the Group’s position and the resulting risk of loss.

For the purpose of classifying an income tax liability as current or non-current, the Group analyses whether or not the 
extinguishment of such liability may occur within 12 months from the end of the reporting period and, in particular, 
whether or not the Group has the right to defer settlement beyond 12 months in each respective jurisdiction.

The long-term income tax liabilities of CHF 154 million (2023: CHF 170 million) no longer includes repatriation tax 
arising from the U.S. tax reform (2023: CHF 21 million).
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9. Earnings per share 
2024 2023

Basic earnings per share in CHF  5.24  5.37 

Adjusted net income attributable to shareholders of Holcim Ltd (Million CHF)  2,922  3,043 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding  557,623,740  567,168,970 

Diluted earnings per share  5.22  5.35 

Adjusted net income used to determine diluted earnings per share (Million CHF)  2,922  3,043 

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share  559,993,317  569,240,835 

Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares outstanding

Weighted average number of shares outstanding  557,623,740  567,168,970 

Adjustment for assumed exercise of share options and performance shares  2,369,576  2,071,865 

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share  559,993,317  569,240,835 

Reconciliation of net income attributable to shareholders of Holcim Ltd

Net income attributable to shareholders of Holcim Ltd – 
as per statement of income (Million CHF)  2,926  3,060 

Adjustment for net interest of subordinated fixed rate resettable notes (Million CHF)1  (4)  (17) 

Adjusted net income attributable to shareholders of Holcim Ltd (Million CHF)  2,922  3,043 

1  Holcim issued two subordinated perpetual notes: EUR 500 million at an initial fixed coupon of 3.0% in April 2019 and CHF 200 million at an initial fixed coupon of 3.5% in 
November 2018. On 7 December 2023, Holcim exercised the redemption option on the CHF 200 million subordinated perpetual note and on 28 May 2024, Holcim 
exercised the redemption option on the EUR 500 million subordinated perpetual note. (see note 17.1).

In conformity with the decision taken at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders on 8 May 2024, a dividend of 
CHF 2.80 per registered share for the financial year 2023 was paid out of the foreign capital reserves from tax capital 
contributions on 16 May 2024. This resulted in a total payment of CHF 1,570 million.
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10. Working capital
10.1 Accounting principles
Trade accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable are initially recognized at their invoiced amounts less any deductions such as trade 
discounts.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach with expected lifetime credit losses (ECL). Therefore, the Group does 
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a credit loss allowance based on a lifetime ECL at each reporting 
period.

The lifetime ECL calculation includes possible default events on the trade accounts receivable over the entire holding 
period of the receivable. 

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined by using the weighted average 
cost method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials and additives, direct labor, other 
direct costs and related production overheads. Cost of inventories includes transfers from equity of gains or losses on 
qualifying cash flow hedges relating to inventory purchases. 

10.2 Trade accounts receivable
Million CHF 2024 2023

Trade accounts receivable – associates and joint ventures  42  61 

Trade accounts receivable – third parties  2,571  2,663 

Net carrying amount  2,613  2,723 

Maturity of accounts receivable

2024 2023

Million CHF
Gross carrying 

amount

Lifetime 
expected credit 

loss allowance
Net carrying 

amount
Gross carrying 

amount

Lifetime 
expected credit 

loss allowance
Net carrying 

amount

Not overdue  2,081  (30)  2,051  2,007  (25)  1,981 

Overdue 1 to 89 days  501  (13)  488  661  (15)  646 

Overdue 90 to 180 days  58  (12)  47  57  (15)  43 

Overdue more than 180 days  196  (168)  28  205  (152)  53 

Total  2,837  (223)  2,613  2,929  (206)  2,723 

The allowance in the table above relates to accounts receivable for which a lifetime expected credit loss is recognized. 
See Note 14.6 for further details.

In some cases, trade accounts receivable are factored to third parties but the total amount is not considered material 
for the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

304  HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report



10.3 Inventories
Million CHF 2024 2023

Raw materials and additives  534  475 

Semi-finished and finished products  1,867  1,629 

Fuels  151  185 

Parts and supplies  565  519 

Total  3,117  2,807 

In 2024, the Group recognized inventory write-downs to net realizable value of CHF 6 million (2023: CHF 9 million) 
relating mainly to Parts and Supplies.

10.4 Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Million CHF 2024 2023

Prepaid expenses and accruals  253  210 

Other current assets  119  163 

Other receivables – associates and joint ventures  8  7 

Other receivables – third parties  457  469 

Total  837  849 

10.5 Trade accounts payable
Million CHF 2024 2023

Trade accounts payable – associates and joint ventures  141  116 

Trade accounts payable – third parties  4,236  3,949 

Advance payments from customers – third parties  368  271 

Total  4,745  4,336 

The Group has supplier finance arrangements in a limited number of countries under which its suppliers may elect for 
early payment from financial institutions by factoring their receivables from the Group. Suppliers availing of the 
supplier finance arrangements at their own discretion will bear the full cost of early settlement of their receivables. The 
Group’s obligation to settle with the supplier remains on original payment terms that are contractually independent of 
any arrangement between the supplier and a financial institution. The Group provides no security to the finance 
providers.

Trade payables – including those that are covered by supplier finance arrangements – are non-interest-bearing and are 
settled in line with the contractual terms originally agreed with the suppliers, consistent with local market practices. In 
the primary jurisdiction in which supplier finance arrangements are made available, the payment terms for all trade 
payables including the ones that are part of the arrangements generally average 90 days. 

Based on the above, all trade payables covered by supplier finance arrangements are included in trade and other 
payables in the consolidated statement of financial position and within trade payables in the table above.

Million CHF 20241

Carrying amount of trade payables that are part of a supplier finance arrangement2  321 

Of which suppliers have received payment  292 

1  Carrying amount of trade payables that are part of a supplier finance arrangement are at CHF 307 million in December 2023. 
2  Non cash changes from business combinations or foreign exchange differences are immaterial at Group level. 

For explanations on the Group’s liquidity risk management processes, refer to Note 14.6.
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11. Property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets
11.1 Accounting principles
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is valued at acquisition or construction cost less depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges. The cost of property, plant 
and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Land and mineral reserves No depreciation except on land with raw material reserves (unit-of-production method)

Buildings and installations 20 to 40 years

Machinery and equipment 3 to 30 years

Useful lives of assets may be affected by climate-related matters due to transitional risks, such as obsolescence and 
legal restrictions, or physical risks, as there is the potential for operations to be adversely impacted by extreme 
variability in weather patterns. The change in useful lives directly impacts the amount of depreciation or amortization 
recognized each year. Management’s review of useful lives has taken into consideration the impact of the Group’s 2030 
targets. For the calculation of useful lives, the various input factors and the residual values are reviewed annually.

Costs are only included in the asset’s carrying amount when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group in future periods and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Costs include the 
initial estimate of the costs for dismantling and removing the item and for restoring the site on which it is located. All 
other repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to the statement of income during the period in which they are 
incurred.

Mineral reserves are measured at cost and are depreciated based on the unit-of-production method over their 
estimated commercial lives.

Costs incurred to gain access to mineral reserves (typically stripping costs) are capitalized and depreciated over the life 
of the quarry, which is based on the estimated tons of raw material to be extracted from the reserves.

Interest costs on borrowings to finance construction projects, which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use, are capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the 
asset for its intended use. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants received are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
relevant conditions and the grant will be received. Government grants are deducted from property, plant and 
equipment and reduce the depreciation charge accordingly.

Goodwill and impairment testing
Goodwill arises in a business combination and is the excess of the consideration transferred to acquire a business over 
the underlying fair value of the net identified assets acquired. Such goodwill is tested annually for impairment or 
whenever there are impairment indicators, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Following a business combination, goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating unit or to a group of cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit, among others, from the synergies of the business combination. The Group’s cash-
generating units (CGUs) are defined on the basis of the relevant market, which is normally country- or product-related. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group’s cash-generating units are aggregated into an operating segment, 
which is the level reviewed by the Group Chief Executive Officer (i.e. the chief operating decision maker). The discount 
rate is determined on a country level and is hence disclosed as a range on operating segment level. The aggregated 
carrying amount of goodwill that is monitored on operating segment level is detailed in Note 11.3.

For the goodwill impairment test, the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined at the higher of its 
value-in-use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Management used the value-in-use approach to calculate the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The aggregated recoverable amount of the operating segment is then 
compared to its aggregated carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognized if the aggregated carrying amount of 
the operating segment exceeds its aggregated recoverable amount. The value-in-use is determined based on future 
discounted cash flows using the weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The discount rate reflects the current 
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU (essentially country risk).

The WACC used for the impairment test is a post-tax discount rate and is applied to post-tax cash flows. There is no 
material difference in the outcome of the impairment test using the discount rate applied when compared with using a 
pre-tax discount rate for pre-tax cash flows.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

306  HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report



Cash flow projections are generally based on a four-year financial planning period using business plans approved by 
management. Cash flows beyond the planning period are extrapolated based on increasing sustainable cash flows. 
Business plans include, among others, the management’s current view on market growth, pricing and costs. In any 
event, the growth rate used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond the planning period does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the relevant market for the products and country in which the cash-generating unit 
operates. The long-term average growth rate is based on the long-term inflation rate and gross domestic product for 
the relevant market, as published by the International Monetary Fund (IMF).

On disposal of a subsidiary or joint operation, the portion of the goodwill from the related operating segment is 
allocated to the subsidiary or joint operation disposed of and is included in the determination of profit or loss on 
disposal.

Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Goodwill arising from an acquisition of a joint venture or associated company is included in the carrying amount of the 
net investment in an associate or a joint venture and is not separately recognized. Refer to Note 6 for further details.

Sustainability and goodwill impairment testing
Sustainability is a key factor considered by the Group in any investment decision. To reach its 2030 targets, the Group 
continues to invest in process decarbonization, carbon-efficient construction, circular economy, clean energy, 
biodiversity, air and water. 

Accelerating its net zero ambition, Holcim announced in 2023 its ambition to reach 420 kilograms of CO₂ per ton of 
cementitious materials by 2030 and to invest CHF 2 billion in carbon capture, utilization and storage projects by 2030 to 
capture five million tons of CO₂ per year. In line with the financial reporting requirements, the business plans include 
the future investment projects which had been approved as of 31 December 2024.

Carbon pricing is applicable in several markets where the Group operates, notably in Europe. It is reflected in the 
production cost assumptions in the business plans. 

The Group continues to monitor the emergence of new CO₂ regulatory pronouncements, which are factored into the 
business plans once enacted. Accordingly, the reform of the European Union Emissions Trading Scheme (EU ETS), 
adopted by the European Council and Parliament in 2023, according to which free CO₂ emissions allowances granted 
to industry under EU ETS will be gradually phased out between 2026 and 2034 and similarly the newly introduced 
Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM) starting from 2026 are considered in the business plans.

Holcim has already anticipated the developments of the existing and future European regulatory framework and a 
specific European roadmap has been developed and aligned with our Strategy 2025 and 2030 decarbonization target.

Sensitivity analysis and goodwill impairment testing (see Note 11.3) 
Discount rates
A sensitivity analysis was performed on the discount rates at cash-generating unit level which, accordingly, is at the 
relevant market level – normally country- or product-related – and then aggregated into an operating segment for 
goodwill impairment purposes.

Recurring EBITDA margin
Price and costs are also considered as key assumptions impacting the Recurring EBITDA margin. Therefore, the 
sensitivity on those key assumptions is tested through the long-term Recurring EBITDA margin variability.

Long-term growth rate
No sensitivity analysis is run on the long-term growth rate, as it is offset by the inflation rates included in the discount 
rates.

Intangible assets
Expenditure on acquired customer relationships, trademarks, mining rights, software, patented and unpatented 
technology and other intangible assets are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over their 
estimated useful lives, but not exceeding 25 years, except for mining rights which are depleted on a volume basis. 
Customer lists were primarily acquired as part of the acquisition of Elevate in 2021, Malarkey in 2022 and Duro-Last in 
2023.
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Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the non-financial asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual non-
financial asset, the Group calculates the recoverable amount of the smallest cash generating unit to which the non-
financial asset belongs. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash generating unit’s fair value less costs 
of disposal and its value-in-use. If the calculated recoverable amount of a non-financial asset or cash generating unit is 
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the non-financial asset or cash generating unit is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized immediately in the statement of income.

The Group assesses whether there is an indication that an impairment loss recognized in prior periods for an asset or 
cash generating unit other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. Where an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the non-financial asset or cash generating unit is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount. However, this increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognized for that non-financial asset or cash-generating 
unit in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in the statement of income.

11.2 Property, plant and equipment

Million CHF
Land and

mineral reserves
Buildings and 

installations
Machinery and 

equipment
Construction 

in progress Total

2024

At cost of acquisition  7,025  8,608  23,453  1,405  40,491 

Accumulated depreciation/impairment  (2,384)  (4,746)  (13,976)  (42)  (21,149) 

Net book value as of 1 January  4,641  3,861  9,477  1,363  19,341 

Acquisitions1  134  107  182  27  450 

Divestments1  (41)  (24)  (225)  (21)  (310) 

Additions  35  6  11  1,576  1,629 

Lease additions  86  130  385 1  602 

Disposals  (25)  (3)  (25)  (2)  (54) 

Modifications and reassessments of leases  6  3  (6) 0  3 

Reclassifications  68  333  1,167  (1,569)  (2) 

Depreciation  (170)  (362)  (1,308)  0  (1,840) 

Hyperinflation2  59  50  133  9  251 

Impairment charge  (3)  (71)  (113) 0  (187) 

Reversal of impairment 0 0 0  3  3 

Currency translation effects  117  97  184  24  422 

Net book value as of 31 December  4,907  4,126  9,863  1,411  20,307 

At cost of acquisition  7,450  9,421  25,018  1,443  43,333 

Accumulated depreciation/impairment  (2,543)  (5,295)  (15,155)  (33)  (23,026) 

Net book value as of 31 December  4,907  4,126  9,863  1,411  20,307 

2023

At cost of acquisition  7,291  8,826  24,447  1,134  41,698 

Accumulated depreciation/impairment  (2,346)  (4,724)  (14,224)  (48)  (21,342) 

Net book value as of 1 January  4,945  4,103  10,223  1,086  20,356 

Acquisitions1  160  118  208  6  492 

Divestments1  (1)  (1)  (2) 0  (3) 

Additions  9  7  20  1,492  1,529 

Lease additions  42  94  328 0  464 

Disposals  (25)  (7)  (24)  6  (51) 

Modifications and reassessments of leases  2  (2)  (11) 0  (11) 

Reclassifications  36  219  829  (1,124)  (39) 

Depreciation  (172)  (336)  (1,276) 0  (1,784) 

Hyperinflation2  39  34  92  8  174 

Impairment charge  (40)  (31)  (26)  (5)  (103) 

Currency translation effects  (356)  (338)  (884)  (106)  (1,684) 

Net book value as of 31 December  4,641  3,861  9,477  1,363  19,341 

At cost of acquisition  7,025  8,608  23,453  1,405  40,491 

Accumulated depreciation/impairment  (2,384)  (4,746)  (13,976)  (42)  (21,149) 

Net book value as of 31 December  4,641  3,861  9,477  1,363  19,341 

1  See more information in Note 2.3.
2  See more information in Note 2.2.
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As of 31 December 2024 and 2023, there is no pledged carrying amount in property, plant and equipment.

“Property, plant and equipment” includes owned property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets for lease 
contracts, as described below:

• Land: Land is leased for production sites and distribution facilities;

• Buildings and installations: Buildings and installations include buildings and installations for production purposes 
as well as office rent;

• Machinery, equipment and vehicles: Machinery and equipment are used in the manufacturing and distribution 
processes. Heavy mobile equipment, trucks and vehicles are leased for production and transportation purposes.

Right-of-use assets

Million CHF Land
Buildings and 

installations

Machinery, 
equipment and 

vehicles
Total right-of-use 

assets

2024

Net book value as of 1 January  385  302  672  1,359 

Acquisitions  1  9  3  12 

Divestments  (3)  (1)  (6)  (9) 

Lease additions  86  130  386  602 

Depreciation  (62)  (66)  (261)  (389) 

Modifications and reassessments of leases  6  3  (6)  3 

Others 0 0  5  5 

Currency translation effects  10  12  19  40 

Net book value as of 31 December  424  388  811  1,623 

2023

Net book value as of 1 January 400  274  618  1,293 

Acquisitions 20  19  22  61 

Lease additions  43  94  327  464 

Depreciation  (57)  (64)  (238)  (359) 

Modifications and reassessments of leases and others  2  (2)  (11)  (11) 

Currency translation effects  (23)  (19)  (47)  (89) 

Net book value as of 31 December  385  302  672  1,359 
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11.3 Goodwill and intangible assets
Million CHF Goodwill Intangible assets

2024

At cost of acquisition  14,992  3,577 

Accumulated amortization/impairment  (1,403)  (1,451) 

Net book value as of 1 January  13,589  2,127 

Acquisitions1  561  293 

Divestments1  (99)  (1) 

Reclassification  0 1

Additions 0  50 

Disposals 0  (1) 

Amortization 0  (175) 

Impairment charge 0  (18) 

Hyperinflation2  34 1

Currency translation effects  510  104 

Net book value as of 31 December  14,594  2,380 

At cost of acquisition  15,913  4,026 

Accumulated amortization/impairment  (1,318)  (1,646) 

Net book value as of 31 December  14,594  2,380 

2023

At cost of acquisition  15,289  3,154 

Accumulated amortization/impairment  (1,615)  (1,385) 

Net book value as of 1 January  13,675  1,769 

Acquisitions1  845  662 

Reclassification  0  11 

Additions 0  42 

Amortization 0  (191) 

Impairment charge 0  (2) 

Hyperinflation2  21 0

Currency translation effects  (951)  (165) 

Net book value as of 31 December  13,589  2,127 

At cost of acquisition  14,992  3,577 

Accumulated amortization/impairment  (1,403)  (1,451) 

Net book value as of 31 December  13,589  2,127 

1  See more information in Note 2.3.
2  See more information in Note 2.2.
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Impairment testing of goodwill
Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in respect of goodwill 2024

Operating segments
(Million CHF)

Carrying amount
of goodwill Currency

Post-tax
discount rates1

Long-term
growth rates1

Rec. EBITDA 
margins Terminal 

value

North America  4,391 USD/CAD  6.8 %  2.1 %  35.4 %

Latin America  1,187 Various 8.5%-32.4% 1.5%-26.3%  38.8 %

Europe  3,978 Various 5.9%-14.0% 1.0%-5.0%  24.7 %

Asia, Middle East & Africa2  965 Various 6.7%-26.8% 1.0%-14.4%  25.1 %

Solutions & Products  4,050 Various 6.5%-6.9% 1.8%-2.1%  27.5 %

Others  23 USD  5.9 %  1.0 % n.a

Total  14,594 

1  The discount rates, long-term growth rates and Recurring EBITDA margin are determined on the relevant market level normally country- or product-
related, and thus disclosed as a range at the operating segment level.

2  Including a post-tax discount rate of 9.7% for China..

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in respect of goodwill 2023

Operating segments
(Million CHF)1

Carrying amount
of goodwill Currency

Post-tax
discount rates2

Long-term
growth rates2

Rec. EBITDA 
margins Terminal 

value

North America  4,197 USD/CAD  6.7 %  2.1 %  32.6 %

Latin America  1,005 Various 8.2%-56.4% 1.5%-52.9%  36.2 %

Europe  3,643 Various 5.9%-13.9% 1.0%-5.0%  22.6 %

Asia, Middle East & Africa3  995 Various 6.6%-45.2% 1.5%-39.4%  30.0 %

Solutions & Products4  3,729 Various 6.2%-8.3% 1.6%-2.5%  23.1 %

Others  21 USD  5.9 %  1.0 % n.a

Total  13,589 

1  With the development and growth of the segment Solutions & Products, Holcim’s segment reporting was changed in 2023 and adapted to our 
“Strategy 2025 – Accelerating Green Growth”. The four regional operating segments of North America, Latin America, Europe and Asia, Middle East & 
Africa only include the products cement, aggregates and ready-mix concrete. The separate segment of Solutions & Products is reported globally. 

2  The discount rates, long-term growth rates and Recurring EBITDA margin are determined on the relevant market level normally country- or product-
related, and thus disclosed as a range at the operating segment level.

3  Including a post-tax discount rate of 9.5% for China.
4  Including goodwill of CHF 630 million resulting from the acquisition of Duro-Last in 2023.

In 2024 and in 2023, no goodwill impairment charge was recognized.

Sensitivity analysis
With regard to the assessment of value-in-use of the different operating segments, management concluded that a 
reasonably possible change in the post-tax discount rate or in the long-term Recurring EBITDA margin, would not cause 
their carrying amounts to exceed their recoverable amounts. 
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12. Financial investments and other financial assets
12.1 Accounting principles
Financial investments and other financial assets consist of:

a) “Financial investments – third parties” are strategic equity investments which are classified at fair value 
 through other comprehensive earnings.

b) “Long-term receivables – associates and joint ventures” are classified as receivables at amortized cost, 
 as the Group intends to hold the assets to maturity to collect contractual cash flows.

c) “Long-term receivables – third parties” are classified as receivables at amortized cost, as the Group intends 
 to hold the assets to maturity to collect contractual cash flows.

d) “Other long-term assets” are classified as receivables at amortized cost and notably comprise various 
 deposits in connection with ongoing legal and tax cases.

Financial assets at amortized cost are measured using the effective interest method.

All purchases and sales of long-term financial assets are recognized on trade date, which is the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. The purchase cost includes transaction costs, except for derivative instruments.

Strategic equity investments are investments where the Group generally owns less than 20% of the shares and where it 
does not exercise control, joint control or significant influence and which it intends to hold for long-term strategic 
purposes. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of strategic equity investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive earnings are included in other reserves until the asset is disposed of, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognized in other reserves is transferred to retained earnings.

Financial assets measurement
At initial recognition, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, the Group measures a 
financial asset at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial 
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the statement of 
income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows 
are solely payment of principal and interest.

a) Debt instruments
 Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
 the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement categories into which the Group classifies its 
 debt instruments:

 • Loans and receivables at amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those 
  cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. A gain or loss on a 
  debt investment that is subsequently measured at amortized cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is 
  recognized in the statement of income when the asset is derecognized or impaired. Interest income from these 
  financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method.

 • Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost and are 
  held for trading are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Gains and losses on debt investments that are 
  subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and are not part of a hedging relationship are 
  recognized in the statement of income and presented net in the statement of income in the period in which they 
  arise. Interest income from these financial assets is included in financial income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

b) Equity instruments at fair value
 The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected 
 to present fair value gains and losses on strategic equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
 earnings, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to the statement of income. Dividends 
 from such investments continue to be recognized in the statement of income when the Group’s right to receive 
 payments is established.
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12.2 Long-term financial investments and other long-term assets
Million CHF 2024 2023

Financial investments – third parties  152  155 

Financial investments – unconsolidated group companies  46 98

Long-term receivables – associates and joint ventures  25  78 

Long-term receivables – third parties  136  78 

Deferred charges  47  33 

Other long-term assets  131  101 

Total  538  542 

Long-term receivables and other long-term assets are primarily denominated in NGN, USD and EUR. The repayment 
dates vary between one and 26 years (2023: one and 26 years).

In 2024, “Financial investments – unconsolidated Group companies” related to the acquisition of Ghielmicementi SA in 
Switzerland, which is subject to the provisional purchase price allocation exercise to be completed in 2025 (see Note 
2.3).

In 2023, “Financial investments – unconsolidated Group companies” related to three subsidiaries in Europe (W.A.T.T. 
Recycling in Greece, majority stake in Artepref in Spain and Eco-Readymix in the UK) consolidated in the first quarter of 
2024 (see Note 2.3).

12.3 Current financial receivables
Million CHF 2024 2023

Marketable securities  5  5 

Current financial receivables – associates and joint ventures  13  13 

Current financial receivables – third parties  119  109 

Total  137  128 

Of which pledged/restricted  56  25 
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13. Assets and related liabilities classified as held for sale
13.1 Accounting principles
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale and stated at the lower of carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use.

13.2 Assets and related liabilities classified as held for sale
The assets and related liabilities classified as held for sale as of 31 December 2024 relate to a cement plant in China. 

Million CHF 2024 2023

Inventories 0  33 

Other current assets 0  87 

Property, plant and equipment 58  94 

Intangible assets  23  26 

Assets classified as held for sale  81  239 

Current liabilities 0  71 

Long-term liabilities 0  32 

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 0  104 

Net assets classified as held for sale  81  136 

The assets and related liabilities classified as held for sale as of 31 December 2023, included mainly assets and 
liabilities of Russia, which were disposed of in the first quarter 2024 (see Note 2.3).
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14. Net financial debt
14.1 Accounting principles
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are financial assets. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition and 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents is presented net of bank overdrafts.

Derivative instruments and hedging
The Group mainly uses derivative financial instruments to reduce its exposure to changes in interest rates, foreign 
currency exchange rates and commodity prices. The Group enters into foreign exchange contracts and interest rate 
swaps and options to hedge certain exposures relating to debt, into foreign exchange contracts to hedge firm 
commitments for the acquisition of certain property, plant and equipment, and into swaps and options to manage its 
exposure to commodity risks.

Derivatives are regarded as hedging instruments under hedge accounting relationships, unless they are not designated 
as hedges, in which case they will be classified as held for trading. Financial derivatives expected to be settled within 
twelve months after the end of the reporting period are classified as current liabilities or current assets. For cash flow 
hedges, gains and losses are recorded in the cash flow hedging reserve, a separate component of equity, and recycled 
to the statement of income or as a basis adjustment to inventory or property, plant and equipment as the hedged 
transaction occurs.

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss is dependent on the nature of the 
item being hedged. On the date a derivative contract is entered into, the Group designates certain derivatives as either 
(a) a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability (fair value hedge), or (b) a hedge of a particular risk 
associated with a recognized asset or liability, such as future interest payments on floating rate debt (cash flow hedge), 
or (c) a hedge of a foreign currency risk of a firm commitment or highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge), 
or (d) a hedge of a net investment in a foreign entity (accounted for similarly to a cash flow hedge).

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges and that are highly effective 
are recorded in the statement of income, along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is 
attributable to the hedged risk.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve within equity, limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged 
item on a present value basis from the inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognized immediately in the statement of income.

Where the firm commitment results in the recognition of an asset, for example, property, plant and equipment, or a 
liability, the gains or losses previously deferred in the cash flow hedging reserve are transferred from equity and 
included in the initial measurement of the non-financial asset or liability. Otherwise, amounts deferred in equity are 
transferred to the statement of income and classified as income or expense in the same periods during which the cash 
flows, such as hedged firm commitments or interest payments, affect the statement of income.

On inception of a hedge, the Group documents the economic relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, including whether the hedging instrument is expected to offset changes in cash flows of hedged items as well as 
its risk management objective and strategy.

Long-term financial liabilities
Bank loans acquired and bonds issued are initially recognized at fair value (i.e., the proceeds received), net of 
transaction costs incurred. Subsequently, bank loans and bonds are stated at amortized cost, using the effective 
interest method, with any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value recognized 
in the statement of income over the term of the borrowings.

Financial liabilities that are due within twelve months of the end of the reporting period are classified as current 
liabilities, unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for more than twelve months 
after the reporting period. 

The repayment of the current portion of such liabilities is shown in the statement of cash flows in the line “Repayment 
of long-term financial liabilities”.
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14.2 Net financial debt
Million CHF 31.12.2023 Cash flows Non cash flows 31.12.2024

Current financial liabilities1  1,416  116  310  1,842 

Long-term financial liabilities  12,665  (1,294)  642  12,014 

Gross financial debt  14,081  (1,178)  952  13,856 

Derivative assets  (103)  0  42  (61) 

Cash and cash equivalents  (6,082)  748  (13)  (5,347) 

Net Financial Debt  7,896  (430)  982  8,448 

1  Including bank overdraft cash flow movement for CHF -9 million.

Million CHF 2024 2023

Net Financial Debt as of 1 January  7,896  6,032 

Cash flow from operating activities  (5,667)  (5,470) 

Cash flow from investing activities  2,037  3,469 

Payout on ordinary shares  1,570  1,414 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  164  91 

Coupon paid on subordinated fixed rate resettable notes  13  27 

Net movement of treasury shares1  951  1,609 

Increase in participation in existing Group companies  12  64 

Repayment from subordinated fixed rate resettable notes2  490  200 

Total cash effective movements as per statement of cash flows  (430)  1,404 

Change in scope3  36  142 

Currency translation effects  211  (293) 

Increase in long-term lease liabilities  600  477 

Others  134  134 

Total non cash effective movements  982  460 

Net Financial Debt as of 31 December  8,448  7,896 

1  Net movement of treasury shares includes cash out of CHF 1,000 million in 2024 and CHF 1,609 million in 2023 related to the share buyback programs (see note 17.2). 
2  For more information, see note 17.1.
3  Change in scope predominantly relates to acquisitions (see note 2.3).

14.3 Cash and cash equivalents
Million CHF 2024 2023

Cash at banks and on hand  3,190  2,808 

Short-term deposits1  2,157  3,274 

Total  5,347  6,082 

Bank overdrafts  (13)  (31) 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows  5,334  6,052 

1  Of which CHF 396 million (2023: CHF 373 million) relates to investments in money market funds. 
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14.4 Financial liabilities
Million CHF 2024 2023

Current financial liabilities – associates and joint ventures  29  32 

Current financial liabilities – third parties  150  125 

Current portion of long-term financial liabilities  1,630  1,177 

Derivative liabilities (note 14.5)  33  82 

Total current financial liabilities  1,842  1,416 

Long-term financial liabilities – associates and joint ventures  0  1 

Long-term financial liabilities – third parties  11,113  11,784 

Derivative liabilities (note 14.5)  900  880 

Total long-term financial liabilities  12,014  12,665 

Total  13,856  14,081 

Details of total financial liabilities
Million CHF 2024 2023

Loans from financial institutions  290  277 

Bonds and private placements  10,941  11,424 

Total loans and bonds  11,231  11,701 

Lease liabilities (note 14.7)  1,692  1,419 

Derivative liabilities (note 14.5)  934  962 

Total  13,856  14,081 

“Loans from financial institutions” include amounts due to banks and other financial institutions. Repayment dates vary 
between one and ten years (2023: one and eleven years). As per the loan agreements, the Group is required to comply 
with certain provisions or covenants. As of 31 December 2024, the Group complied with its debt covenants in all 
respects. 

As of 31 December 2024, the unused committed credit lines totaled CHF 4,883 million (2023: CHF 5,148 million).

Financial liabilities by currency
2024 2023

Currency Million CHF In %
Interest 

rate1 Million CHF In %
Interest 

rate1

EUR  6,633  47.9  +2.1 %  6,902  49.0  +2.4% 

USD  4,435  32.0  +5.5 %  4,084  29.0  +5.4% 

CHF  1,476  10.7  +0.7 %  1,883  13.4  +1.2% 

GBP  738  5.3  +2.5 %  677  4.8  +2.5% 

CAD  243  1.8  +4.7 %  230  1.6  +4.4% 

AUD  82  0.6  +5.1 %  63  0.4  +5.3% 

PLN  67  0.5  +3.8 %  61  0.4  +3.1% 

Others  182  1.2  +6.2 %  181  1.4  +7.2% 

Total  13,856  100.0  +3.2 %  14,081  100.0  +3.2% 

1  Weighted average nominal interest rate on financial liabilities as of 31 December.

Information on the maturity of financial instruments is disclosed in Note 14.6.
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Bonds and private placements as of 31 December

Nominal
value

Nominal
interest

rate Term Description1

Net
book
value

in CHF2

Net
book
value 

in CHF2

Million 2024 2023

Holcim Ltd

CHF 150  1.00% 2015–2025 Bonds  150  150 

CHF 440  1.00% 2018-2024 Bonds  0  440 

Lafarge S.A.

USD 483  7.13% 2006–2036 Bonds  483  454 

Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.

EUR 320  3.00% 2014–2024 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  0  297 

EUR 33  2.00% 2016–2026 Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  31  30 

EUR 1,150  2.25% 2016–2028
Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, swapped into floating interest 
rates in 2019  1,000  957 

EUR 750  1.75% 2017-2029 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  701  692 

EUR 500  0.50% 2019-2026 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  455  442 

EUR 500  2.38% 2020-2025 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  470  464 

EUR 850  0.50% 2020-2031
Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd (sustainability-linked), swapped 
into USD and floating interest rate  674  639 

EUR 500  0.13% 2021-2027
Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, swapped into USD and floating 
interest rate  438  417 

EUR 650  0.63% 2021-2033 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, swapped into USD  497  471 

EUR 500  0.63% 2021-2030 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  466  460 

EUR 1,000  0.50% 2021-2030
Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, partially swapped into floating 
interest rate  878  853 

EUR 300  1.38% 2021-2036 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  279  276 

EUR 500  1.50% 2022-2025 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  470  464 

EUR 150  1.63% 2022-2026 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd (sustainability-linked)  141  139 

Holcim US Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.

USD 50  4.20% 2013–2033 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  45  42 

USD 100  2.24% 2021-2031 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd (sustainability-linked)  90  84 

USD 50  7.65% 2001-2031 Private placement guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  45  42 

USD 250  6.88% 2009–2039 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  220  205 

USD 250  6.50% 2013–2043 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  220  205 

Holcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.

GBP 300  3.00% 2017–2032 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  337  318 

GBP 250  2.25% 2021-2034
Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, partially swapped into CHF and 
floating interest rate  240  231 

Subtotal  8,330  8,774 
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Nominal
value

Nominal
interest

rate Term Description1

Net
book
value

in CHF2

Net
book
value 

in CHF2

Million 2024 2023

Subtotal  8,330  8,774 

Holcim International Finance Ltd

USD 38  4.38 % 2018-2024 Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  0  32 

USD 60  4.59 % 2018-2025 Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  54  50 

USD 65  5.34 % 2022-2025
Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, with floating interest 
rate (sustainability-linked)  59  55 

USD 58  5.49 % 2022-2027
Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, with floating interest 
rate (sustainability-linked)  52  48 

USD 25  5.74 % 2022-2029
Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, with floating interest 
rate (sustainability-linked)  23  21 

Holcim Finance US LLC

USD 400  3.50 % 2016–2026 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  361  336 

USD 590  4.75 % 2016–2046 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  521  485 

Holcim Continental Finance Ltd

EUR 109  1.32 % 2018-2024 Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  0  101 

EUR 5  1.68 % 2018-2025 Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  5  5 

EUR 2  2.22 % 2018-2028 Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  1  1 

EUR 55  3.37 % 2022-2025
Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, with floating interest 
rates (sustainability-linked)  52  51 

EUR 42  2.11 % 2022-2027
Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd (sustainability-
linked)  39  38 

EUR 250  3.52 % 2022-2027
Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, with floating interest 
rates (sustainability-linked)  235  232 

EUR 59  2.53 % 2022-2029
Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd (sustainability-
linked)  55  54 

EUR 86  3.77 % 2022-2029
Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, with floating interest 
rates (sustainability-linked)  80  79 

EUR 24  2.99 % 2022-2032
Schuldschein loan guaranteed by Holcim Ltd (sustainability-
linked)  23  22 

Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd

CHF 300  0.25 % 2021-2027 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  300  300 

CHF 145  0.13 % 2021-2027 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd  145  145 

CHF 185  0.50 % 2021-2031
Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd, swapped into floating interest 
rates  183  171 

CHF 325  0.38 % 2022-2026 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd (sustainability-linked)  323  321 

CHF 100  1.00 % 2022-2032 Bonds guaranteed by Holcim Ltd (sustainability-linked)  100  101 

Total  10,941  11,424 
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14.5 Derivative financial instruments
Derivative liabilities are included in financial liabilities (Note 14.4) and derivative assets are separately disclosed in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group assessed the effects of existing netting arrangements in place 
for financial instruments and these were considered to be immaterial.

Derivative assets and liabilities
Fair value

assets
Fair value
liabilities

Nominal 
amount

Fair value 
assets

Fair value 
liabilities

Nominal 
amount

Million CHF 2024 2024 2024 2023 2023 2023

Fair value hedges

Interest rate  0  460  3,776  0  578  4,053 

Total fair value hedges  0  460  3,776  0  578  4,053 

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate  1  0  470  82  0  664 

Currency  4  2  235  1  5  231 

Cross-currency  0  365  2,348  0  225  2,201 

Commodity  25  103  877  19  124  816 

Total cash flow hedges  30  471  3,930  102  354  3,913 

Held for trading

Currency  31  3  2,698  1  30  1,919 

Total held for trading  31  3  2,698  1  30  1,919 

Total  61  934  10,403  103  962  9,884 
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14.6 Financial risks associated with operating activities
Group Risk Management
Group Risk Management supports the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee and the countries’ management 
teams in analyzing overall risk exposure. Group Risk Management aims to systematically identify, monitor and manage 
major risks encountered by the Group. All types of risks from industrial, operational, financial and legal risks, up to risks 
associated with the external business environment, are considered, including compliance, sustainability and 
reputational aspects. Risks are understood as the effect of uncertainty on business objectives, which can present an 
opportunity or a threat. The risk horizon includes long-term strategic risks but also short- to medium-term business 
risks. Potential risks are identified and evaluated at an early stage and monitored. Mitigating actions are proposed and 
implemented at the appropriate level, so that risk management remains a key management responsibility.

The Group’s risk map is established by strategic, operational and topical risk assessments, which are combined into a 
Group risk report. Besides the countries, the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee and the corporate function 
heads are involved in the risk assessment during the Group’s management cycle. The results of the annual Group risk 
process are presented to the Executive Committee and the conclusions reported to the Board of Directors and the 
Audit Committee.

Country risk
Holcim operates in many countries across the world and is exposed, directly or indirectly, to the effects of economic, 
political and social instability such as trade protectionism, foreign exchange volatility, geopolitical tensions, terrorism, 
civil war and unrest. Holcim’s broad geographic footprint exposes the Group to the adverse consequences of shifts in 
the geopolitical dynamics, which can spark social unrest, government interventionism leading to reduced access to 
utilities and raw materials, changes in the sanctions environment and supply chain disruptions.

Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including liquidity, interest rate, foreign exchange, 
commodity and credit risk. The Group’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses derivative 
financial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts, commodity and interest rate swaps and options to hedge 
certain exposures. The Group does not enter into derivative or other financial transactions which are unrelated to its 
business needs or for speculative purposes.

Financial risk management within the Group is governed by policies approved by key management personnel. It 
provides principles for overall risk management as well as policies covering specific areas such as interest rate risk, 
foreign exchange risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and the investment of cash.

Liquidity risk
Group companies need liquidity to meet their obligations. Individual companies are responsible for raising internal and 
external credit lines to cover their liquidity needs, subject to guidance from the Group.

The Group monitors its liquidity risk by using a recurring liquidity planning tool and maintains cash, readily realizable 
marketable securities and unused committed credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements. In addition, the strong 
creditworthiness of the Group allows it to access international financial markets for financing purposes.

Cash is primarily invested with highly rated banks or money market funds and is readily accessible in the respective 
entities.
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Contractual maturity analysis

Million CHF

Contractual undiscounted cash flows

Carrying 
amount

Within
1 year

Within
2 years

Within
3 years

Within
4 years

Within
5 years Thereafter Total

2024

Trade accounts payable and others1  4,612  0  0  0  0  0  4,612  4,612 

Loans from financial institutions  206  59  13  5  2  6  290  290 

Bonds, private placements and
commercial paper notes  1,259  1,328  1,241  1,083  863  5,634  11,408  10,941 

Interest payments  235  208  183  175  148  1,154  2,103  108 

Lease liability payments  397  324  277  226  149  570  1,943  1,692 

Derivative financial instruments, net2  130  189  243  104  101  474  1,242  873 

Total  6,840  2,108  1,956  1,593  1,263  7,838  21,598 

2023

Trade accounts payable and others1  4,314  0  0  0  0  0  4,314  4,314 

Loans from financial institutions  176  53  36  5  3  5  277  277 

Bonds, private placements and
commercial paper notes  870  1,241  1,296  1,229  1,070  6,307  12,013  11,424 

Interest payments  248  229  204  178  168  1,222  2,248  122 

Lease liability payments  326  281  226  188  126  436  1,583  1,419 

Derivative financial instruments, net2  233  201  180  213  106  443  1,376  859 

Total  6,167  2,005  1,942  1,813  1,473  8,413  21,812 

1  Trade accounts payable and others include trade accounts payable and payables related to the purchase of property, plant and equipment included in 
other current liabilities.

2  The contractual cash flows include both cash inflows and outflows.

The maturity profile is based on contractual undiscounted amounts, including both interest and principal cash flows, 
and is based on the earliest date on which Holcim could be required to pay. Contractual interest cash flows relating to 
a variable interest rate are calculated based on the rates prevailing as of year-end.

The table below shows outflows (inflows) for net and gross settled derivatives entered into for the purpose of managing 
financial risks. Additional information is disclosed in Note 14.5. 

Cash outflows / (inflows) for derivative financial instruments
Within
1 year

Within
2 years

Within
3 years

Within
4 years

Within
5 years Thereafter Total

Carrying 
amount

2024

Net settled derivatives  117  136  119  66  63  181  682  538 

Gross settled derivatives  14  53  124  38  38  293  560  335 

– of which inflows  (3,047)  (74)  (545)  (59)  (59)  (1,734)  (5,519) 

– of which outflows  3,061  127  668  97  97  2,027  6,078 

Total  130  189  243  104  101  474  1,242  873 

2023

Net settled derivatives  161  157  136  131  74  215  874  601 

Gross settled derivatives  72  43  44  82  32  228  501  258 

– of which inflows  (2,221)  (99)  (99)  (564)  (77)  (1,831)  (4,891) 

– of which outflows  2,293  142  142  646  109  2,058  5,391 

Total  233  201  180  213  106  443  1,376  859 
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Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from movements in interest rates, which could affect the Group’s financial result and the market 
value of its financial instruments. The Group is primarily exposed to fluctuations in interest rates on its financial 
liabilities at floating rates, which could influence the Group’s financial result. This exposure is mainly addressed 
through the management of the fixed/floating ratio of financial liabilities. To manage this mix, the Group may enter into 
interest rate swap and options agreements, whereby it exchanges periodic payments based on notional amounts and 
agreed-upon fixed and floating interest rates. The Group is also exposed to the evolution of interest rates and credit 
markets for its future refinancing, which could result in a lower or higher cost of financing. The Group constantly 
monitors credit markets and its financing strategy aims to achieve a well-balanced maturity profile to reduce both the 
refinancing risk and significant fluctuations in its financing costs.

The Group’s risk management policy with regard to interest rate risk is to keep the risk at an acceptable level, while 
minimizing the interest expense over the long term, in accordance with the Group’s funding strategy. Consequently, 
under the Group’s risk management policy, the Group may enter into derivative contracts which are designated as 
either cash flow hedges or fair value hedges, as appropriate and also include the hedging of forecasted transactions.

Interest rate sensitivity
The Group’s sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the interest rate exposure relating to the Group’s 
financial liabilities at a variable rate on a post hedge basis corresponding to CHF 4,213 million as of 31 December 2024.

A one percentage point change is used when the interest rate risk is reported internally to key management personnel 
and represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates.

As of 31 December 2024, a one percentage point shift in interest rates, with all other assumptions held constant, would 
result in approximately CHF 44 million (2023: CHF 39 million) of annual additional/lower financial expenses before tax 
on a post hedge basis.
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Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s global footprint exposes it to foreign exchange risks.

The translation of foreign operations into the Group reporting currency leads to currency translation effects. The Group 
may hedge certain net investments in foreign entities with foreign currency borrowings or other instruments. To the 
extent that the net investment hedge is effective, all foreign exchange gains or losses are recognized in equity and 
included in currency translation adjustments.

Due to the local nature of the construction materials business, foreign exchange risk is limited. However, for many 
Group companies, income is primarily in local currency, whereas debt servicing and a significant proportion of capital 
expenditures may be in foreign currencies. Consequently, under the Group’s risk management policy, the Group may 
enter into derivative contracts which are designated as either cash flow hedges or fair value hedges and may also 
include the hedging of forecasted transactions.

Foreign exchange sensitivity
The Group’s sensitivity analysis is performed based on the Group’s net transaction exposure arising on monetary 
financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as of 31 December. The Group’s net foreign currency 
transaction risk mainly arises from CHF, USD and EUR against the respective currencies the Group operates in.

A 5% change is used when the net foreign currency transaction risk is reported internally to key management personnel 
and represents the management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

A 5% change in CHF, USD and EUR against the respective currencies the Group operates in would have an immaterial 
impact on foreign exchange (loss) gains on a post hedge basis in both the current and prior year.

The impact on equity of derivative instruments is considered immaterial in relation to the Group’s shareholders’ equity.

Commodity risk
The Group is primarily subject to commodity risk with respect to price changes in the electricity, natural gas, petcoke, 
coal, oil, refined products and sea freight markets. In accordance with the Group’s risk management policy, the Group 
uses derivative instruments to hedge part of its exposure to these risks. Derivative instruments are generally limited to 
swaps and options.
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Effects of hedge accounting
Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedging relationship as well as through periodic prospective 
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument.

Ineffectiveness is recognized on hedges where the cumulative change in the designated component value of the 
hedging instrument exceeds on an absolute basis the change in value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged 
risk. Ineffectiveness may arise if there is a difference in the principal terms of the hedging instrument and designated 
hedged risk, from credit valuation of the hedging instrument or timing of the transaction changes from what was 
originally estimated.

The effects of applying hedge accounting on the Group’s financial position with regard to cash flow, fair value and net 
investment hedge accounting relationships are as follows:

a) Cash flow hedge accounting

In 2024, the change in fair value of hedging instruments under cash flow hedge accounting was CHF 76 million (2023: 
CHF 25 million). The change in related hedged items was CHF -76 million (2023: CHF -25 million) and no ineffectiveness 
was recorded in the consolidated statement of income in 2024 and 2023.

Cash flow hedge – hedging instruments: maturity analysis 2024 2023

Foreign exchange forwards 2025 2024

Interest rate swaps and options 2033 2033

Commodity swaps and options 2025–2037 2024–2037

Cross currency swaps 2027–2034 2027–2034

When a hedging instrument expires, is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, the cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity until the forecast transaction 
occurs, resulting in the recognition of a non-financial asset such as property, plant and equipment or inventory against 
which the cumulative gains and losses are adjusted. When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately reclassified to the consolidated statement of income.

The closing balance in the cash flow hedge reserve for hedges that are accounted for as cash flow hedge was 
CHF -25 million (2023: CHF -51 million).

b) Fair value hedge accounting

In 2024, the change in fair value of hedging instruments under fair value hedge accounting was CHF 112 million (2023: 
CHF 283 million). The change in related hedged items was CHF -112 million (2023: CHF -283 million) and no 
ineffectiveness was recorded directly in the consolidated statement of income in 2024 or 2023 for fair value hedges.

Fair value hedge – hedging instruments: maturity analysis 2024 2023

Interest rate swaps 2027–2034 2026–2034

When a hedging instrument expires, is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, the cumulative gain or loss recorded in the carrying value of the hedged item is amortized over the life of 
the hedged item using the effective interest rate. When the hedged item is sold or terminated, the cumulative gains 
and losses recorded in the carrying value are recognized in financial income (expense).

c) Net investment hedge accounting

No outstanding hedging instruments as of 31 December 2024 or 31 December 2023. 

When a hedging instrument expires, is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, the cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity remains in equity and will be reclassified to profit (loss) on 
disposal when the forecast transaction occurs (i.e., disposal of a subsidiary). 

The closing balance in the foreign currency translation reserve for hedges that are accounted for as net investment 
hedge was CHF -1 million (2023: CHF 19 million).
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Credit risk
Credit risk arises in part from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle their obligations as agreed. To 
manage this risk, the Group periodically assesses its customers’ financial reliability.

Credit risk, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, is constantly monitored. Counterparties to financial instruments 
consist of a large number of established financial institutions. The Group does not expect any counterparty to be 
unable to fulfil its obligations under its respective financing agreements. At year-end, Holcim had no significant 
concentration of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of counterparties.

The Group considers the probability of default on initial recognition of accounts receivable, based on lifetime expected 
credit losses, by considering available, reasonable and supportable historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers the probability of default on initial recognition of long-term loans and receivables, and assesses 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period, by 
considering available reasonable and supportable historical and forward-looking information.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative 
financial instruments, in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The following credit risk modelling is applied to financial assets:

a) Accounts receivable

For accounts receivable, the Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to calculating expected lifetime credit losses 
(ECL).

b) Long-term loans and receivables

The Group uses three categories for long-term loans and receivables, reflecting their credit risk and how the loan loss 
provision is determined for each of those categories.

The assumptions underpinning the Group’s expected credit loss model are summarized below:

Category Definition

Performing Customers have a low risk of default and a strong capacity to meet contractual cash flows

Non-performing Interest and/or principal repayments are past due and credit risk level shows an increase

Write-off Based on observable data, the payments will not be collected

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk category on initial recognition based on available information about the 
borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different 
credit risk category.

Over the term of the loans, the Group accounts for its credit risk by providing for expected credit losses on a timely 
basis. In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the company considers historical loss rates for each category of 
customers and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data. No significant changes to estimation techniques or 
assumptions were made during the reporting period.

Capital structure
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to secure the Group’s financial needs as a going concern, as well as 
to cater to its growth targets, enabling it to provide returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders as well as 
to maintain a solid investment grade rating.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions, business 
activities, investment and expansion programs as well as the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to 
maintain or modify the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares, increase debt or sell assets to reduce debt.
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Fair value estimation
The fair value of publicly traded financial instruments is generally based on quoted market prices at the end of the 
reporting period.

For non-publicly traded financial instruments, the fair value is determined by using a variety of methods, such as the 
discounted cash flow method and option pricing models. The valuation methods seek to maximize the use of 
observable market data available at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of current financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost is assessed to approximate their carrying 
amounts due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments.

Fair values as of 31 December 2024
Carrying amount (by measurement basis)

Million CHF IFRS 9 category
Amortized 

cost
Fair value

level 1
Fair value 

level 2
Fair value 

level 3 Total
Comparative 

fair value

Current financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents Financial assets  5,347      5,347 

Trade accounts receivable Receivables at amortized cost  2,613      2,613 

Current financial receivables Receivables at amortized cost  137      137 

Short-term derivative assets Held for hedging at fair value      24  24 

Short-term derivative assets Held for trading at fair value      31  31 

Long-term financial assets   

Long-term receivables Loans at amortized cost  161      161  163 1

Financial investments third parties Strategic equity investments at fair 
value through other comprehensive 
earnings      152  152 

Long-term derivative assets Held for hedging at fair value      6  6 

Current financial liabilities

Trade accounts payable and others2 Financial liabilities at amortized cost  4,612      4,612 

Current financial liabilities 
(excluding derivative liabilities)

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
 1,809        1,809 

Derivative liabilities Held for hedging at fair value      31  31 

Derivative liabilities Held for trading at fair value      3  3 

Long-term financial liabilities

Long-term financial liabilities 
(excluding derivative liabilities)

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
 11,113        11,113  10,857 3

Derivative liabilities Held for hedging at fair value4      871  29  900 

1  The comparative fair value for long-term receivables consists of level 2 fair value measurements.
2  Trade accounts payable and others include payables related to the purchase of property, plant and equipment included in other liabilities.
3  The comparative fair value for long-term financial liabilities consists of CHF 8,813 million level 1 and CHF 2,044 million level 2 fair value measurements.
4  In 2024, the derivatives held for hedging classified as level 3 are linked to long-term virtual power purchase agreements.
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Fair values as of 31 December 2023
Carrying amount (by measurement basis)

Million CHF IFRS 9 category
Amortized 

cost
Fair value

level 1
Fair value 

level 2
Fair value 

level 3 Total
Comparative 

fair value

Current financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents Financial assets  6,082  6,082 

Trade accounts receivable Receivables at amortized cost  2,723  2,723 

Current financial receivables Receivables at amortized cost  128  128 

Short-term derivative assets Held for hedging at fair value  12  12 

Short-term derivative assets Held for trading at fair value  1  1 

Long-term financial assets

Long-term receivables Loans at amortized cost  156  156  156 1

Financial investments third parties Strategic equity investments at fair 
value through other comprehensive 
earnings

 155  155 

Long-term derivative assets Held for hedging at fair value  90  90 

Current financial liabilities

Trade accounts payable and others2 Financial liabilities at amortized cost  4,314  4,314 

Current financial liabilities 
(excluding derivative liabilities)

Financial liabilities at amortized cost  1,334  1,334 

Derivative liabilities Held for hedging at fair value  52  52 

Derivative liabilities Held for trading at fair value  30  30 

Long-term financial liabilities

Long-term financial liabilities 
(excluding derivative liabilities)

Financial liabilities at amortized cost  11,785  11,785  11,533 3

Derivative liabilities Held for hedging at fair value4  850  30  880 

1  The comparative fair value for long-term receivables consists of level 2 fair value measurements.
2  Trade accounts payable and others include payables related to the purchase of property, plant and equipment included in other liabilities.
3  The comparative fair value for long-term financial liabilities consists of CHF 9,397 million level 1 and CHF 2,137 million level 2 fair value measurements.
4  In 2023, the derivatives held for hedging classified as level 3 are linked to long-term virtual power purchase agreements.

The table above shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities.

The levels of fair value hierarchy used are defined as follows:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities. The types of assets carried at level 1 fair value are equity and debt securities listed in active 
markets;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that 
are observable market data, either directly or indirectly. Such valuation techniques include the discounted cash flow 
method and option pricing models. For example, the fair value of interest rate and currency swaps is determined by 
discounting estimated future cash flows, and the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using 
the forward exchange market at the end of the reporting period; and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that 
are not based on observable market data. In 2024 and 2023, the hedging derivative instruments classified as level 3 
are linked to long-term virtual power purchase agreements. 

There were no transfers between the different hierarchy levels in 2024 or 2023.
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14.7 Leases
At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether it contains a lease under IFRS 16 Leases and accordingly 
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability if it meets the definition of a lease, with the exception of short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets.

The lease liability is measured as of the commencement date at the present value of the future lease payments, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, using the lessee’s respective 
incremental borrowing rate. Future lease payments include in-substance fixed payments, variable lease payments 
depending on an index or rate, and payments under termination and extension options when these are reflected in the 
lease term. The lease term comprises the noncancellable lease term together with the period covered by extension 
options, if assessed as reasonably certain to be exercised, and termination options, if assessed as reasonably certain not 
to be exercised. Non-lease components in contracts are separated from lease components and accordingly accounted 
for in operating profit on a cost-incurred basis.

The right-of-use asset is recognized at the commencement date at cost, which includes the amount of the lease liability 
recognized, any lease payments made on or before the commencement date of the lease, initial direct costs incurred, 
and an estimate of costs to be incurred in dismantling and removing the underlying asset or restoring the asset to the 
condition agreed with the lessor. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use 
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-
use assets are subject to the impairment requirements under IAS 36 Impairments of Assets. The right-of-use assets 
recorded as of 31 December 2024 are outlined in Note 11.2.

In the event that the tax base of a right-of-use asset is not the same as its carrying amount for IFRS purposes, on initial 
recognition of a lease contract, the Group recognizes the deferred tax impact arising on the temporary difference 
between the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and its tax base. The above treatment is also applied to the initial 
recognition of the lease liability.

As of 31 December 2024, the current portion of the long-term lease liability included in current financial liabilities 
amounted to CHF 343 million (2023: CHF 289 million) and the long-term lease liabilities included in long-term financial 
liabilities amounted to CHF 1,349 million (2023: CHF 1,130 million).

Various contracts entered into by the Group include extension options, which provide the Group with greater flexibility 
in terms of the future procurement of assets and services. Extension options are included in the lease liability only if 
they are assessed by management as being reasonably certain to be exercised. The undiscounted future lease 
payments relating to periods covered by extension options not included in the lease liability at year-end amount to 
CHF 168 million (2023: CHF 88 million).

Additional information related to leases
Million CHF 2024 2023

Statement of income

Expenses for short-term lease payments  (105)  (107) 

Expenses for variable lease payments  (27)  (42) 

Cash outflow for leases

Cash outflow for short-term, low value and variable leases1  (134)  (151) 

Payment of interest1  (78)  (63) 

Payment of lease liabilities2  (389)  (357) 

Total  (601)  (571) 

1  Included within cash flow from operating activities.
2  Included within cash flow from financing activities.

In certain lease agreements for machinery, equipment and vehicles, variable lease payments are included based on 
operating hours used, kilometers traveled or output. These leases provide greater flexibility in terms of usage, such as 
for certain types of trucks and vehicles where operating levels depend on production capacity and demand.

The contractual undiscounted future cash outflows for leases included in lease liabilities as of 31 December 2024 are 
disclosed in Note 14.6.
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15. Employee benefits and share compensation plans
15.1 Accounting principles
Employee benefits – Defined benefit plans
Some Group companies provide defined benefit pension (pension) or other post-employment benefit plans for 
employees. The Group uses professionally qualified independent actuaries to value the defined benefit obligations on 
a regular basis. The obligation and costs of pension benefits are determined using the projected unit credit method. 
The projected unit credit method considers each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit 
entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation. Past service costs, which comprise plan 
amendments and curtailments, and gains or losses on the settlement of pension benefits, are recognized immediately 
in the statement of income when they occur.

Remeasurements, which comprise actuarial gains and losses on the pension and other post-employment obligations, 
the return on plan assets and changes in the effect of the asset ceiling excluding amounts in net interest, are 
recognized directly in other comprehensive earnings and are not reclassified to the statement of income in a 
subsequent period. The pension and other post-employment obligations are measured as the present value of 
estimated future cash flows using discount rates that are determined by reference to the interest rates on high-quality 
corporate bonds, with the currency and terms of the corporate bonds consistent with the currency and estimated terms 
of the pension and other post-employment obligations.

A net pension asset is recorded only to the extent that it does not exceed the present value of any economic benefits 
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The cost of pension and other post-employment plans charged to the statement of income consists of service cost 
(current service cost, past service cost and curtailments as well as gains or losses on settlements) and the net interest 
expense. The service costs are recorded in “Production cost of goods sold”, “Distribution and selling expenses” or 
“Administration expenses” based on the beneficiaries of the plans; the net interest expense is recorded in “Financial 
expenses” (Note 7.3).

Employee benefits – Defined contribution plans
In addition to the defined benefit plans described above, some Group companies sponsor defined contribution plans 
based on local practices and regulations. The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the 
statement of income in the period to which the contributions relate.

Employee benefits – Other long-term employment benefits
Other long-term employment benefits include long-service leave or sabbatical leave, medical aid, jubilee or other long-
service benefits, long-term disability benefits and, if they are not expected to be settled fully within twelve months after 
the year-end, profit sharing, variable and deferred compensation.

The measurement of these obligations differs from defined benefit plans in that all remeasurements are recognized 
immediately in the statement of income.

Employee benefits – Share compensation plans
The Group operates various equity-settled share-based compensation plans. The fair value of the employee services 
received in exchange for the grant of the options or shares is recognized as an expense. The total amount to be 
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The amounts are charged to 
the statement of income over the relevant vesting periods and adjusted to reflect actual and expected levels of vesting.
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15.2 Group risk management
The Group operates a range of defined benefit pension schemes and similar contingent obligation schemes across 
various countries. The assets and liabilities of these schemes may experience significant volatility based on prevailing 
market conditions. 

These unforeseen deficits may require cash contributions to fund unrecoverable amounts, which could vary 
significantly from year to year due to external factors. These contributions may in turn impact the Group’s financial 
results.

To mitigate these risks, where possible, the Group has taken measures to close, freeze, and terminate these defined 
benefit pension schemes and has deployed scheme-appropriate asset allocations in order to mitigate volatility and 
optimize investment returns.

The Group participates in several union-sponsored multi-employer pension plans in the U.S. These plans are 
susceptible to substantial deficits arising from market conditions, business decisions, trustee decisions, plan failures, 
and the actions and decisions of other contributing employers. The Group, however, has minimal control over the 
management of these plans. There is a material risk that substantial cash contributions could be required in the future 
to meet outstanding obligations under these plans. Fulfilling the Group’s obligations may have a material impact on the 
Group’s reported financial results. Currently, the financial condition of these plans is not disclosed in the Group’s 
financial reports.

The Group continuously reviews these plans with the primary objective of gaining a thorough understanding of their 
financial circumstances. The aim is to explore all available options to mitigate risks as well as to reduce the Group’s 
actual and potential financial obligations. It is important to note that the Group’s ability to take action is constrained, as 
participation in these plans is contingent upon negotiations with bargaining unions.

15.3 Employee benefits
Personnel expenses and number of employees
The Group’s total personnel expenses, including social charges, are recognized in the relevant expenditure line 
by function in the consolidated statement of income, amounting to CHF 4,781 million (2023: CHF 4,493 million). 
As of 31 December 2024, the Group employed 63,665 FTEs (2023: 63,448 FTEs).

Defined benefit pension plans
Oversight of the Group’s pension plans is conducted by the Pension and Benefits Governance team, an interdisciplinary 
team comprising representatives from the Finance, Human Resources and Legal functions. This team, which makes 
recommendations to the Group Chief Financial Officer (CFO), serves as a center of expertise for all issues relating to 
pension and other post-employment benefits. A documented directive is used as the foundation for management 
actions and decisions.

The Group’s principal defined benefit pension plans are situated in the UK, Switzerland and North America. They 
respectively represent 54% (2023: 53%), 30% (2023: 24%) and 8% (2023: 15%) of the Group’s total defined benefit 
obligation for pensions. These main plans are funded through legally separate trustee-managed funds. The cash 
funding of these plans, which may sometimes include special payments, is designed to ensure that past, present and 
future contributions should be sufficient to meet future liabilities.

Where feasible, defined benefit pension schemes have been closed and frozen. Given the potential for substantial 
volatility in the assets and liabilities of these plans, several strategic actions are continuously under consideration and 
implementation to mitigate and eliminate, where possible, the associated risks. These include, for example, employing 
investment strategies that consider the benefit obligations and selective settlements.

Unfunded pension plans are mainly those which do not require advanced funding,	often plans outside of the 
qualification limits of tax regimes or mandatory retirement indemnity schemes.

United Kingdom (UK)
The companies operate three defined benefit pension plans in the UK: the Lafarge UK pension plan, the Aggregate 
Industries pension plan and the Ronez 2000 pension plan. Pensions payable to employees are determined by the 
average final salary and length of service. Independent boards of Trustees manage the plans, with the Lafarge UK 
pension plan and Aggregate Industries pension plans registered under UK tax law, while the Ronez 2000 pension plan is 
located in the Channel Islands. All three plans are closed to new entrants and are frozen to future accrual. Funding 
deficits within these plans, if any, are addressed through employer contributions. These contributions are negotiated 
every three years based on plan valuations carried out by independent actuaries. 
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For the Lafarge UK pension plan, based on the 30 June 2021 funding valuation, no deficit repair contributions were 
required, as the plan had a funding surplus at this date. The funding valuation as of 30 June 2024 is currently 
underway.

For the Aggregate Industries pension plan, based on the 5 April 2021 funding valuation and in recognition of 
contributions of GBP 85 million being paid in after the valuation date, a contribution schedule was agreed with no 
further contributions until 30 June 2025, with monthly deficit repair contributions then payable until 31 March 2027 to 
remove the funding deficit. The funding valuation as of 31 March 2024 is currently underway.

As of the 31 December 2021 funding valuation for the Ronez 2000 pension plan, no deficit repair contributions were 
required, as the plan had a funding surplus at this date.

In relation to risk management and asset allocation, the Boards of Trustees aim to ensure that they can fulfil their 
obligations to the beneficiaries of the plans, both in the short and long-term. While prioritizing this primary objective, 
the Boards of Trustees target to maximize the long-term investment return while appropriately minimizing risk and 
volatility. The Boards of Trustees are responsible for the plans’ long-term investment strategies but usually delegate 
strategy design and monitoring to Investment Committees.

There was a High Court ruling in the case of Virgin Media Limited v NTL Pension Trustees II Limited and others in June 
2023, and subsequent appeal outcome on 25 July 2024, which make void any amendment to the rules of a contracted 
out pension scheme without required actuarial confirmation under Regulation 42(2) of the Occupational Pension 
Schemes (Contracting Out) Regulations 1996, for the pension plans in question. This confirmed that actuarial 
confirmations should have been provided for amendments made to contracted-out schemes in the period between 6 
April 1997 and 5 April 2016. The Trustees of the Plans and the Directors work closely together and take appropriate 
legal and professional advice when making amendments to the Plans’ rules. Since the appeal ruling, the Company has 
engaged its legal advisers as well as the Plans’ Trustee in order to consider the matter further in the context of the 
Scheme’s particular circumstances and that work is ongoing at this stage. As a result, it is not currently possible to 
reliably estimate if there is any potential impact on the defined benefit obligations of the Pension Schemes should any 
such amendments be found to be not in accordance with section 37 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 requirements.

Switzerland
In Switzerland, the pension plans of the Swiss entities are structured as cash balance benefit plans and are accounted 
for as a defined benefit plans. Contributions, from both employer and employees, are determined in the various 
pension fund rules based on age-related sliding scales of percentages of salary. Under Swiss law, the pension fund 
guarantees the vested benefit amount to its members. Additionally, interest above legal requirements may be added to 
member balances at the discretion of the Board of Trustees (composed of half employer and half employees’ 
representatives). Upon reaching retirement date, members have the right to take their retirement benefit as a lump sum, 
an annuity, or a combination of both, with the balance converted to a fixed annuity at the rates defined in the fund 
rules. The Board of Trustees may also increase the annuity at their discretion, contingent on the plan’s funded status 
and the availability of sufficient free funds, as determined according to Swiss statutory valuation rules. These Swiss 
pension plans comply with the regulatory framework, ensuring a minimum level of benefits.

Consolidated Swiss entities maintain pension plans in nine pension funds. The two primary pension funds for the Swiss 
entities are Holcim Pension Fund and Pension Fund of Holcim Switzerland. These funds exclusively cover Holcim 
employees, accounting for around 95% of the consolidated plan assets and liabilities in Switzerland.

North America (U.S. and Canada)
The companies operate both defined contribution plans and defined benefit pension plans. The majority of the defined 
benefit pension plans are closed to new entrants and frozen to future accruals. Under defined benefit pension plans, 
pensions payable to employees depend on average final salary and length of service within the Group. For defined 
contribution plans, benefits depend on accrued contributions with returns at retirement.

The Group companies are obligated to contribute a minimum amount annually to the defined benefit pension plans, 
which are determined actuarially and are comprised of service costs, if any, but also of administrative expenses, as well 
as payments toward any existing deficits. 

In North America, the Group companies generally meet the minimum required contributions as prescribed under 
applicable pension legislation. Occasionally, additional voluntary amounts are considered and remitted as advanced 
contributions.

Various responsibilities are delegated to Pension Committees. These committees are tasked with defining and 
managing long-term investment strategies aimed at mitigating risks, including interest rate risks and longevity risks. 

Assets in North America include a certain proportion which hedge the liability swings against interest rate movements. 
These assets primarily invested in fixed income investments, particularly intermediate and longer-term securities.
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Canadian Salaried Defined benefit plan
In 2022, a buy-in contract was acquired from an insurer. This contract reimburses the defined benefit plan for future 
benefit payments not covered under one of the previous buy-in contracts. Under this arrangement, the plan retains the 
responsibility for paying the benefits to all participants, with the insurance company reimbursing the plan for the 
covered portion of the benefits when they are disbursed. Consequently, there is no net ongoing cash flow to the plans 
for the covered portion of benefits, as the buy-in contract funds the cost of providing these benefits. This effectively 
fixes the cost of the covered benefits and eliminates future volatility of the covered benefit obligation. The purchase of 
the buy-in contract utilized assets from the pension trust and is accounted for at fair value as an investment of the trust. 
Since 2021, buy-in contracts were secured from an insurance company. 

 On 28 February 2023, the Group decided to terminate the Canadian Salaried defined benefit plan leading to freeze of 
pay-linkage. Following regulatory approval, the plan is obligated to settle benefits, and the liquidation process led to a 
net curtailment gain of CAD 15 million (CHF 10 million) in 2023.

The buy-in contracts were converted to buy-out contracts in conjunction with the plan termination. All liabilities were 

transferred to the insurer with Holcim holding no further benefit obligation.	

Canadian Non-Salaried defined benefit plan
In September 2024, a buy-in contract was acquired from an insurer relating to all retired and beneficiaries’ liabilities.

LafargeHolcim U.S. Pension Plan
The Group participates in several union-sponsored multi-employer pension plans in the U.S. These plans are 
susceptible to substantial deficits arising from market conditions, business decisions, trustee decisions, plan failures, 
and the actions and decisions of other contributing employers. The Group however, has minimal control over the 
management of these plans, which are accounted for as defined contribution plans. A comprehensive review of all 
these plans has been initiated with the primary objective of fully understanding their financial circumstances. The aim is 
to explore all options available to mitigate risks and reduce the Group’s actual and potential financial obligations. 
It is important to note that the Group's ability to take action is constrained, as participation in these plans is contingent 
upon negotiations with bargaining unions.

Status of the Group’s defined benefit plans
The status of the Group’s defined benefit plans, based on actuarial assumptions, is determined in accordance with IAS 
19 Employee Benefits rules. The tables provide reconciliations of defined benefit obligations and plan assets, as well as 
the funded status for the defined benefit pension plans, to the amounts recognized in the statement of financial 
position.
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Reconciliation of post-employment defined benefit plans to the statement of financial position
Million CHF 2024 2023

Net liability arising from defined benefit pension plans  27  143 

Net liability arising from other post-employment defined benefit plans  142  147 

Net liability  169  291 

Million CHF 2024 2023

Present value of funded obligations  4,306  4,816 

Fair value of plan assets  (4,643)  (5,174) 

Plan surplus of funded obligations  (337)  (358) 

Present value of unfunded obligations  503  507 

Effect of asset ceiling  4  142 

Net liability from funded and unfunded plans  169  291 

Reflected in the statement of financial position as follows:

Pension assets  (378)  (296) 

Provision for pensions and other post-employment defined benefit plans  548  587 

Net liability  169  291 

Defined benefit pension plans
Other post-employment defined 

benefit plans

Million CHF 2024 2023 2024 2023

Amounts recognized in the statement of income are as follows:

Current service costs  (49)  (41)  (1)  (2) 

Past service costs (including curtailments)  5  19 0 0

Settlements 0 (7)  1 1

Net interest expense (14) 0  (7)  (7) 

Special termination benefits 0  (2) 0 0

Total recorded in the statement of income  (59)  (31)  (7)  (8) 

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive earnings are as follows:

Actuarial gains (losses) arising from changes in demographic assumptions  12  35  (3)  2 

Actuarial gains (losses) arising from changes in financial assumptions  229  (125)  5  (9) 

Actuarial gains (losses) arising from experience adjustments  (63)  (197)  2  3 

Return on plan assets excluding interest income  (238)  (129) 0 0

Change in effect of asset ceiling excluding interest income  140  135 0 0

Total recorded in other comprehensive earnings  79  (280)  5  (4) 
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Reconciliation of present value of funded and unfunded obligations

Defined benefit pension plans
Other post-employment defined 

benefit plans

Million CHF 2024 2023 2024 2023

Opening balance as of 1 January  5,176  5,708  147  160 

Change in scope  47  28  0  0 

Current service costs  49  41  1  2 

Interest expense  193  242  7  7 

Contribution by the employees  20  17  0  0 

Actuarial (gains) losses  (178)  286  (5)  4 

Benefits paid  (808)  (416)  (12)  (13) 

Past service costs (including curtailments)  (5)  (19)  0  0 

Settlements  0  (519)  (1)  (1) 

Special termination benefits  0  2  0  0 

Currency translation effects and reclassifications  173  (193)  5  (12) 

Closing balance as of 31 December  4,667  5,176  142  147 

Of which: 

UK  2,619  2,813  0  0 

North America (U.S. and Canada)  263  696  107  110 

Switzerland  1,419  1,302  0  0 

Others  366  365  35  37 

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Defined benefit pension plans
Other post-employment defined  

benefit plans

Million CHF 2024 2023 2024 2023

Opening balance as of 1 January  5,174  6,053  0  0 

Change in scope  43  2  0  0 

Interest income  181  247  0  0 

Return on plan assets excluding interest income  (238)  (129)  0  0 

Contribution by the employer  100  98  12  13 

Contribution by the employees  20  17  0  0 

Benefits paid  (808)  (416)  (12)  (13) 

Settlements  0  (526)  0  0 

Currency translation effects and reclassifications  173  (173)  0  0 

Closing balance as of 31 December  4,643  5,174  0  0 

Of which:  0 

UK  2,691  2,899  0  0 

North America (U.S. and Canada)  155  561  0  0 

Switzerland  1,674  1,603  0  0 

Others  123  110  0  0 

Reconciliation of asset ceiling

Defined benefit pension plans
Other post-employment defined 

benefit plans

Million CHF 2024 2023 2024 2023

Opening balance as of 1 January 142 271 0 0

Interest expense on asset ceiling 2 6 0 0

Change in asset ceiling (140) (135) 0 0

Closing balance as of 31 December 4 142 0 0
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Plan asset allocation

Defined benefit pension plans

Million CHF 2024 2023

Equity instruments  25%  19% 

Real estate investments  20%  18% 

Debt instruments  38%  38% 

Insurance contracts  7%  13% 

Cash and cash equivalents  3%  5% 

Other assets  7%  6% 

Total plan assets  100%  100% 

Plan assets based on non-quoted prices represent 27% (2023: 31%) of the total plan assets and mainly consist of 
insurance policies and real estate investments.

In some of the plans, Liability-Driven Investment (LDI) strategies are in place and consists in using index-linked 
government bonds and swaps to hedge the plans against liquidity risk and change in interest rates or inflation yields.

The value of insurance contracts is determined based on the membership and benefit payable under the contract using 
the IAS 19 Employee Benefits assumptions.

The other assets mainly consist of hedge funds and various other hedging instruments.
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Principal actuarial assumptions (weighted average) used at the end of the reporting period 
for defined benefit pension plans

Total Group UK North America Switzerland

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Discount rate in %  4.0 %  3.8 %  5.5 %  4.6 %  4.9 %  4.7 %  1.0 %  1.4 %

Life expectancy in years 
after the age of 65 23.0 23.0 23.5 23.4 24.2 24.0 23.6 23.5

Weighted average duration of defined benefit pension plans
Total Group UK North America  Switzerland

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Weighted average duration in years 12.0 11.9 12.2 12.7 10.9 9.6 12.8 12.3

Sensitivity analysis as of 31 December 2024 on defined benefit pension plans
Impact on the defined benefit obligation Total Group UK North America Switzerland

Million CHF Increase Decrease Increase Decrease Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Discount rate (±0.5% change in assumption) (252) 276 (144) 155 (13) 15 (80) 90

Life expectancy (±1 year change in 
assumption) 173 (177) 116 (118) 6 (7) 46 (47)

Sensitivity analysis as of 31 December 2023 on defined benefit pension plans
Impact on the defined benefit obligation Total Group UK North America Switzerland

Million CHF Increase Decrease Increase Decrease Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Discount rate (±0.5% change in assumption) (277) 307 (164) 177 (30) 37 (69) 77

Life expectancy (±1 year change in 
assumption) 191 (193) 124 (126) 19 (19) 41 (42)

The sensitivity analysis above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit pension plans, as it 
is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be 
correlated. Moreover, it is worth considering that, for most funded plans, liability hedging strategies (such as LDI 
investments) are used to mitigate the impact of changes in financial assumptions on the net pension liability.
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15.4 Share compensation plans
The total personnel expense arising from Holcim share compensation plans amounted to CHF 34.8 million in 2024 
(2023: CHF 34.3 million), as presented in the following table:

Personnel 
expenses

Personnel 
expenses

Million CHF 2024 2023

Employee share purchase plan  0.6  0.6 

Restricted shares  6.9  7.1 

Performance Share Plan and Performance Option Plan  27.3  26.6 

Total  34.8  34.3 

All shares granted under these plans are either purchased from the market or derived from treasury shares.

Description of plans
Employee share purchase plan
Holcim offers an employee share ownership plan. This plan entitles employees to acquire a limited number of 
discounted Holcim Ltd shares, namely 50 shares at 50% of the market value and further shares at 70% of the market 
value based on the average share price of the previous month. The shares cannot be sold for a period of two years from 
the purchase date.

Restricted shares
Half of the annual incentive amount for the Executive Committee is paid out in blocked Holcim Ltd shares in the first 
quarter of the following financial year. The share price used to convert the annual incentive amount into shares is the 
average of the three closing share prices preceding the award date. The shares are blocked for a period of three years 
from the award date.

Restricted share awards are also granted to senior management upon hire, compensating for share awards forfeited 
from previous employer. The vesting of these restricted shares reflects the vesting dates of forfeited awards.

Board compensation consists of an annual retainer which is paid half in shares subject to a five-year restriction period.

Performance share plan and performance option plan
Performance shares and/or options are granted to executives and senior management for their contribution to the 
continuing success of the business. These shares and options are delivered after a three-to-five-year vesting period 
following the grant date and are subject to internal and external performance conditions. Performance options have a 
maturity of ten years.

Information related to awards granted through the plans is presented below:

2024 2023

Performance 
shares

Performance 
options

Performance 
shares

Performance 
options

1 January 1,583,636 5,035,616 1,693,752 4,975,608

Granted 536,032 490,393 624,896 669,649

Forfeited (293,691) (356,077) (190,086) (609,641)

Delivered (352,979) (964,200) (544,926) 0

31 December 1,472,998 4,205,732 1,583,636 5,035,616

• 536,032 (2023: 624,896) performance shares at a weighted average fair value of CHF 73.50 per share (2023: 
CHF 57.92) were granted in 2024. Performance shares are subject to a three-year vesting period. Internal performance 
conditions are attached to the shares and are based on earnings per share before impairment and divestments, Group 
return on invested capital (ROIC) and sustainability indicators (CO₂ emitted, construction demolition materials, 
freshwater withdrawn).

• 490,393 (2023: 669,649) performance options at a fair value of CHF 4.02 (2023: CHF 3.77) were granted in 2024. 
Performance options are subject to a five-year vesting period. External conditions are attached to the options and are 
based on Holcim’s relative total shareholder return (TSR) compared with a group of peer companies. The valuation of 
the performance options is based on the Enhanced American Model (calculation of the fair value without considering 
the performance condition) and a Monte Carlo simulation (estimation of the expected achievement factor).
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Performance option plan
Movements in the number of options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

Number Number

Weighted average
exercise price 2024 2023

1 January CHF 48.93 5,048,216 5,208,931

Granted CHF 71.21 490,393 669,649

Forfeited CHF 54.12 (356,077) (609,641)

Exercised CHF 49.92 (976,800) (28,420)

Expired CHF 0.00 0 (192,303)

31 December CHF 50.85 4,205,732 5,048,216

Of which exercisable at the end of the year 0 12,600

Underlying assumptions for the fair value of the performance options granted in 2024 and 2023 are presented below:

Grant date 01 March 2024

Share price at grant date 73.50

Exercise price 71.21

Expected dividend yield (continuous)1 +3.9%

Expected volatility of stock2 +23.8%

Risk-free interest rate +1.1%

Expected life of the options 7.5 years

1  Continuously compounded dividend yield based on expected future dividend payments according to Refinitiv (formerly Thomson Reuters).
2  Based on historical volatility over the most recent period that is commensurate with the expected term of the options.

Grant date 01 March 2023

Share price at grant date 57.92

Exercise price 57.59

Expected dividend yield (continuous)1 +4.0%

Expected volatility of stock2 +26.8%

Risk-free interest rate +2.0%

Expected life of the options 7.5 years

1  Continuously compounded dividend yield based on expected future dividend payments according to Thomson Reuters.
2  Based on historical volatility over the most recent period that is commensurate with the expected term of the options.

Outstanding options
In 2024, 976,800 options were exercised. Options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and 
give the right to acquire one registered share of Holcim Ltd at the exercise prices listed below:

Number Number

Option grant date Expiry date Exercise price 2024 2023

2015 2025 CHF 50.19 0  12,600  

2019 2029 CHF 49.92 0  1,071,329  

2020 2030 CHF 45.62  1,669,835   1,684,944  

2021 2031 CHF 51.07  723,975   748,368  

2022 2032 CHF 46.14  831,895   906,671  

2023 2033 CHF 57.59 546,961  624,304  

2024 2034 CHF 71.21 433,066  0  

Total 4,205,732  5,048,216  
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16. Provisions and contingencies
16.1 Accounting principles
Site restoration and other environmental provisions
The Group provides for the costs of site restoration where a legal or constructive obligation exists. The estimated future 
costs for known restoration requirements are determined on a site-by-site basis and are calculated based on the 
present value of estimated future costs. The cost of raising a provision before exploitation of the raw materials has 
commenced is included in property, plant and equipment and depreciated over the life of the site. The effect of any 
adjustments to the provision due to further environmental damage caused by exploitation activities is recorded 
through operating costs over the life of the site, in order to reflect the best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. Changes in the measurement of a provision that result from 
changes in the estimated timing or amount of cash outflows, or a change in the discount rate, are added to or 
deducted from the cost of the related asset to the extent that they relate to the asset’s installation, construction or 
acquisition. All provisions are discounted to their present value.

Climate-related matters may affect the level of provisions recognized, such as site restoration provisions, as a result of 
levies imposed by governments for failure to meet climate-related targets or new regulations and requirements to 
remediate environmental damages on Holcim’s sites.

Specific business risks provisions
Specific business risks comprise litigation provisions, provisions for contractual risks recorded in connection with 
purchase price allocations and service-type warranties. Provisions for litigation mainly relate to antitrust and 
commercial disputes, environmental claims and product liabilities and are set up to cover legal and administrative 
proceedings.

Service-type warranties are provided by the Group in the form of separately priced extended warranties covering 
roofing systems, generally ranging from five to 30 years. Revenues from such activities are deferred and recognized in  
in the Financial Statement of Income over the life of the warranty on a straight-line basis.

The timing of cash outflows to settle provisions for litigation is uncertain, since this will largely depend on the outcome 
of administrative and legal proceedings.

The sensitivity associated with certain provisions led management to limit the extent of the disclosure discussed above, 
as it believes this could seriously prejudice the position of the Group.

Restructuring provisions
The provision for restructuring only includes direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, notably severance 
payments, early retirement costs, costs for notice periods not worked and other costs directly linked largely to the 
closure of facilities.

Other provisions
Other provisions include liabilities with cash flows of uncertain timing or amount that cannot be included in the above 
categories.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities arise from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within Holcim’s control. Accordingly, they are disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements.
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16.2 Provisions

Million CHF

Site restoration 
and other 

environmental 
provisions

Specific business 
risks provisions

Restructuring 
provisions Other provisions Total 2024 Total 2023

1 January  715  480  36  825  2,056  2,117 

Change in scope  2  1  0  11  14  85 

Reclassification  0  1  0  (1)  0  0 

Provisions recognized  62  113  34  251  460  284 

Provisions used during the year  (57)  (36)  (22)  (32)  (147)  (130) 

Provisions reversed during the year  (31)  (28)  (4)  (151)  (214)  (170) 

Unwinding of discount and discount rate changes  24  0  0  4  28  8 

Currency translation effects  19  20  1  16  56  (138) 

31 December  734  551  45  923  2,253  2,056 

Of which short-term provisions  67  89  28  203  387  348 

Of which long-term provisions  667  462  17  720  1,866  1,708 

As of 31 December 2024, other provisions of CHF 923 million mainly comprise indemnification provisions, insurance 
claims reserves, severance pay obligations, provisions for health insurance and pensions schemes which do not qualify 
as benefit obligations.

16.3 Contingencies, guarantees and commitments 
Contingencies
In the ordinary course of its business, the Group is involved in lawsuits, claims of various natures, investigations and 
proceedings, including product liability, commercial, competition, environmental, health and safety matters, among 
others. The Group operates in countries where political, economic, social and legal developments could have an impact 
on the Group’s operations.

In connection with disposals of businesses, the Group provided customary indemnification warranties, notably related 
to accounting, tax, legal compliance, litigation, labor and environmental matters. Holcim and its subsidiaries have 
received or may in the future receive notices of claims arising from such indemnification warranties.

The Group is exposed to varying degrees of uncertainty related to tax matters as well as regulatory reviews and audits. 
The Group accounts for its income taxes on the basis of its own internal analyses, supported by external advice, if 
appropriate. The Group continuously monitors its global tax position. and whenever uncertainties arise, the Group 
assesses the potential consequences and either accrues the liability or discloses a contingent liability in its financial 
statements, depending on the strength of the Group’s position and the resulting risk of loss.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s contingencies amounted to CHF 600 million (2023: CHF 706 million).

Except for what has been provided for as disclosed in Note 16.2, the Group has concluded that due to the uncertainty 
with some of the matters mentioned below, the potential losses from some of these cases cannot be reliably estimated. 
There are no further single matters pending that the Group expects to be material in relation to the Group’s business, 
financial result or results of operations.
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The following is a description of the material legal and tax matters currently ongoing. 

Legal and tax matters with new developments since last reporting period
The criminal proceedings in France against Lafarge S.A. related to its legacy operations in Syria during the country’s civil 
war in 2013 and 2014 are still pending in Paris. Lafarge S.A. was placed under formal investigation on 28 June 2018 for 
complicity in crimes against humanity, financing of terrorism, deliberate endangerment of life of others and customs 
violations. On 16 January 2024, the Supreme Court decided to uphold the charge of complicity in crimes against 
humanity and to drop the charge of deliberate endangerment of life of others. On 16 October 2024, the investigating 
judges referred Lafarge S.A., along with eight individuals, to the criminal court to be judged for the offenses of 
financing terrorism and customs violations. The hearings are scheduled from 4 November 2025 to 16 December 2025. 
The investigation is still ongoing for the offense of complicity in crimes against humanity. These decisions are not 
rulings on the merits of the case and Lafarge S.A. continues to cooperate fully with the French judicial authorities.

On 28 May 2014, the Administrative Council for Economic Defense (“CADE”) ruled that Holcim Brazil (subsequently 
LafargeHolcim (Brasil) S.A., now under the control of CSN Cimentos S.A.) along with other cement producers had 
engaged in price collusion and other anti-competitive behavior. The ruling includes behavioral remedies prohibiting 
certain greenfield projects, divestment of a ready-mix plant, and M&A activities and fines against the defendants. This 
order became enforceable on 21 September 2015 and applies to LafargeHolcim Brazil, which has been fined CHF 122 
million (BRL 509 million) as at the date of the order. In September 2015, LafargeHolcim Brazil filed an appeal against the 
order, offering a cement plant as guarantee to support its appeal. The fine and the behavioral remedies imposed by 
CADE were suspended by two decisions of the court of first instance on 29 September 2016 and 21 October 2016. In 
2024, CADE’s request to challenge the guarantee offered was granted by the Superior Court of Justice. An appeal may 
be filed against this decision. Regardless of this recent procedural development, CADE’s decision remains suspended 
for now. On the substantive proceedings, a decision on the merits of the case by the court of first instance is expected 
within 1 to 2 years, and the decision may be subject of appeal to the Federal Court of Appeals, and, subsequently, to 
the Superior Courts. Following the divestment of LafargeHolcim Brazil to CSN, the Group provided an indemnification 
guarantee for the fine including interests which as of the closing date of 6 September 2022 was CHF 163 million (BRL 
849 million).
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Previously disclosed legal matters with no developments since last reporting period
Between January 2023 and March 2024, five civil lawsuits were commenced in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern 
District of New York against Lafarge S.A. by individuals who were injured or killed in terrorist attacks in Syria, Iraq, Libya, 
Jordan, France, Spain, Turkey, and Niger from 2012 to 2017, or their heirs and family members. Lafarge Cement Holding 
Limited and Lafarge Cement Syria SA have also been named defendants in all five lawsuits. The lawsuits assert claims 
under the U.S. Antiterrorism Act, including allegations that Lafarge S.A. aided and abetted the terrorist organizations 
that committed, planned or authorized these attacks. None of the lawsuits have specified the amount of the damages 
claimed. It is difficult to predict at this early stage the outcome of these matters, including the timing or any possible 
impact on Lafarge S.A.. There is also a risk that additional plaintiffs will join these lawsuits or commence separate 
actions based on the same conduct. Lafarge S.A., Lafarge Cement Holding Limited, and Lafarge Cement Syria S.A. are 
aggressively defending the actions. They have brought motions to dismiss in the first three lawsuits and also intend to 
bring a motion to dismiss in the fourth and fifth lawsuits. As of the present date, the court has not ruled on these 
motions.

There has been litigation in Hungary for a number of years related to the ownership of assets and damage 
compensation in the context of the privatization of one of the former Holcim cement plants in Hungary. The plant was 
closed a number of years ago and remains inactive and the Group believes the plant is illegally occupied by the 
counterparty in the litigation. The litigation related to the ownership of assets was closed in 2023. The litigation 
regarding damage compensation is ongoing in courts in Hungary and Holcim will continue to defend its legal position.

In July 2016, LafargeHolcim (Brasil) S.A. received an assessment from the Brazilian Internal Revenue Service, claiming 
the reversal of deducted goodwill for the years 2011 and 2012. The amount in dispute is CHF 75 million (BRL 431 
million). After challenging the assessment, the company received a favorable decision from the Administrative Tax 
Appeals Council in August 2018. The Brazilian Internal Revenue Service (BRA IRS) has appealed this decision before the 
Superior Administrative Chamber, still pending a judgment. In November 2018, LafargeHolcim (Brasil) S.A. received a 
further assessment from the Brazilian Internal Revenue Service, again claiming reversal of deducted goodwill for the 
years 2013 and 2014. The amount in dispute for this case is CHF 61 million (BRL 351 million). The company challenged 
it and received a favorable decision at the 1st Administrative Level. The BRA IRS appealed to the CARF (Administrative 
Tax Appeals Council), and its merit judgment is still pending. In December 2019, LafargeHolcim (Brasil) S.A. received a 
third assessment on the same topic, referring to the year 2015. The amount in dispute for this year is CHF 5 million (BRL 
28 million). The company has challenged it at 1st Administrative Level, had an unfavorable decision and appealed in 
November 2020 to the Administrative Tax Appeals Council. In 2022, the Group divested LafargeHolcim (Brasil) S.A., but 
will continue to be liable for these assessments.

The Competition Commission of India (“CCI”) issued in June 2012 and, after a successful appeal, again in August 2016 
an order imposing a penalty of CHF 60 million (INR 4,900 million) as of the closing date 15 September 2022 on the 
divested subsidiary Lafarge India for which the Group provided an indemnification guarantee. The order found Lafarge 
India together with other cement producers in India to have engaged in price coordination and imposed penalties on 
the cement companies and their trade association. The company appealed the order before the Competition Appellate 
Tribunal (“COMPAT”). As per the interim order passed by COMPAT in 2016, the company placed a deposit of 10% of the 
penalty amounts with a financial institution with a lien in favor of COMPAT. In May 2017, all matters pending before 
COMPAT were transferred to the National Company Law Appellate Tribunal (“NCLAT”). In July 2018, the NCLAT 
dismissed the appeal of Lafarge India (now known as Nuvoco Vistas Corporation) against the CCI order and upheld the 
fine imposed. The company filed an appeal with the Supreme Court, which was admitted on 5 October 2018, and the 
interim order passed by COMPAT was directed to be continued. The tentative next date of hearing before the Supreme 
Court will possibly be during 2025.

Guarantees
At 31 December 2024, the Group’s guarantees issued in the ordinary course of business amounted to CHF 1,028 million 
(2023: CHF 942 million).

Commitments
In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into purchase commitments for goods and services including 
power purchase agreements, buy and sell investments, associated companies and Group companies or portions 
thereof. It is common practice for the Group to make offers or receive call or put options in connection with such 
acquisitions and divestments. As part of its strategy to decarbonize its energy mix, the Group enters into power 
purchase agreements to secure sourcing of power from renewable energy.

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s commitments amounted to CHF 2,578 million (2023: CHF 2,202 million) and 
included CHF 1,943 million (2023: CHF 1,737 million) related to the purchase of various products, inventories and 
services and CHF 635 million (2023: CHF 464 million) related to the purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets. The variance in commitments from 2023 is primarily related to higher CapEx commitments for 
decarbonization projects in Europe and an increase in commodity volumes.
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17. Shareholders’ information
17.1 Equity
On 28 May 2024, Holcim exercised the redemption option on the EUR 500 million (CHF 490 million) subordinated fixed
rate resettable perpetual notes issued on 5 April 2019 at an initial fixed coupon of 3.0%. 

On 7 December 2023, Holcim exercised the redemption option on the CHF 200 million subordinated fixed rate 
resettable perpetual notes issued on 28 November 2018 at an initial fixed coupon of 3.5%.

There were no outstanding subordinated fixed rate resettable perpetual notes carried in equity as of 31 December 2024 
(2023: CHF 550 million).

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 32 Financial Instruments – Presentation, and given their characteristics, these 
instruments were recognized in equity in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

The redemption of the subordinated fixed rate resettable perpetual notes is disclosed in “Repayment from 
subordinated fixed rate resettable notes” in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares and share options are recognized as a 
deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. Treasury shares (own equity instruments held by the Group) are 
accounted for as a reduction of equity at acquisition cost and are not subsequently remeasured. When shares are sold 
out of treasury shares, the resulting profit or loss is recognized in equity, net of tax.

17.2 Information on share capital

Number of registered shares 31 December 2024 2023

Total outstanding shares 551,015,549 561,823,424

Treasury shares

Share buyback program 12,249,093 0

Other treasury shares 15,859,964 17,301,182

Total treasury shares 28,109,057 17,301,182

Total issued shares 579,124,606 579,124,606

Shares out of conditional share capital

Reserved for convertible bonds 1,422,350 1,422,350

Total shares out of conditional share capital 1,422,350 1,422,350

Total shares 580,546,956 580,546,956

The par value per share is CHF 2.00. The share capital amounts to nominal CHF 1,158 million (2023: CHF 1,158 million) 
and the carrying amount of the treasury shares amounts to CHF 1,744 million (2023: CHF 811 million).

In March 2024, Holcim initiated a share buyback program of up to CHF 1 billion. Through this program, Holcim 
repurchased 12,249,093 shares – equivalent to 2.1% of its share capital – for a total amount of CHF 1 billion at an 
average purchase price of CHF 81.6 per share. Cancellation of the repurchased shares will be subject to approval at the 
Annual General Meeting to be held on 14 May 2025. As a result, the share capital of Holcim Ltd will be reduced to 
CHF 1,133,751,026 and divided into 566,875,513 shares.

Swiss tax regulations prescribe to use at least 50% from the capital contribution reserves for shares purchased back for 
cancellation. The nominal value of CHF 2.00 per share is tax-exempt. For the shares bought back as of 31 December 
2024, the domestic capital contribution reserves are affected by a reduction of CHF 488 million.

In May 2023, Holcim completed its share buyback program initiated on 14 November 2022. Through this program, 
Holcim repurchased 36,804,453 shares – equivalent to 6.0% of its share capital – for a total amount of CHF 2 billion at 
an average purchase price of CHF 54.3 per share. Cancellation of the repurchased shares was approved at the Annual 
General Meeting held on 4 May 2023. As a result, the share capital of Holcim Ltd reduced to CHF 1,158 million divided 
into 579,124,606 shares.

For the shares bought back and canceled as of 30 June 2023, the domestic capital contribution reserves are affected by 
a reduction of CHF 963 million (CHF 747 million in the first half of 2023; CHF 216 million in the 2022 financial year).

Number of registered shares 31 December 2024 2023

Total issued shares as of 1 January 579,124,606 615,929,059

Share buyback program 0  (36,804,453) 

Total issued shares as of 31 December 579,124,606 579,124,606
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18. Related party transactions
The main related parties are associates and joint ventures, the members of the Board of Directors and the members of 
the Executive Committee.

Key management compensation 
Board of Directors
In 2024, eleven non-executive members of the Board of Directors received in total compensation of CHF 4.8 million 
(2023: CHF 3.4 million) of which CHF 2.7 million was paid in cash (2023: CHF 1.9 million), CHF 0.03 million in the form of 
social security contributions (2023: CHF 0.02 million), and CHF 2.0 million in shares (2023: CHF 1.3 million). Other 
compensation paid totaled CHF 0.1 million (2023: CHF 0.1 million).

Executive Committee
The total annual compensation for the ten members of the Executive Committee for 2024 amounted to 
CHF 27.0 million (2023: CHF 33.6 million). This amount comprises base salaries, other fixed pay and annual incentive of 
CHF 17.3 million (2023: CHF 21.9 million), equity-based long-term incentive of CHF 7.2 million (2023: CHF 8.4 million) 
as well as employer contributions to social security and pension plans of CHF 2.5 million (2023: CHF 3.3 million).

Compensation for former members of governing bodies
In 2024, a former member of the Executive Committee received total compensation of CHF 0.9 million 
(2023: CHF 0.2 million).

In 2024 and 2023, no payments were made to parties closely related to members of the governing bodies.

Loans granted to members of governing bodies
There were no loans granted to members of the Executive Committee, members of the Board of Directors or to parties 
closely related to members of governing bodies outstanding on 31 December 2024 or 2023.

Other transactions
As part of the employee share purchase plan, Holcim manages employees’ shares. It sells Holcim Ltd shares to 
employees and purchases shares in the open market. In 2024 and 2023, the company did not purchase any Holcim Ltd 
shares from members of the Executive Committee.

Transactions with associates and joint ventures
The Group’s transactions and outstanding balances with associates and joint ventures are summarized in 
the table below:
Million CHF 2024 2023

Net sales 191 259

Purchase of goods (242) (263)

Trade accounts receivable 42 61

Other current receivables 10 10

Current financial receivables 13 13

Long-term financial receivables 25 78

Trade accounts payable 141 116

Other current liabilities 3 3

Current financial liabilities 29 32

Long-term financial liabilities 0 1
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19. Cash flow from investing activities

Million CHF Notes 2024 2023

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, net

Replacements  (1,051)  (1,017) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  173  96 

Capital expenditures on property, plant and equipment to maintain productive capacity and to 
secure competitiveness  (878)  (921) 

Expansion investments  (599)  (487) 

Total purchase of property, plant and equipment, net (a)  (1,477)  (1,408) 

Acquisition of participation in Group companies (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) 2.3  (984)  (1,975) 

Disposal of participation in Group companies (net of cash and equivalents disposed of) 2.3  472  6 

Purchase of financial assets, intangible and other assets

Purchase of financial investments including associates and joint ventures  (9)  (16) 

Purchase of other financial assets, intangible and other assets  (239)  (235) 

Total purchase of financial assets, intangible and other assets  (248)  (251) 

Disposal of financial assets, intangible and other assets

Disposal of financial investments including associates and joint ventures  6  6 

Disposal of other financial assets, intangible and other assets  194  153 

Total disposal of financial assets, intangible and other assets  200  159 

Total (purchase) disposal of Group companies, financial assets, intangible and other assets, net 
(b)  (560)  (2,061) 

Total cash flow from investing activities (a + b)  (2,037)  (3,469) 

20. Events after the reporting period
There were no significant events after the reporting period.

21. Authorization of the financial statements for issuance
The consolidated Financial Statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd on 
27 February 2025 and are subject to shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders scheduled for 
14 May 2025.
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Statement of income Holcim Ltd
Million CHF Notes 2024 2023

Dividend income – Group companies  791  1,137 

Financial income – Group companies 2  470  265 

Financial income – third parties  44  18 

Other income 3  742  328 

Total income  2,047  1,748 

Financial expenses – Group companies  (205)  (175) 

Financial expenses – third parties  (14)  (14) 

Other expenses 4  (360)  (806) 

Impairment of financial investments and financial receivables – Group companies 5  (145)  (28) 

Total expenses  (724)  (1,023) 

Net income before taxes  1,323  725 

Income taxes  (39)  (38) 

Net income  1,284  687 

HOLDING COMPANY RESULTS
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Statement of financial position Holcim Ltd
Million CHF Notes 2024 2023

Cash and cash equivalents  229  371 

Current financial receivables – Group companies  226  162 

Current financial receivables  – third parties  248  228 

Other current receivables – Group companies  151  150 

Other current receivables – third parties  8  6 

Total current assets  862  917 

Non-current financial receivables – Group companies 6  5,106  4,828 

Financial investments – Group companies 7  31,227  32,779 

Other non-current assets  18  0 

Total non-current assets  36,351  37,607 

Total assets  37,213  38,524 

Current interest-bearing liabilities – Group companies  553  284 

Current interest-bearing liabilities – third parties 8  150  440 

Other current liabilities – Group companies  67  73 

Other current liabilities – third parties  173  151 

Total current liabilities  943  948 

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities – Group companies  4,672  4,591 

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities – third parties 9  0  150 

Other non-current liabilities – third parties  95  113 

Total non-current liabilities  4,767  4,854 

Total liabilities  5,710  5,802 

Share capital 14  1,158  1,158 

Capital reserves from tax capital contributions

–  Domestic 10  63  551 

–  Foreign  10,584  12,154 

Statutory retained earnings  2,531  2,531 

Retained earnings  17,627  16,452 

Net income  1,284  687 

Treasury shares 10  (1,744)  (811) 

Total shareholders' equity  31,503  32,722 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  37,213  38,524 
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Holcim Ltd, with registered office in Zug, is the ultimate holding 
company of Holcim Group, which comprises subsidiaries, associated 
companies and joint ventures around the world. During the reporting 
period, Holcim Ltd employed fewer than ten employees (2023: fewer 
than ten employees).

1. Accounting Policies
Basis of preparation
The financial statements of Holcim Ltd comply with the requirements of the Swiss accounting legislation of the Swiss 
Code of Obligations (SCO). Holcim Ltd is presenting consolidated financial statements according to IFRS® Accounting 
Standards. As a result, these financial statements and notes do not include additional disclosures, a cash flow 
statement or a management report.

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this report may not add up precisely to the totals provided. All ratios 
and variances are calculated using the underlying amount rather than the presented rounded amount.

As of 1 January 2024 Holcim Ltd merged with its subsidiary, Holcim IP Ltd.

Accounting principles applied
Other income and expenses
Non-monetary assets and liabilities are carried at historical rates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
translated at year-end exchange rates. Realized exchange gains and losses and all unrealized exchange losses arising 
from these as well as those from business transactions are recorded as other income or other expenses. Unrealized 
exchange gains on non-current assets and liabilities are deferred.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are bank accounts and short-term deposits, highly liquid and readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Financial receivables
Financial receivables are valued at acquisition cost less any impairment of value.

The CO₂ certificates are classified as current financial receivables and valued at acquisition costs less impairment of the 
value. The result of the sales of the CO₂ certificates is recorded in other income and other expenses.

Financial investments
Financial investments are initially recognized at cost. Investments in Holcim Group subsidiaries are assessed annually 
and in case of an impairment adjusted to their recoverable amount.

Other assets
Other assets contain goodwill and other intangible assets, which are capitalized and amortized over a period between 
three and seven years.

Interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities are valued at nominal value. Any bond premium is accrued over the duration of the bond so 
that at maturity the balance sheet amount will equal the amount that is due to be paid.

Provisions
Provisions are made to cover general business risks.

Treasury shares
Treasury shares are recognized at acquisition cost and deducted from equity. Gains and losses on the sale are 
recognized in the statement of income.

2. Financial income – Group companies
The financial income – Group companies amounts to CHF 470 million (2023: CHF 265 million), of which CHF 154 million 
financial income related to prior year transactions.
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3. Other income
The other income contains intangible property related fees of CHF 309 million (2023: CHF 259 million), net foreign 
exchange gains of CHF 397 million (2023: CHF 0 million) and other income of CHF 36 million (2023: CHF 69 million).

4. Other expenses
The other expenses contain stewardship, project and litigation expenses of CHF 323 million (2023: CHF 363 million), 
administrative expenses of CHF 16 million (2023: CHF 15 million), other expenses of CHF 21 million (2023: 
CHF 83 million) and net foreign exchange losses of CHF 0 million (2023: CHF 345 million).

5. Impairment of financial investments and financial receivables – Group companies
In the reporting period there have been impairments on financial investments and financial receivables in the amount 
of CHF 145 million (2023: CHF 28 million). 

6. Non-current financial receivables – Group companies
The non-current financial receivables amount to CHF 5,106 million (2023: CHF 4,828 million). Holcim Ltd granted a 
subordinated loan of USD 3,500 million to a fully owned subsidiary.

7. Financial investments – Group companies
The principal direct and indirect subsidiaries and other holdings of Holcim Ltd are shown in Note 2.4 to the Group’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

8. Current interest-bearing liabilities – third parties
Million CHF 2024 2023

1.00% fixed, Bond, 2018-2024  0  440 

1.00% fixed, Bond, 2015-2025  150  0 

Total  150  440 

9. Non-current interest-bearing liabilities – third parties
Million CHF 2024 2023

1.00% fixed, Bond, 2015-2025  0  150 

Total  0  150 

10. Treasury shares movements in equity

Number held by 
Holcim Ltd Million CHF

Average price 
per share in CHF

Number held by 
subsidiaries

Reserve for treasury 
shares held by 
subsidiaries in 

Million CHF
Average price 

per share in CHF

01.01.2024 Opening  17,301,182 811 46.9  0  0  0.0 

2024 Purchases share buyback program  12,249,093 1,000 81.6  0  0  0.0 

2024 Sales and delivery for remuneration 
plans  (1,441,218)  (67) 46.9  0  0  0.0 

31.12.2024 Closing  28,109,057 1,744 62.0  0  0  0.0 

01.01.2023 Opening  27,364,975 1,297 47.4  0  0  0.0 

2023 Purchases share buyback program  27,503,069 1,550 56.4  0  0  0.0 

2023 Cancellation of shares from share 
buyback program  (36,804,453)  (2,000) 54.3  0  0  0.0 

2023 Sales and delivery for remuneration 
plans  (762,409)  (36) 46.9  0  0  0.0 

31.12.2023 Closing  17,301,182 811 46.9  0  0  0.0 

In March 2024, Holcim initiated a share buyback program of up to CHF 1 billion. Through this program, Holcim 
repurchased 12,249,093 shares – equivalent to 2.1% of its share capital – for a total amount of CHF 1 billion at an 
average purchase price of CHF 81.6 per share. Cancellation of the repurchased shares will be subject to approval at the 
Annual General Meeting to be held on 14 May 2025.

Swiss tax regulations prescribe to use at least 50% from the capital contribution reserves for shares purchased back for 
cancellation. The nominal value of CHF 2.00 per share is tax-exempt. For the shares bought back as of 31 December 
2024, the domestic capital contribution reserves are affected by a reduction of CHF 488 million.

In May 2023, Holcim completed its share buyback program initiated on 14 November 2022. Through this program, 
Holcim repurchased 36,804,453 shares – equivalent to 6.0% of its share capital – for a total amount of CHF 2 billion at 
an average purchase price of CHF 54.3 per share. Cancellation of the repurchased shares was approved at the Annual 
General Meeting held on 4 May 2023.

For the shares bought back and canceled as of 30 June 2023, the domestic capital contribution reserves are affected by 
a reduction of CHF 963 million (CHF 747 million in the first half of 2023; CHF 216 million in 2022 financial year).
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11. Contingent liabilities
Million CHF 2024 2023

Guarantees in favor of subsidiaries to cover capital and interest of bonds, private placements, Schuldschein loans, 
credit facilities and commercial paper programs  11,916  12,643 

Guarantees for committed credit lines, utilization CHF 0 million (2023: CHF 0 million)  4,576  5,104 

Other guarantees and commitments  275  0 

Total  16,767  17,747 

Holcim Ltd is part of a value added tax group and therefore jointly liable to the Swiss Federal Tax Administration for the 
value added tax liabilities of the other members.

Holcim Ltd guarantees Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A. any amount needed to fulfill its obligations from financing 
agreements.

12. Share interests of the Board of Directors and Executive Committee
Shares owned by the Board of Directors
On 31 December 2024, the members of the Board of Directors held a total of 624,101 (2023: 669,873) registered shares 
in Holcim Ltd. This number comprises privately acquired shares and those allotted under the Group’s participation and 
compensation schemes.

Name Position
Shares held as of

31 December 2024
Shares held as of 

31 December 2023

Jan Jenisch Chairman 540,000 600,000

Hanne B. Sørensen Vice-Chairwoman 23,176 20,105

Philippe Block Member 6,575 5,039

Kim Fausing Member 6,575 5,039

Leanne Geale Member 2,638 1,102

Catrin Hinkel Member (since 8 May 2024) 0 0

Naina Lal Kidwai Member 8,542 7,006

Ilias Läber Member 11,043 9,102

Michael McGarry Member (since 8 May 2024) 0 0

Jürg Oleas Member 17,010 15,474

Claudia Sender Ramirez Member 8,542 7,006

Total 624,101 669,873
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Ownership of shares and options: Executive Committee
As of 31 December 2024, the members of the Executive Committee held a total of 308,626 (2023: 951,339) registered 
shares in Holcim Ltd. This figure includes both privately acquired shares and those allocated under participation and 
the Group’s compensation schemes.

Furthermore, at the end of 2024, the Executive Committee held a total of 749,916 (2023: 1,994,360) performance 
options (at target) and 136,132 (2023: 301,600) performance shares (at target); these arose as a result of the participation 
and compensation schemes of various years. Options are issued solely on registered shares in Holcim Ltd. One option 
entitles the holder to buy one registered share in Holcim Ltd.

Number of shares and options held by Executive Committee members as of 31 December 2024

Name Position
Total number 

of shares owned

Total number 
of performance 

options held 
(at target)

Total number 
of performance 

options held 
(at maximum)

Total number of 
performance shares 

held (at target)

Total number of 
performance shares 
held (at maximum)

Miljan Gutovic CEO 107,040 218,731 437,461 35,466 70,932

Nollaig Forrest Member 4,370 23,246 46,491 10,254 20,508

Jamie Gentoso Member 30,997 99,869 199,738 23,235 46,470

Steffen Kindler Member 7,455 38,267 76,534 15,631 31,262

Martin Kriegner Member 108,764 183,961 367,922 25,535 51,070

Oliver Osswald Member 50,000 185,842 371,683 26,011 52,022

Total 308,626 749,916 1,499,829 136,132 272,264

Number of shares and options held by Executive Committee members as of 31 December 2023

Name Position
Total number 

of shares owned

Total number 
of performance 

options held 
(at target)

Total number 
of performance 

options held 
(at maximum)

Total number of 
performance shares 

held (at target)

Total number of 
performance shares 
held (at maximum)

Jan Jenisch CEO 600,000 1,023,681 2,047,362 129,445 258,890

Nollaig Forrest Member 0 5,581 11,162 6,745 13,490

Mathias Gaertner Member 21,463 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Jamie Gentoso Member 22,139 79,703 159,405 24,646 49,292

Feliciano González Muñoz Member 69,506 193,205 386,409 26,673 53,346

Miljan Gutovic Member 84,909 201,503 403,005 28,724 57,448

Steffen Kindler Member 1,000 17,005 34,009 9,241 18,482

Martin Kriegner Member 91,124 210,462 420,923 28,428 56,856

Oliver Osswald Member 50,000 208,066 416,132 28,724 57,448

Toufic Tabbara Member 11,198 55,154 110,308 18,974 37,948

Total 951,339 1,994,360 3,988,715 301,600 603,200
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13. Significant shareholders
According to the share register and disclosed through notifications filed with Holcim Ltd and the SIX Swiss Exchange, 
shareholders owning 3% or more are as follows:

Percentage of shares outstanding 2024 2023

Thomas Schmidheiny1 6.5 6.4

UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG2 5.6 3.0

BlackRock Inc.3 5.2 5.2

Holcim Ltd4 4.9 < 3.0

Martin and Rosmarie Ebner5 3.1 3.1

Dodge & Cox6 < 3.0 3.2

1  Excluding the shares of the family members; Thomas Schmidheiny directly and indirectly held 6.5% as of 31 December 2024.
2  UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG declared holdings of 5.6% as of 9 May 2024.
3  BlackRock Inc. declared holdings of 5.2% as of 24 June 2023.
4  Holcim Ltd held 4.9% as of 31 December 2024.
5  Martin and Rosmarie Ebner declared holdings of 3.1% as of 17 June 2023.
6  Dodge & Cox’s participation fell under 3.0% as of 30 August 2024.

The individual reports can be accessed on the reporting and publication platform of the Disclosure Office of SIX Swiss 
Exchange under: ser-ag.com/significant-shareholders

14. Share capital
As of 31 December 2024, Holcim Ltd’s share capital amounts to CHF 1,158 million (2023: CHF 1,158 million) and 
consists of 579,124,606 registered shares (2023: 579,124,606) with a nominal value of CHF 2.00 each.
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Special distribution by way of a dividend-in-kind to effect the spin-off of Amrize Ltd 
(including appropriation of available earnings)
Million CHF 2024 2023

Capital reserves from tax capital contributions:

– Domestic 63 551

– Foreign 10,584 12,154

Total available capital reserves from tax capital contributions 10,647 12,705

Available earnings:

Retained earnings 17,627 16,452

Net income of the year 1,284 687

Total available earnings 18,911 17,139

Appropriation proposed by the Board of Directors (special distribution by way of a dividend-in-kind 
to effect the spin-off of Amrize Ltd)1 (7,473) 0

Proposed distribution from foreign capital reserves from tax capital contributions as part of the 
special distribution by way of a dividend-in-kind to effect the spin-off of Amrize Ltd (1,774) 0

Total foreign capital reserves from tax capital contributions after appropriation of dividend-in-kind 
(but before payment of the cash dividend) 8,810 0

Total available earnings after appropriation of dividend-in-kind1 11,438 17,139

Balance to be carried forward1 11,438 17,139

1  Based on currently estimated book value of the Spin-off Distribution of approximately CHF 9,247 million. Depending on the final book value of the Spin-off Distribution, 
this amount may be subject to change, but in any case, it will not exceed the sum of CHF 1,774 million and available earnings of Holcim Ltd (of CHF 18,911 million).

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting to distribute, by way of a dividend-in-kind, of 1 share in 
Amrize Ltd (an “Amrize Share”) for every dividend-bearing share of Holcim Ltd (the “Spin-off Distribution”). On the 
statutory stand-alone balance sheet of Holcim Ltd, the Spin-off Distribution shall be made at the book value of Amrize 
Ltd (“Amrize”), amounting immediately prior to the Spin-off Distribution to a total of approximately CHF 9,247 million 
(estimated), but in any case not exceeding the sum of CHF 1,774 million and available earnings of Holcim Ltd (of 
CHF 18,911 million), and shall be booked in the amount of CHF  1,774 million against foreign capital reserves from tax 
capital contribution and in the remaining amount against available earnings of CHF 18,911 million (comprising retained 
earnings of CHF 17,627 million carried forward from the previous year and net income for 2024 of CHF 1,284 million). 
The Board of Directors shall determine in its discretion the treatment of holders of physical share certificates 
(“Heimverwahrer”) that do not timely deposit their share certificates to receive Amrize Shares (it being understood that 
respective Amrize Shares shall generally be sold and net cash proceeds shall be delivered to such holders in lieu of 
Amrize Shares) as well as measures that may be required or advisable under applicable sanctions laws. No distribution 
will be made with respect to treasury shares held by Holcim Ltd at the time of the Spin-off Distribution.

The Spin-off Distribution is subject to the following conditions precedent:
1. The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) shall have declared effective the registration statement on

  Form 10 filed by Amrize with the SEC pursuant to the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for the registration of 
 the Amrize Shares and no stop order relating to the registration statement shall be in effect, and no proceedings for
  that purpose shall be pending before or threatened by the SEC;

2. The New York Stock Exchange shall have approved the listing of the Amrize Shares, subject to official notice 
 of issuance;

3. The SIX Swiss Exchange shall have approved the listing of the Amrize Shares, subject to customary formal 
 requirements;

4. The registration statement on Form 10 shall have been approved by the SIX Prospectus Office for the purpose of the 
 listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange in accordance with article 54 of the Swiss Federal Act on Financial Services dated 
 15 June 2018 (SR 950.1);

5. Holcim shall have received tax opinions from Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP and a nationally recognized 
 accounting firm, substantially to the effect that, among other things, the Spin-off Distribution, together with certain 
 internal reorganization transactions undertaken in anticipation of the Spin-off Distribution, will qualify as a 
 reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a)(1)(D) and Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
 amended;

6. All actions, filings, permits, registrations and consents necessary or appropriate under applicable federal, state or 
 other securities laws or “blue sky” laws and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to Amrize shall have
 been taken or made and, where applicable, become effective or accepted;
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7. No order, injunction or decree issued by any governmental authority of competent jurisdiction or other legal 
 restraint or prohibition preventing consummation of the separation of the Amrize business, the spin-off of Amrize, 
 the Spin-off Distribution or any of the related transactions shall be in effect, and no other event outside the control 
 of Holcim shall have occurred or failed to occur that prevents the consummation of the separation of the Amrize 
 business or the spin-off of Amrize (including, but not limited to, Holcim not being able to complete the internal 
 transactions to separate the business currently constituting the Amrize business of Holcim from the other 
 businesses, due to elements outside of its reasonable control); 

8. No other events or developments shall have occurred or exist prior to the ex-dividend date of the Spin-off 
 Distribution that, in the reasonable judgment of the Board of Directors, would result in the separation of the Amrize 
 business, the spin-off of Amrize, the Spin-off Distribution or the related transactions having a material adverse effect 
 (including, but not limited to, material adverse tax consequences or risks) on Holcim or its shareholders.

The Board of Directors shall (i) determine whether these conditions precedent are satisfied and, to the extent legally 
permissible, have authority to waive the afore-mentioned conditions precedent if such waiver is, in the judgment of the 
Board of Directors, in the best interest of Holcim and its shareholders; and (ii) set the record, ex-dividend and 
settlement dates of the Spin-off Distribution, which shall occur as soon as practicable following the satisfaction (or 
waiver) of these conditions precedent.

The remaining amount of available earnings that is not used for the Spin-off Distribution shall be carried forward to the 
new accounts.
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Distribution of cash dividend payable out of foreign capital reserves from tax capital contributions
Million CHF 2024 2023

Capital reserves from tax capital contributions:1

– Domestic 63 551

– Foreign1 8,810 12,154

 Total available capital reserves from tax capital contributions1 8,873 12,705

Proposed distribution of a cash dividend from foreign capital reserves from tax capital contributions
(gross dividend of CHF 3.10 (2023: CHF 2.80) per dividend-bearing share)2 (1,716) (1,573)

Balance to be carried forward 7,157 11,132

1  Assuming that the Annual General Meeting approves the special distribution by way of a dividend-in-kind to effect the spin-off of Amrize Ltd (including appropriation of 
available earnings).

2  Dividend-bearing shares are all shares except for treasury shares held by Holcim Ltd as of the record date. The amount of CHF 1,716 million is presented based on the 
total estimated number of outstanding shares at the time of the distribution of the cash dividend. 

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting of shareholders to distribute a cash dividend from the 
foreign reserves from tax capital contributions of CHF 3.10 (2023: CHF 2.80) per registered share of CHF 2.00 par value 
up to an amount of CHF 1,716 million.

No distribution will be made with respect to treasury shares held by Holcim Ltd at the time of the distribution of the 
cash dividend. 
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TO THE GENERAL MEETING OF HOLCIM LTD, ZUG 
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TO THE GENERAL MEETING OF HOLCIM LTD, ZUG CONTINUED
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Statement of income

Net sales Million CHF  26,407  27,009  29,189  26,834  23,142 

Gross profit Million CHF  11,676  11,498  11,614  11,536  9,689 

Recurring EBITDA after leases Million CHF  6,677  6,378  6,554  6,562  5,616 

Recurring EBIT Million CHF  5,049  4,760  4,752  4,612  3,676 

Recurring EBIT margin %  19.1  17.6  16.3  17.2  15.9 

Operating profit (EBIT) Million CHF  4,642  4,577  3,221  4,401  3,371 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of 
operating assets Million CHF  (2,219)  (2,076)  (2,845)  (2,337)  (2,515) 

Income taxes Million CHF  981  999  1,027  963  717 

Tax rate %  24  24  23  26  26 

Net income Million CHF  3,042  3,176  3,528  2,681  2,002 

Net income – shareholders of Holcim Ltd Million CHF  2,926  3,060  3,308  2,298  1,697 

Statement of cash flows

Cash flow from operating activities Million CHF  5,667  5,470  4,562  5,045  4,618 

Free Cash Flow after leases Million CHF  3,801  3,705  2,765  3,264  3,249 

Investments in property, plant and equipment for 
maintenance net Million CHF  (878)  (921)  (865)  (829)  (647) 

Investments in property, plant and equipment for 
expansion Million CHF  (599)  (487)  (570)  (591)  (379) 

(Purchase) Disposal of financial assets, intangible and 
other assets and businesses net Million CHF  (560)  (2,061)  3,516  (3,291)  (205) 

Statement of financial position

Current assets Million CHF  12,187  12,842  16,784  13,696  10,886 

Non-current assets Million CHF  42,098  39,844  40,819  46,188  42,338 

Total assets Million CHF  54,285  52,686  57,603  59,885  53,224 

Current liabilities Million CHF  9,754  8,904  8,857  9,745  8,178 

Non-current liabilities Million CHF  16,575  16,999  19,132  19,666  16,422 

Total shareholders' equity Million CHF  27,956  26,783  29,614  30,473  28,625 

Shareholders' equity as % of total assets %  51.5  50.8  51.4  50.9  53.8 

Non-controlling interests Million CHF  716  786  940  2,788  2,553 

Net financial debt Million CHF  8,448  7,896  6,032  9,977  8,483 

Personnel

Number of personnel (FTE)  63,665  63,448  60,422  69,672  67,409 

5-YEAR-REVIEW HOLCIM GROUP
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Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements
This document contains forward-looking statements relating to the Group’s future business, development and 
economic performance. Such forward-looking statements do not constitute forecasts regarding results or any other 
performance indicator, but rather trends or targets, as the case may be, including with respect to plans, initiatives, 
events, products, solutions and services, their development and potential. Although Holcim believes that the 
expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions as at the time of 
publishing this document, investors are cautioned that these statements are not guarantees of future performance. 
Actual results may differ materially from the forward-looking statements made in this document as a result of a number 
of risks and uncertainties, many of which are difficult to predict and generally beyond the control of Holcim, including 
but not limited to the risks described in this Annual Report and uncertainties related to the market conditions and the 
implementation of our plans. Accordingly, we caution you against relying on forward-looking statements. Holcim 
assumes no obligation to update or alter forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future 
events or otherwise.

Disclaimer
The complete Annual Report for Holcim Ltd is published in English and is available on holcim.com. A printed extract of 
the Annual Report will be available in English and German from April 2025. The English version is legally binding.

Financial reporting calendar

Date

Results for the first quarter 25 April 2025

Annual General Meeting of 
shareholders

14 May 2025
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Organic growth
Organic growth information factors out changes in the scope of consolidation (such as divestments and acquisitions 
occurring in the current year and the prior year) and currency translation effects (current-year figures are converted with 
prior-year exchange rates in order to calculate the currency effects).

Growth in local currency
Growth in local currency factors in organic growth and acquisitions and divestments by excluding currency translation 
effects.

Recurring operating costs
The recurring operating costs indicator represents all recurring costs. It is defined as:

+/– Recurring EBITDA after leases
– Net sales
– Share of profit of joint ventures

Recurring EBITDA
The Recurring EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization) measures the performance of the 
Group excluding the impacts of non-recurring items. It is defined as:

+/– Operating profit/loss (EBIT)
– Depreciation, amortization and impairment of operating assets
– Restructuring, litigation and other non-recurring costs

Recurring EBITDA margin
The Recurring EBITDA margin measures the profitability of the Group excluding the impacts of non-recurring items. It is 
defined as the Recurring EBITDA divided by net sales.

Recurring EBITDA after leases
The Recurring EBITDA after leases (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization) measures the 
performance of the Group including the impacts of lease depreciation and excluding the impacts of non-recurring 
items. It is defined as the Recurring EBITDA less the depreciation of right-of-use assets.

Recurring EBIT
The Recurring EBIT is defined as operating profit/loss (EBIT) adjusted for restructuring, litigation, other non-recurring 
costs and for impairment of operating assets.

Recurring EBIT margin
The Recurring EBIT margin measures the profitability of the Group excluding the impacts of restructuring, litigation and 
other non-recurring costs. It is defined as the Recurring EBIT divided by net sales.

Restructuring, litigation and other non-recurring costs
Restructuring, litigation and other non-recurring costs relate to significant items that, because of their exceptional 
nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to the Group’s ongoing performance, such as strategic restructuring, major items 
relating to antitrust fines and other business-related litigation cases.

Profit (loss) on disposals and other non-operating items
Profit and loss on disposals and other non-operating items comprise gains or losses on the disposals of Group 
companies, associates and joint ventures, other non-operating items that are not directly related to the Group’s 
operating activities such as revaluation gains or losses on previously held equity interests, indemnification provisions 
and disputes with minority shareholders.

Operating profit/loss (EBIT) before impairment
The operating profit/loss (EBIT) before impairment measures the profit earned from the Group’s core business activities 
excluding impairment charges which, because of their exceptional nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to the Group’s 
ongoing activities. It is defined as:

+/– Operating profit/loss
– Impairment of goodwill and long-term assets

Net income/loss before taxes, impairment and divestments
Net income/loss before taxes, impairment and divestments excludes impairment charges and capital gains and losses 
arising on disposals of investments which, because of their exceptional nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to the 
Group’s ongoing activities. It is defined as:

+/– Net income/loss before taxes
– Gains and losses on disposals of Group companies
– Impairment of goodwill and long-term assets

DEFINITION OF ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES USED IN THIS REPORT

370  HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report



Net income/loss before impairment and divestments
Net income/loss before impairment and divestments excludes impairment charges and capital gains and losses arising 
on disposals of investments which, because of their exceptional nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to the Group’s 
ongoing activities. This indicator is net of taxation and is defined as:

+/– Net income/loss
– Gains and losses on disposals of Group companies, net of taxation
– Impairment of goodwill and long-term assets, net of taxation

Earnings per share (EPS) before impairment and divestments
Earnings per share (EPS) before impairment and divestments measures the theoretical profitability per share of stock 
outstanding based on a net income/loss before impairment and divestments. It is defined as net income/loss before 
impairment and divestments attributable to the shareholders of Holcim Ltd divided by the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding.

CapEx or net CapEx (net maintenance and expansion CapEx)
CapEx or net CapEx (net maintenance and expansion CapEx) measures the cash spent to maintain or expand the 
Group’s asset base. It is defined as:

+ Expenditure to increase existing or create additional capacity to produce, distribute or provide services for existing 
products (expansion) or to diversify into new products or markets (diversification)
+ Expenditure to sustain the functional capacity of a particular component, assembly, equipment, production line or 
the whole plant, which may or may not generate a change of the resulting cash flow
– Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment.

Employee benefits and other operating items
Employee benefits and other operating items reflect the non-cash impact on the operating profit of employee benefits 
schemes net of any cash payments, the non-cash impact of the specific business risks provisions net of any cash 
payments, the non-cash share-based compensation expenses and any other non-cash operating expenses.

Change in other receivables and liabilities
Change in other receivables and liabilities includes the net change of other receivables and liabilities that are not 
already disclosed separately in the consolidated statement of cash flows or that are not of a tax or of a financial nature.

Free Cash Flow after leases
The Free Cash Flow after leases (also referred as Free Cash Flow) measures the level of cash generated by the Group 
after spending cash to maintain or expand its asset base. It is defined as:

+/– Cash flow from operating activities
– Net maintenance and expansion CapEx
– Repayment of long-term lease liabilities

Free Cash Flow margin
The Free Cash Flow margin measures the efficiency of the Group to converting net sales into cash. It is defined as Free 
Cash Flow after leases divided by net sales.

Net financial debt (“Net debt”)
The Net financial debt (“Net debt”) measures the financial debt of the Group after deduction of the cash. It is defined 
as:

+ Financial liabilities (short- and long-term) including derivative liabilities
– Cash and cash equivalents
– Derivative assets (short- and long-term)

Debt leverage
The Net financial debt to Recurring EBITDA ratio is used as an indicator of financial risk and shows the number of years 
it would take the Group to repay its debt if Recurring EBITDA and net debt are held constant.

Working Capital days on sales (count-back)
The Working Capital days on sales is an efficiency ratio measuring the level of trade accounts receivable, trade 
accounts payable and inventories in comparison to sales of the current month and the previous months until the 
respective balance is covered. It is defined as:

+ Days sales outstanding
+ Days inventories outstanding
– Days payables outstanding
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Invested Capital
The Invested Capital measures total funds invested by shareholders, lenders and any other financing sources. It is 
defined as:

+ Total shareholders’ equity
+ Net financial debt
– Assets classified as held for sale
+ Liabilities classified as held for sale
– Current financial receivables
– Long-term financial investments and other long-term assets

Net Operating Profit/loss After Tax (“NOPAT”)
It is defined as:

+/– Net operating profit (loss) (i.e., Recurring EBIT and share of profit of associates)
– Income taxes (determined by applying the Group’s effective tax rate to the net operating profit/loss as defined above)

Return on Invested Capital (ROIC)
Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) measures the Group’s ability to efficiently use Invested Capital. It is defined as Net 
Operating Profit (loss) After Tax (NOPAT) divided by the average Invested Capital. The average is calculated by adding 
the Invested Capital at the beginning of the period to that at the end of the period and dividing the sum by two (based 
on a rolling 12-month calculation). In case of a material change in scope during the year, the average Invested Capital is 
adjusted pro rata temporis.

Cash conversion
Cash conversion measures the Group’s ability to convert profits into available cash. It is defined as Free Cash Flow after 
leases divided by Recurring EBITDA after leases.

Personnel (FTE)
Personnel (FTE) measures the number of full-time equivalent own personnel (FTE) assigned to functions and tasks.

Employees (headcount)
Employees (headcount) refers to the number of individuals on Holcim’s payroll with an active employment contract 
during the reference time period and regardless of employment contract type (full-time, part-time, student contracts, 
trainees, apprentices and interns), as well as employees on garden leave, maternity/parental leave and sick leave.

Net CO₂ emissions (kilogram per ton of cementitious material)
Net CO₂ emissions are CO₂ emissions from the calcination process of the raw materials and the combustion of 
traditional kiln and non-kiln fuels. Cementitious materials refer to clinker production volumes, mineral components 
consumed in cement production and mineral components processed and sold externally.

CO₂ per net sales
The absolute CO₂ (thousand metric tons) emissions Scope 1 and Scope 2 divided by millions of net sales.

ECOPact
ECOPact is Holcim’s low-carbon concrete product range that delivers equal or better performance than conventional 
concrete and has at least 30% lower CO₂ emissions compared with a local concrete using Ordinary Portland Cement 
(OPC, alternatively known as CEM I) in the same strength class.

ECOPlanet
ECOPlanet is Holcim’s range of low-carbon cement that delivers equal or better performance than conventional 
cement and has at least at 30% lower CO₂ emissions compared to Ordinary Portland Cement (OPC, alternatively known 
as CEM I).

Advanced branded solutions
Brands that meet ambitious customer needs, serve multiple markets and account for at least CHF 1 billion in net sales.

Specific Freshwater withdrawal (liter per ton of cementitious material)
Total volume of freshwater withdrawn by the cement plant divided by the total production of cementitious material.

Lost time injury frequency rate (LTIFR)
Number of on-the-job injuries that require a person to stay away from work for a day or more per one million hours 
worked.
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Green CapEx
The Sustainability Capital Expenditures with significant positive impact on Process Decarbonization, Clean Energy, 
Carbon Efficient Construction, Circular Economy, Biodiversity, Air & Water and Communities such as but not limited to 
carbon capture, waste heat recovery, 3D printing, electrical fleet, calcined clay technology, alternative fuels & raw 
materials installations.

Waste derived resources
Waste derived resources is the sum of all waste raw materials and fuels consumed in the production processes as well 
as recycled materials processed sold externally. This includes alternative raw materials, alternative fuels, industrial 
mineral components, returned concrete, recycled aggregates and asphalt. Construction demolition materials are 
included in waste derived resources.

Construction demolition materials (CDM) 
CDM recycled volume is generated from construction, renovation, repair and demolition of houses, large building 
structures, roads, bridges, piers and dams. This includes alternative raw materials, recycled aggregates, asphalt and 
return concrete reused in cement, aggregates, ready-mix concrete, asphalt and concrete products. CDM is equivalent 
to construction and demolition waste (CDW) as defined by the EU Waste Framework Directive.

Contribution in Social Initiatives
Any initiatives Holcim puts in place to address social issues and to contribute to society that are not primarily motivated 
by generating a direct financial return to the Group’s business such as but not limited to housing & infrastructure, 
health, education & skills, environment, cultural and recreational.

Sustainable financing
Any committed financing instrument drawn and undrawn with a sustainability feature which includes performance-
based (sustainability KPI, ESG linked) or use-of-proceed-based products (green, social, transition bonds) incurred by 
the parent company or consolidated entities.

Green bond
Green bond is a fixed-income instrument which enables the funding of green eligible projects as defined by the Green 
Bond Principles and endorsed by the International Capital Markets Association (ICMA). A green bond has a dedicated 
use of proceeds in projects that are sustainable and socially responsible such as projects in the field of renewable 
energy, carbon capture, clean transportation, and circular economy.

Thermal Substitution Rate (TSR)
Thermal substitution rate (TSR) corresponds to the relation of thermal energy consumption of alternative fuels to the 
total amount of thermal energy consumption in the cement kiln system.

Ton
Refers to a Metric ton, or 1,000 kg.

This set of definitions can be found on the Group's website: 
holcim.com/alternative-performance-measures

STRATEGIC           
REVIEW

FINANCIAL           
REVIEW

GOVERNANCE, RISK & 
COMPENSATION

MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION

SUSTAINABILITY 
PERFORMANCE

HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report  373

https://www.holcim.com/investors/publications/alternative-performance-measures


Reconciliation of Alternative Performance Measures
Reconciling measures of Profit and Loss to the Consolidated statement of income
Million CHF 2024 2023

Net sales  26,407  27,009 

Recurring operating costs  (19,994)  (20,935) 

Share of profit of joint ventures  264  304 

Recurring EBITDA after leases  6,677  6,378 

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment, intangible and other long-term assets  (1,628)  (1,618) 

Recurring EBIT  5,049  4,760 

Restructuring, litigation and other non-recurring costs  (205)  (84) 

Impairment of operating assets  (202)  (99) 

Operating profit  4,642  4,577 

Million CHF 2024 2023

Recurring EBITDA after leases  6,677  6,378 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets  389  359 

Recurring EBITDA  7,066  6,737 

Million CHF 2024 2023

Net income before taxes, impairment and divestments  4,299  4,218 

Impairment of goodwill and long-term assets  (202)  (99) 

Gain (loss) on disposals of Group companies  (75)  55 

Net income before taxes  4,022  4,174 

Million CHF 2024 2023

Net income before impairment and divestments Group share  3,185  3,089 

Net income before impairment and divestments Non-controlling interests  112  116 

Net income before impairment and divestments  3,297  3,205 

Impairment of goodwill and long-term assets, net of taxation  (160)  (82) 

Gain (loss) on disposals of Group companies, net of taxation  (95)  53 

Net income  3,042  3,176 

EPS before impairment and divestments in CHF  5.70 5.42

Reconciling measures of Free Cash Flow to the Consolidated statement of Cash Flows
Million CHF 2024 2023

Cash flow from operating activities  5,667  5,470 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (1,650)  (1,505) 

Disposal of property, plant and equipment  173  96 

Repayment of long-term lease liabilities  (389)  (357) 

Free Cash Flow after leases  3,801  3,705 

Reconciling measures of Net financial debt to the Consolidated statement of financial position
Million CHF 2024 2023

Current financial liabilities  1,842  1,416 

Long-term financial liabilities  12,014  12,665 

Cash and cash equivalents  (5,347)  (6,082) 

Short-term derivative assets  (55)  (13) 

Long-term derivative assets  (6)  (90) 

Net financial debt  8,448  7,896 
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Alpentherme Gastein in Bad Hofgastein, Austria, built
using Holcim Elevate GeoGard EPDM membrane
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Holcim supplied Ductal® ultra high-performance concrete
for the new Central Bank of Iraq skyscraper in Baghdad



PERFORMANCE AGAINST TARGETS

Unit key

NR – Not reported Mt – million tons Mm³ – million cubic meters

kgCO₂/t – kilograms of carbon dioxide per ton ton – metric ton L/t – liters per ton

M GJ – million gigajoules g – grams L/m³ – liters per cubic meter

MJ/t – million joules per ton g/t – grams per ton ha – hectares

CHF – Swiss francs mg/t – milligrams per ton km – kilometers

CHFm – million Swiss francs # – number % – percentage

Unit Base Year Baseline
2023 

Performance
2024 

Performance
2024 vs. 

2023 2030 Target
Achieved    

to Date

Specific CO₂ emissions – Net (Scope 1) – 
cement only1 kgCO₂/t 2018 590 549 538  -2 % 420  -9 %

Specific CO₂ emissions – Gross (Scope 1) – 
cement only1 kgCO₂/t 2018 623 591 582  -2 %  -23 %  -7 %

CO₂ emissions – electricity (Scope 2) – 
cement only1 kgCO₂/t 2018 46 35 32  -8 %  -65 %  -30 %

CO₂ indirect emissions from purchased 
fuels (Scope 3)1

kgCO₂e/t 
purchased 2020 286 285 285  —  -20 %  — 

CO₂ indirect emissions from purchased 
clinker and cement (Scope 3)1

kgCO₂e/t 
purchased 2020 710 709 705  -1 %  -25 %  -1 %

CO₂ indirect emissions from downstream 
transportation (Scope 3)1

kgCO₂e/t
transported 2020 11 9 9  3 %  -24 %  -19 %

Cement Specific freshwater withdrawal1 L/t 2018 377 301 277  -8 %  -33 %  -27 %

Aggregates Specific freshwater withdrawal L/t 2018 225 192 184  -4 %  -20 %  -18 %

Ready-mix Specific freshwater withdrawal L/m³ 2018 212 206 200  -3 %  -15 %  -6 %

Waste derived resources – all segments1 Mt 2018 n/a 35 38  8 % 70  55 %

Construction demolition materials (CDM) Mt 2020 6.6 8.4 10.2  20 % 20  54 %

Recycling ratio – Cement (waste used / 
production volumes)1 % 2020 22 21 22  5 % 30  1 %

High ESG impact suppliers qualified (% 
spend) % 2017 n/a 93 88  -5 %  100 %  88 %

Specific dust emissions g/t 2018 121 64 38  -40 % 75  -68 %

Specific NOx emissions g/t 2016 1,513 1,189 1,154  -3 % 1,100  -24 %

Specific SO₂ emissions g/t 2016 357 230 235  2 % 230  -34 %

Cumulative contribution to create positive 
social impact CHFm 2021 n/a 91 115  27 % 350  33 %
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ENVIRONMENT

ENERGY1
Unit 2022 2023 2024

Total energy consumption M GJ 435 425 419

Total energy consumption from fossil sources M GJ 389 375 367

Total energy consumption from renewable sources M GJ 47 50 52

Thermal energy consumption M GJ 370 361 356

Thermal energy consumption fossil fuels – coal M GJ 67 51 47

Thermal energy consumption fossil fuels – petcoke M GJ 78 79 76

Thermal energy consumption fossil fuels – oil M GJ 29 29 26

Thermal energy consumption fossil fuels – gas M GJ 94 98 99

Thermal energy consumption fossil fuels – other traditional fossil fuels M GJ 8 7 6

Thermal energy mix of clinker production – alternative fuels (ex biomass) M GJ 60 61 63

Thermal energy mix of clinker production – biomass M GJ 33 37 39

Electrical energy consumption M GJ 65 64 63

Electrical energy consumption – renewable M GJ 13 14 13

Electrical energy consumption – own generation – renewable M GJ 1 1 1

Electrical energy consumption – renewable PPAs M GJ 3 3 3

Electrical energy consumption – other renewable (grid) M GJ 9 9 9

Electrical energy consumption – non-renewable M GJ 52 50 49

Electrical energy consumption – own generation – non-renewable M GJ 3 3 3

Electrical energy consumption – grid – non-renewable M GJ 49 47 46

CLIMATE REPORT 2024
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ENVIRONMENT

ABSOLUTE GHG EMISSIONS1
Unit 2022 2023 2024

Absolute Scope 1 emissions – gross Mt 77 74 71

Percentage of Scope 1 GHG emissions from regulated emission trading schemes % 29 28 29

Absolute Scope 2 emissions (market-based) Mt 4 5 4

Percentage of electricity purchased with usage of bundled renewable energy attributes % NR NR 7

Percentage of electricity purchased with usage of unbundled renewable energy 
attributes % NR NR 6

Absolute Scope 3 emissions – total Mt 48 46 42

Percentage of GHG Scope 3 calculated using primary data % 49 51 48

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 1 – Purchased goods and services Mt 9.5 7.5 7.3

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 2 – Capital goods Mt 0.1 0.2 0.1

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 3 – Fuel and energy-related activities Mt 5.5 5.3 5.1

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 4 – Upstream transportation and distribution Mt 4.7 4.3 4.2

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 5 – Waste generated in operations Mt 0.1 0.1 0.1

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 6 – Business travel Mt 0.0 0.0 0.0

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 7 – Employee commuting Mt 0.1 0.1 0.1

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 8 – Upstream leased assets2 Mt 0.0 0.0 0.0

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 9 – Downstream transportation and distribution Mt 2.5 2.2 2.2

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 10 – Processing of sold products Mt 1.5 1.8 1.6

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 11 – Use of sold products Mt 0.0 0.0 0.0

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 12 – End-of-life treatment of sold products Mt 1.0 1.4 1.3

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 13 – Downstream leased assets Mt 0.0 0.0 0.0

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 14 – Franchises Mt 0.0 0.0 0.0

Absolute S3 emissions – Cat 15 – Investments Mt 22.5 23.1 19.6

Absolute emissions (Scope 1, 2 & 3) Mt 125 124 117

ABSOLUTE SCOPE 1 EMISSIONS BY SOURCE1
Unit 2022 2023 2024

CO₂ emissions – Gross (Scope 1)  Mt 77 74 71

CO₂ emissions from raw materials Mt 50 48 47

CO₂ emissions from fossil fuels Mt 22 20 19

CO₂ emissions from alternative fuels (non-biomass) Mt 5 5 5

CO₂ emissions from alternative fuels (biomass) Mt 3 3 4

ABSOLUTE SCOPE 1 EMISSIONS BY REGION1
Unit 2022 2023 2024

CO₂ emissions – Gross (Scope 1) – Asia, Middle East & Africa Mt 28 27 26

CO₂ emissions – Gross (Scope 1) – Europe Mt 22 20 20

CO₂ emissions – Gross (Scope 1) – LATAM Mt 11 11 10

CO₂ emissions – Gross (Scope 1) – North America Mt 16 16 15

SPECIFIC SCOPE 3 EMISSIONS1
Unit 2022 2023 2024

CO₂ indirect emissions from purchased fuels kgCO₂e/t purchased 287 285 285

CO₂ indirect emissions from purchased clinker and cement kgCO₂e/t purchased 716 709 705

CO₂ indirect emissions from downstream transportation kgCO₂e/t transported 10 9 9
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1  2022 and 2023 data is restated in line with 2024 consolidation.
2  As per latest SBTi Guidelines, emissions from leased vehicles were reclassified as Scope 1 and leased spaces as Scope 2.



ENVIRONMENT

ENERGY & GHG (GCCA KPIs) – CEMENT PLANTS ONLY Unit 2022 2023 2024

Absolute Net Scope 1 Mt 71 67 65

Absolute Gross3 Scope 1 Mt 76 72 70

Absolute Scope 2 – Market-based Mt 4 4 4

Absolute Scope 2 – Location-based Mt 4 4 4

Specific CO₂ emissions – Net4 (Scope 1) – as reported kgCO₂/t 562 545 538

Specific CO₂ emissions – Net (Scope 1) – 2024 consolidation kgCO₂/t 567 549 538

Specific CO₂ emissions – Gross3 (Scope 1) – as reported kgCO₂/t 602 587 582

Specific CO₂ emissions – Gross (Scope 1) – 2024 consolidation kgCO₂/t 607 591 582

Specific CO₂ emissions – Electricity (Scope 2) – market-based – as reported kgCO₂/t 37 36 32

Specific CO₂ emissions – Electricity (Scope 2) – market-based – 2024 consolidation kgCO₂/t 35 35 32

Specific heat consumption of clinker production – as reported MJ/t 3,654 3,664 3,702

Specific heat consumption of clinker production – 2024 consolidation MJ/t 3,647 3,663 3,702

Thermal Substitution Rate (TSR): alternative fuels plus biomass – as reported % 28 30 32

Thermal Substitution Rate (TSR): alternative fuels plus biomass – 2024 consolidation % 28 30 32

Thermal Substitution Rate (TSR): biomass – as reported % 10 11 12

Thermal Substitution Rate (TSR): biomass – 2024 consolidation % 10 11 12

PERFORMANCE DATA TABLES CONTINUED
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3  Gross CO₂ emissions are the total emissions resulting from the calcination of limestone and the emissions resulting from the burning of fossil-based fuels 
and pre-treated waste-derived fuels. Compared with gross CO₂ emissions, net CO₂ emissions do not include CO₂ from alternative fuels.

4  Reported as kg/t cementitious material produced. See Note 11 for the definition of cementitious material.



ENVIRONMENT

WATER Unit 2022 2023 2024

Cement, aggregates and ready-mix

Cement Specific freshwater withdrawal – as reported L/t 304 298 277

Cement Specific freshwater withdrawal – 2024 consolidation L/t 308 301 277

Aggregates Specific freshwater withdrawal L/t 218 192 184

Ready-mix Specific freshwater withdrawal L/m³ 202 206 200

Sites in water risk areas5 % 24 28 26

Sites in water risk areas with recycling systems in place % 76 76 77

Water-positive sites in water risk areas % 4 4 6

Water discharge compliant with regulations % 99 98 99

All segments (excluding captive power plants) 

Specific freshwater consumption (L/t of product) L/t 141 129 118

Total water withdrawal Mm³ 118 114 108

Total freshwater withdrawal Mm³ 104 98 89

Total freshwater withdrawal from groundwater Mm³ 34 32 29

Total freshwater withdrawal from surface water Mm³ 45 41 42

Total freshwater withdrawal from municipal water supplies or third parties Mm³ 11 12 10

Total freshwater withdrawal from quarries Mm³ 14 14 9

Non-freshwater withdrawal Mm³ 8 9 10

Rainwater harvested Mm³ 6 7 9

Total water discharge Mm³ 35 35 34

Water discharge to ground or soil infiltration Mm³ 5 7 6

Water discharge to surface water Mm³ 29 26 27

Water discharge to offsite treatment or third parties Mm³ 0.8 0.9 0.8

Water discharge to seawater Mm³ 0.3 1.7 0.8

Total water consumption Mm³ 83 78 72

Total water consumption in areas at water risk, including areas of high water stress Mm³ NR NR 23

Total water recycled and reused Mm³ NR NR 135

Sites equipped with a water recycling system # 1,331 1,347 1,391

Captive power plants

Total water withdrawal Mm³ 128 118 120

Total freshwater withdrawal Mm³ 119 109 112

Total freshwater withdrawal from groundwater Mm³ 0 0 0

Total freshwater withdrawal from surface water Mm³ 119 109 112

Total freshwater withdrawal from municipal water supplies or third parties Mm³ 0 0 0

Total freshwater withdrawal from quarries Mm³ 0 0 0

Non-freshwater withdrawal Mm³ 9 9 8

Rainwater harvested Mm³ 0 0 0

Total water discharge Mm³ 127 118 120

Water discharge to ground or soil infiltration Mm³ 0 0 0

Water discharge to surface water Mm³ 118 109 111

Water discharge to offsite treatment Mm³ 0 0 0

Water discharge to seawater Mm³ 9 9 8

Total water consumption Mm³ 0 0 0

Total water consumption in areas at water risk, including areas of high-water stress Mm³ NR NR 0

Total water recycled and reused Mm³ NR NR 10

Sites equipped with a water recycling system # 4 4 4
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5  Figures calculated using the Aqueduct Water Risk tool. Reflects sites in risk categories: medium-high, high and extremely high.



ENVIRONMENT

BIODIVERSITY Unit 2022 2023 2024

Quarries assessed using BIRS methodology – active only6 % 51 67 100

Quarries assessed using BIRS methodology – active and non-active6 % 48 64 100

Quarries with rehabilitation plan in place7 % 100 100 100

Quarries with biodiversity importance8 # 256 294 277

Quarries with biodiversity importance with biodiversity management plans in place % 100 100 100

Total rehabilitated area (active quarries) ha 13,115 12,349 11,233

Total rehabilitated area (all areas)9 ha 17,448 14,855 13,685

Financing effects (direct and indirect costs) of biodiversity offsets CHFm NR NR 2

RECYCLING  WASTE Unit 2022 2023 2024

Total materials consumed – excl. fuels Mt NR NR 456

Raw materials consumed – excl. fuels and recycled materials Mt 432 444 424

Reused or recycled materials consumed – excl. fuels Mt NR NR 32

Percentage of materials used that are reused or recycled % NR NR 7

Waste derived resources – all segments10 – as reported Mt 34 36 38

Waste derived resources – all segments – 2024 Consolidation Mt 33 35 38

Alternative raw materials contained in cement % 9 10 11

Alternative raw materials contained in concrete % 3 4 5

Alternative raw materials contained in asphalt % 19 20 20

Recycling ratio – cement (waste used / production volumes) – as reported % 20 22 22

Recycling ratio – cement (waste used / production volumes) – 2024 consolidation % 19 21 22

Recycling ratio – all segments (waste used / sales volumes) % 7 7 8

Construction demolition materials (CDM) Mt 6.8 8.4 10.2

INTERNAL WASTE  (INCLUDING CAPTIVE POWER PLANTS) Unit 2022 2023 2024

Total waste generated Mt 1.99 2.09 2.18

Total amount of hazardous waste Mt 0.03 0.05 0.04

Internal hazardous waste recycled or recovered Mt 0.01 0.03 0.03

Internal hazardous waste disposed Mt 0.02 0.03 0.01

Total amount of non-hazardous waste Mt 1.96 2.04 2.14

Internal non-hazardous waste recycled or recovered Mt 0.92 1.16 1.21

Internal non-hazardous waste disposed Mt 1.04 0.88 0.93

Non-recycled waste Mt 1.05 0.91 0.94

Percentage of non-recycled waste % 53 43 43

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS (EMS) AND COMPLIANCE Unit 2022 2023 2024

Cement sites with ISO 14001 certification % 77 75 77

Cement sites with an EMS equivalent to ISO 14001 % 94 94 95

Aggregates sites with ISO 14001 certification % 16 18 18

Aggregates sites with an EMS equivalent to ISO 14001 % 66 66 63

RMX sites with ISO 14001 certification % 20 22 23

RMX sites with an EMS equivalent to ISO 14001 % 59 59 58

Number of countries reporting severe non-compliance cases # 3 5 5

Fines and penalties paid CHFm 0.6 0.5 1.1

PERFORMANCE DATA TABLES CONTINUED
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6   Excluding quarries in process of divestment, such as all quarries in the U.S. and Canada.
7   This refers to the number of quarries with a quarry rehabilitation plan compliant with Holcim’s internal requirements.
8   According to categorizations introduced in 2018 following Fauna & Flora International (FFI) recommendations, which we have been incrementally implementing.
9   The decrease in rehabilitated area is due to the change in ownership of several quarries.
10 Includes alternative raw material industrial mineral components (consumed and sold externally), alternative fuels, the volume of returned concrete recycled, 

secondary and/or recycled aggregates, and recycled asphalt.



ENVIRONMENT

AIR EMISSIONS Unit 2022 2023 2024

Clinker produced with continuous monitoring of dust, NOx, and SO₂ emissions % 93 93 94

Clinker produced with monitoring of dust, NOx, and SO₂ emissions % 99 100 99

Coverage

Overall: production with comprehensive emission monitoring % 79 92 91

Dust: production with dust measurement % 99 100 99

NOx: production with NOx measurement % 100 100 100

SO₂: production with SO₂ measurement % 100 100 100

VOC: production with VOC measurement % 92 97 98

Mercury: production with mercury measurement % 86 100 100

Dioxins/furans: production with dioxins/furans measurement % 90 95 100

HM1: production with HM1 measurement % 89 96 95

HM2: production with HM2 measurement % 90 96 97

Emissions

Total dust emissions ton 6,706 5,824 3,338

Total NOx emissions ton 111,005 108,033 100,861

Total SO₂ emissions ton 21,870 20,875 20,500

Total VOC emissions ton 4,096 4,208 3,353

Total mercury emissions ton 1.1 1.6 1.3

Total dioxins/furans emissions g 3.2 3.5 2.2

Total HM1 emissions ton 1.0 1.6 1.4

Total HM2 emissions ton 33.8 33.2 25.5

Specific emissions (clinker)

Specific dust emissions g/t 71 64 38

Specific NOx emissions g/t 1,177 1,189 1,154

Specific SO₂ emissions g/t 232 230 235

Specific VOC emissions g/t 43 46 38

Specific mercury emissions mg/t 12 18 15

Specific dioxins/furans emissions mg/t 34 39 25

Specific HM1 emissions mg/t 11 17 16

Specific HM2 emissions mg/t 358 365 292

PRODUCTS AND SOLUTIONS Unit 2022 2023 2024

Clinker produced Mt 94 91 87

Clinker consumed Mt 90 87 83

Cement fillers consumed (limestone, gypsum, MIC, etc.) Mt 31 31 31

Cement produced Mt 121 118 114

Mineral components (slag, fly ash, etc) produced Mt 3 3 2

Cementitious material produced11 Mt 128 125 120

Aggregates produced Mt 252 265 252

Asphalt produced Mt 10 10 9

RMX produced Mm³ 45 44 41

Clinker factor (average % of clinker in cements)12 % 73.0 71.8 71.7

Production clinker factor % 74.8 73.5 72.9

Net sales of sustainable solutions13 % 32 25 28
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11  Cementitious material is defined following the GCCA definition: Total clinker produced plus mineral components consumed for blending and production 
of cement substitutes, including clinker sold but excluding clinker bought. 

12  Cements is defined as total cements produced, excluding clinker sold, including clinker bought. It includes Portland, blended and slag cements and direct 
fly ash sales.

13  Net sales of sustainable solutions follows our financial reporting consolidation scope including acquisitions and divestments. The decrease in 2023 is due 
to the divestments of India and Brazil.



SOCIAL

PEOPLE: SOCIAL INITIATIVES Unit 2022 2023 2024

Total contribution to create positive social impact CHFm 22.5 24.8 24.2

of which: contribution by partners to create positive social impact % 8 8 6

Total contribution to:

Housing and infrastructure % 24 28 33

Community initiatives on health, education & skills and Other % 57 55 48

Project management % 19 17 19

Type of contribution:

Social investment and inclusive business projects % 78 79 78

Donations (cash and in kind) % 22 21 22

Total number of beneficiaries14 Million 3 2 3

Rural roads renovated or built as part of our social initiatives km 328 481 330

Hospitals owned and managed by Holcim, open for dependents and community members # 18 13 12

Schools owned and managed by Holcim, open for dependents and community members # 19 19 18

Volunteering Hours 32,666 47,750 67,609

Volunteering during paid working hours % 73 84 83

PEOPLE: HUMAN RIGHTS Unit 2022 2023 2024

Human rights assessments conducted in the last three years – GRUs – cumulative15 % 100 100 95

Human rights assessments conducted in the last three years – sites % 98 100 97

Human rights assessment and action plan status signed off by country Exco during the 
reporting year % 98 98 98

People receiving training on human rights topics # 12,566 18,654 18,150

Stakeholder engagement plans available and reviewed in last three years – cement, grinding 
sites % 92 95 96

PERFORMANCE DATA TABLES CONTINUED
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14  A direct beneficiary is defined as a person who was directly involved in the project or benefited from its implementation. Whenever possible, we count the exact 
number of beneficiaries (number of community members trained). When precise measurement is not possible (e.g., beneficiaries of a new hospital or bridge built by 
Holcim), estimates are made based on scientific methods such as social research, expert interviews or the like.

15  The decrease is due to the postponement of self assessments for U.S. GRUs until 2025 after the spin-off in order to involve the new management.



SOCIAL

HEALTH & SAFETY Unit 2022 2023 2024

Fatalities (activities under our direct control)

By location

On site # 8 2 2

Offsite # 0 0 0

By personnel category

Employees # 1 2 2

Contractors # 7 0 0

Lost time injury frequency rate (LTIFR)

LTIFR employees (# of LTIs per million work hours) # 0.58 0.56 0.40

LTIFR contractors (# of LTIs per million work hours) # 0.45 0.24 0.38

LTIFR employees and contractors on site (# of LTIs per million work hours) # 0.53 0.43 0.39

Total injury frequency rate (TIFR)

Total recordable injuries – employees # NR NR 504

Total recordable injuries – employees and contractors on site # NR NR 716

TIFR employees (# of injuries per million work hours) # 4.06 4.45 4.16

TIFR contractors (# of injuries per million work hours) # 2.30 2.57 2.60

TIFR employees and contractors on site (# of injuries per million work hours) # 3.32 3.68 3.53

Occupational illness frequency rate (OIFR)

Total recordable occupational illnesses – employees # NR NR 54

OIFR employees (# of occupational illness per million work hours) # 0.23 0.47 0.45

OIFR contractors (# of occupational illness per million work hours) # 0.07 0.13 0.15

OIFR employees and contractors on site (# of occupational illness per million work hours) # 0.16 0.33 0.33

Total recordable incidents (injuries and occupational illnesses) – employees16 # NR NR 558

Rate of recordable incidents employees (# of injuries and occupational illness per million 
work hours) # NR NR 4.61

Other

Percentage of employees and contractors on site covered by a health and safety 
management system that meets legal or recognized standards % NR NR 100

On-site third-party fatalities (cement sites) # 0 0 0

Workforce represented on health and safety committees % 95 93 92

Number of employee fatalities per 10,000 directly employed # 0.17 0.31 0.31

Number of Lost Time Injuries (LTIs) (directly employed) # 68 68 48

Total number of LTIs – on site and off site # 106 88 79

Cement sites with ISO 45001 certification % 21 21 21

Cement sites with a management system equivalent to ISO 45001 % 36 37 37

Aggregates sites with ISO 45001 certification % 14 17 14

Aggregates sites with a management system equivalent to ISO 45001 % 28 30 31

RMX sites with ISO 45001 certification % 16 17 17

RMX sites with a management system equivalent to ISO 45001 % 34 34 39

STRATEGIC           
REVIEW

FINANCIAL           
REVIEW

GOVERNANCE, RISK & 
COMPENSATION

MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION

SUSTAINABILITY 
PERFORMANCE

HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report  387

16  Incidents fall under two management control categories: direct control and indirect control. Only incidents under direct control are publicly reported. 
Direct control incidents occur when Holcim has direct responsibility or supervision.



SOCIAL

EMPLOYEES BY EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT AND AGE Unit 2022 2023 2024

Total number of employees (FTE)17 # 60,422 63,448 63,665

Total number of employees (headcount) # NR NR 65,000

Full-time employees % 98 98 98

Part-time employees % 2 2 2

Permanent employees % 94 94 94

Fixed-term contract employees % 6 6 6

Number of employees at senior management level18 # NR NR 1,338

Percentage of employees at senior management level18 % NR NR 2

Employees under the age of 30 % 14 15 14

Employees between 30 and 50 % 56 55 54

Employees above 50 % 30 31 32

Gender diversity (headcount)

Women at senior management level % 20 21 21

Women at all management levels % 25 26 27

Women at non-management level % 13 14 14

Women in total workforce % 17 18 18

Turnover (headcount)

Overall employee turnover rate % 17 16 18

Number of employees who have left undertaking # NR NR 11,756

Voluntary employee turnover rate % 9 8 9

Hirings % 20 19 17

Development (headcount)

Hours of training per employee (management level) # 29 30 29

Hours of training per employee (non-management level) # 18 21 21

Managers who had an annual performance review % 87 84 89

Non-managers who had an annual performance review % 45 38 37

EMPLOYEES BY CONTRACT TYPE AND REGION AMEA Europe LATAM North America Total

Number of employees (headcount) 11,817 24,285 10,747 18,151 65,000

Number of permanent employees 11,057 22,794 9,563 17,941 61,355

Number of temporary employees 760 1,491 1,184 210 3,645

Number of full-time employees 11,681 23,340 10,747 18,011 63,779

Number of part-time employees 136 945 0 140  1,221 

EMPLOYEES BY GENDER Female Male Other19 Not disclosed Total

Number of employees (headcount) 11,681 53,319 0 0 65,000

Number of permanent employees 10,897 50,458 0 0 61,355

Number of temporary employees 784 2,861 0 0 3,645

Number of full-time employees 11,017 52,762 0 0 63,779

Number of part-time employees 664 557 0 0 1221

TRAINING HOURS & ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW Female Male Other19 Not disclosed Total

Training hours (headcount)

Total hours of training (management level) 142,746 437,780 0 0 580,527

Average training hours per employee (management level) 26 29 0 0 29

Total hours of training (non-management level) 145,775 791,144 0 0 936,918

Average training hours per employee (non-management level) 23 21 0 0 21

Total hours of training (total) 288,521 1,228,924 1,517,445

Average training hours per employee (total) 25 23 23

Annual performance review (headcount)

Managers who had an annual performance review % 88 89 0 0 89

Non-managers who had an annual performance review % 53 34 0 0 37

PERFORMANCE DATA TABLES CONTINUED
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17  Full-time equivalent (FTE) data covers all fully consolidated companies as of 31 December 2024.
18  Senior management level is defined as all employees in specific job bands (leadership), regardless of whether or not they have direct or indirect reports. 
19   Other: Gender as specified by the employees themselves.



GOVERNANCE

BOARD Unit 2022 2023 2024

Number of executive members # 1 1 0

Number of non-executive members # 10 8 11

Percentage of women board members % 36 44 45

Percentage of independent board members % 91 89 91

SOCIAL, GOVERNMENT AND ECONOMIC RELATIONS
Social relations Unit 2022 2023 2024

Entities with strike action of more than one week’s duration # 2 1 0

Entities where employees are covered by collective agreements % 72 70 67

Employees covered by collective agreements % 88 87 86

Government relations

Political donations20 CHF 0 60,000 21,500

In-kind political contributions made CHF NR NR 0

Countries making political donations # 1 2 2

Total subsidies21 CHFm 80 66 36

Entities receiving subsidies # 15 13 11

Economic relations

Membership of trade associations and chambers of commerce CHFm 15 14 12

SUPPLY CHAIN DUE DILIGENCE 
ESG risk identification Unit 2022 2023 2024

Holcim GRUs with due diligence process in place22 % 100 95 98

Suppliers from national markets % 91 90 92

Suppliers identified as having potential high ESG impact % 35 36 39

Spend covered by suppliers with potential high ESG impact  % 58 60 68

Spend with “assessed” potential high ESG impact suppliers23 % 95 93 88

Suppliers non-compliant with Supplier Code of Conduct24 % NR 1 14

ESG risk management

Non-compliant suppliers with corrective action plans % NR 85 83

Non-compliant suppliers who have improved sustainability performance  % NR 43 68

Non-compliant suppliers canceled due to non-compliance  % NR 1 16

PRODUCING ASSETS INCLUDED IN EVALUATION Unit 2022 2023 2024

Cement producing sites including grinding and blending # 147 148 143

Aggregates sites # 474 499 504

Asphalt sites # 86 83 87

Ready-mix sites # 1,165 1,179 1,212

Quarries operated # 647 648 641
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20  Figures exclude Holcim US Employees Political Action Committee (PAC) and Holcim US Michigan Employees PAC contributions in the U.S.. These amounted to 
USD 22,200 in 2024. In 2024, Holcim Switzerland donated CHF 21,500 to one national political party, the FDP.The Liberals.

21  Total subsidies do not include EU funding under the EU Innovation Fund which was awarded but not yet disbursed.
22  In 2024, only one new acquisition has yet to implement Holcim due diligence processes.
23  In 2024, Holcim’s risk profile was increased to comply with the latest regulations. Assessed high ESG impact suppliers increased by 7% on a like-for-like basis.
24  In 2024, Holcim expanded the assessment questionnaire used to verify our suppliers in order to comply with the latest regulations.



Consolidation rules for non-financial KPIs.

Scope of consolidation
The consolidation scope for non-financial reporting is 
aligned with financial reporting and includes Holcim Ltd 
and its subsidiaries. The list of principal consolidated 
entities is presented in Note 2.4 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Divestments and acquisitions
The data for business(es) divested during the year is 
excluded for the entire year. The data for business(es) 
acquired during the year is included for the entire year. In 
the 2024 Sustainability Performance Report, the most 
significant changes to the consolidated group were the 
divestments of South Africa, Tanzania and Uganda. The 
divestment of Kenya has not been taken into account in 
the 2024 Sustainability Performance report, since it was 
fully consolidated for the majority of 2024 (until 
November 2024). The 2023 and 2022 figures are restated 
in line with the 2024 consolidation in the Energy and 
Absolute GHG emissions tables. Unless stated otherwise, 
all prior year figures for other indicators are “as published 
in the reporting year.” Key metrics are shown “as reported” 
and restated in line with “2024 consolidation” in separate 
lines. 

When a new site is acquired by Holcim, its policies and 
procedures for non-financial reporting may not 
necessarily be consistent with Holcim’s standards. 
Accordingly, new sites have until the second reporting 
year following the acquisition to meet and report 
performance in line with Holcim’s standards. 

Data collection methods and references 
to reporting protocols
Extrapolation
To accelerate the reporting process and align with the 
financial reporting timeline, some data is based on eleven 
months of data (as of 30 November) and extrapolated to 
estimate annual values. This includes: 

• For employees, hours of training per employee

• For environmental data, including air emissions and 
non-cement CO₂ emissions 

Other indicators are either based on 12 months of data or 
no extrapolation was required, as they do not necessarily 
change between November and December (for example, 
environmental certifications and hectares rehabilitated.)

Controls
Controls put in place to ensure data quality and 
robustness include:

• Principle sustainability KPIs, namely those relating to 
Holcim’s cement business (Scope 1 and 2 emissions 
from cement activities, freshwater withdrawal) and 
circular economy volumes (waste derived resources), are 
reported monthly through Holcim’s financial reporting 
process and are subject to a rigorous internal verification 
process. This includes an annual certification process to 
review the main action plans in progress and to confirm 
management’s responsibility for the quality of internal 
controls and financial reporting at each relevant level of 
the Group organization.

• The Axiom digital reporting and analytics platform, as 
well as the internally developed proprietary 
spreadsheet-based import questionnaire templates 
used in 2024, include built-in validation rules to ensure 
robustness of the reported data. This involves flagging 
when a value is outside an expected range or deviates 
significantly from previously reported data, requiring an 
explanatory comment. 

• A robust workflow process is in place, requiring 
validation of the data and explanations to be provided 
by two managers for each questionnaire.

• Validation dashboards have been developed to allow 
entities and subject matter experts to identify values 
that are out of range.

• Data (such as production, contribution to social 
initiatives and number of employees, etc.) is checked 
against other reporting streams such as SAP and 
technical reports, as well as for consistency. 

• Scope 3 KPIs are available on a quarterly basis, 
leveraging a data lake to automate extraction from 
underlying data sources and calculations for each of the 
Scope 3 categories. The report includes automated 
controls and sensitivity analysis and is subject to sign-
off by the functions responsible for the underlying data.

METHODOLOGY AND CONSOLIDATION 2024

390  HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report



Economic indicators
• In 2024, data on net sales of sustainable solutions was 

collected through Holcim’s financial reporting process 
on a monthly basis. This was supplemented by a 
country-specific annual survey of sales associated with 
affordable housing and water. 

• Supplier assessment data was collected through 
proprietary spreadsheet-based import questionnaire 
templates and the respective protocols: the Holcim 
sustainable procurement questionnaire. Data is gathered 
at country/Group reporting unit level and covers all 
business segments and their industrial production sites. 
The sustainable procurement questionnaire was 
conducted covering 62 entities, representing more than 
99% of our total procurement spend. 

Environmental indicators
Environmental performance indicators follow the 
reporting guidelines of the GCCA (previously the World 
Business Council for Sustainable Development – Cement 
Sustainability Initiative (WBCSD CSI).

In 2024, environmental data was collected through the 
Axiom digital reporting and analytics tool as well as 
proprietary spreadsheet-based import templates. 
Reporting guidelines for environmental reporting were 
issued to ensure proper reporting, highlighting new and 
updated environmental indicators as well as changes in 
reporting scope as needed.

All sites that were active during the reporting year were 
considered eligible for inclusion in environmental 
reporting. The impacts of sites that were active for fewer 
than six months was estimated based on their production 
and Group averages. For environmental data, cement 
terminals are not considered material and can hence be 
excluded from the consolidation.

• Scope 1, Scope 2 CO₂ emissions and energy: We follow 
the Global Cement and Concrete Association (GCCA) 
Cement CO₂ and Energy Protocol version 3.1 for the 
monitoring and reporting of CO₂ emissions from cement 
manufacturing (previously the WBCSD CSI Cement CO₂ 
and Energy Protocol version 3.1) to calculate CO₂ 
emissions between the 1990 baseline and the reporting 
year. Wherever feasible, operations report site and/or 
material-specific emission factors. For Scope 2 
emissions, we follow the GHG Protocol Scope 2 
Guidance. Work to determine the most accurate 
available market-based emission factors is continuously 
under way. The reporting coverage for the CO₂ Scope 1 
and 2 Topic data is 100%.

• Electrical energy: We utilize three types of contractual 
instruments for the purchase of renewable electrical 
energy. 

Power purchase agreements (PPAs) – PPAs are 
particularly valuable for Holcim’s operations in regions 
like Europe and North America, where regulatory 
frameworks and market conditions support the 
development of renewable energy projects.

Virtual power purchase agreements (VPPAs) – VPPAs 
offer flexibility and are particularly useful for Holcim’s 

global operations, enabling the company to support 
renewable projects in strategic locations even if its 
facilities do not directly consume the generated 
electricity.

Renewable energy certificates (RECs) and guarantees of 
origin (GOs). By purchasing and retiring RECs or GOs, 
Holcim can reduce Scope 2 CO₂ emissions associated 
with its use of electricity from the grid.

• Scope 3 emissions: We apply the GHG Protocol to 
estimate CO₂ emissions for all 15 categories. We select 
the GHG calculation methods that appropriately reflect 
the most material GHG emissions and support the 
decision-making process to achieve reduction targets. 
We apply the following criteria to select calculation 
methods: 1. Relative size of the emissions 2. Data 
availability 3. Data quality 4. Cost and effort required to 
apply each method.

Method per category:
Categories 1 and 3: We use the “average-data” method 
for the most material purchased goods and for all fuels, 
combining primary data from our operating systems 
(e.g., volumes purchased in each country) with emission 
factors extracted from the LCA database (GaBi).

Category 1 purchased clinker and cement: We use the 
“average-data” method, combining primary data from 
our operating systems (e.g., volumes purchased in each 
country) with emission factors extracted from the sector 
database GCCA-GNR, with national averages updated 
on an annual basis.

Category 3: We use the “average-data” method for 
electricity, combining primary data from our operating 
systems (e.g., volumes purchased in each country) with 
emission factors extracted from IEA for WTT and T&D 
linked to the country grid.

Category 4 and 9: We use the “distance-based method” 
for transportation, combining primary data from our 
operating systems (e.g., volumes transported, kilometers 
driven, vehicle types, payload) with HBEFA fuel models 
and emission factors extracted from the LCA database 
(GaBi).

Category 5: We use the “average-data” method, 
combining primary data (volumes of waste generated in 
our operations, classified by waste type) with emission 
factors extracted from LCA database (GaBi) in relation to 
the waste treatment process (according to each waste 
type).

Category 7: We estimate CO₂ from employee 
commuting, modeling fuel consumption based on the 
number of employees per country and the average 
kilometers traveled per year (including a percentage of 
home working), assuming the use of an average car, with 
an emission factor extracted from the LCA database 
(GaBi).

Category 10: We use the “site-specific” method, 
combining primary data (volumes sold) with Scopes 1 
and 2 from specific sites (reference sites processing sold 
goods) in each country.
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Category 12: We use the “average-data” method, 
combining primary data (volumes sold) with emission 
factors extracted from the LCA database (GaBi) in 
relation to end-of-life waste treatment processes 
(according to each waste type).

Category 14: We estimate CO₂ emissions from our retail 
franchises, modeling energy consumption in commercial 
buildings per m², per country.

Category 15: We use “primary data”, capturing Scope 1 
and 2 emissions from our joint ventures and applying 
the percentage in relation to our equity ratio.

For all other categories (low impact), we use a “spend-
based” method, combining primary data from spend for 
each category in each country and the kg CO₂ per Swiss 
franc extracted from a macroeconomic database 
(Exiobase).

Procurement spend and transportation volumes used 
for Scope 3 calculations are based on 12-month rolling 
data from November 2023 to October 2024.

• Air Emissions: We use the GCCA Sustainability 
Guidelines for the monitoring and reporting of emissions 
from cement manufacturing (previously the WBCSD CSI 
Guidelines for Emissions Monitoring and Reporting in 
the Cement Industry (2012)). Using annually calibrated 
sensors for continuously monitored pollutants and 
external laboratories for spot measurements, emission 
data is gathered locally. It is then consolidated and 
approved through a two-step process at country level. 
Finally, the data is validated and approved at both the 
kiln and country levels before being consolidated by the 
Group.

If an emission component was not measured in 2024 
due to travel or other restrictions, the 2023 
measurement was used to estimate performance at kiln 
level. If no measurement was available in 2023, the 2024 
Group average was used to estimate the Group’s 
absolute impact.

• Percentage of production covered by measurement: The 
full production from a kiln is included in the coverage 
only when the emission of the respective pollutant(s) is 
monitored, otherwise the percentage of production from 
the kiln covered by measurement is considered zero. For 
the percentage of production with comprehensive 
emission monitoring, the full production from a kiln is 
included only when emissions of all pollutants (dust, 
NOx, SO₂, VOC/THC, heavy metals (Hg, Cd, Tl, Sb, As, Pb, 
Cr, Co, Cu, Mn, Ni and V), PCDD/F) are monitored.

• Water: The GCCA Sustainability Guidelines for the 
monitoring and reporting of water in cement 
manufacturing (previously the CSI Protocol for Water 
Reporting) was used as a reference to measure the 
Group’s water performance. Holcim measures water 
withdrawal, consumption and discharge using one of 
the following three forms of water measurement: Firstly, 
the actual measurement of water, which involves 
directly measuring the water flow or volume at a specific 
point in time using instruments such as flow meters or 
gauges. Secondly, the quantification of water volume 

based on flow at a specific point (e.g., channel or pipe 
cross-section), which measures the water flow rate as it 
passes through a cross-section of a channel, pipe or 
other water conduit, and the flow is gauged 
instantaneously. It uses flow measurement devices to 
assess the volume of water moving through the system 
at that moment. And thirdly, water volume estimation 
based on system capacity or empirical formulas, which 
involves calculating the water volume based on 
estimated or rated capacities of systems (e.g., pumps) or 
by using empirical formulas. Examples include 
multiplying the rated capacity of a pump by operational 
hours or estimating evaporation and infiltration rates to 
assess water volume indirectly. Data from captive power 
plants is reported separately. 
The reporting coverage for water data is 100% of entities 
with production.

• Water discharge: As part of our water stewardship, water 
from our operations is filtered and treated to meet 
minimum threshold values in accordance with the 
Group water standard. Discharged water is analyzed 
quarterly, with any exceedances promptly reported and 
investigated. 
At each site, control measures are in place and 
monitored at corporate level to ensure full compliance 
with regulatory requirements.

• Waste and recycling: Waste comprises all forms of solid 
or liquid waste (excluding wastewater) and is defined as 
hazardous or non-hazardous based on the legislation of 
the country in which the site operates. Overburden from 
quarry activity is not classified as waste. Waste streams 
generated by Holcim’s operations are mainly dust from 
dedusting equipment, sludges from wastewater 
treatment, parts and disposable materials used during 
plant maintenance and unsellable material such as 
unused cement and concrete. Data on internal waste at 
country level is collected in accordance with internal 
standards. It is then consolidated and validated centrally 
on an annual basis, for internal reviews and external 
disclosures.

• Waste derived resources: Materials sourced from by-
products or waste streams primarily include, but are not 
limited to: Alternative raw materials (AR) in clinker, which 
includes all types of raw materials consumed up to and 
including clinker production, including decarbonated 
sources such as “fines” from construction and 
demolition materials. Alternative fuels (AF), 
encompassing all types of AF consumed in all process 
steps in clinker (CLC) production. Industrial mineral 
components (iMIC) used in cement, which is the sum of 
all mineral components sourced from industrial sources, 
for example, blast furnace slags, industrial ashes (fly ash, 
beneficiated fly ash, bottom ash), silica fumes, burnt oil 
shale, mixed rubble, artificial gypsum and dust (cement 
kiln dust, by-pass dust). And, lastly, construction 
demolition materials (CDM) such as reclaimed rail 
ballast, concrete slurries, bricks, pavements, walls, 
roofing, structures and concrete sludge.

METHODOLOGY AND CONSOLIDATION 2024 CONTINUED
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• Biodiversity and quarries: Quarries that have been 
assessed using Biodiversity Indicator Reporting System 
(BIRS) and those with rehabilitation plans in place are 
aligned with the Holcim Directive on Quarry 
Rehabilitation and Biodiversity. The key requirements go 
far beyond legal compliance and include measures 
respecting the mitigation hierarchy (avoid, minimize, 
restore and offset) and a biodiversity management plan 
for sites assessed as of high biodiversity value.

Health and safety (H&S) 
H&S performance indicators follow the GCCA 
Sustainability Guidelines for the monitoring and reporting 
of safety in cement and concrete manufacturing, issued in 
March 2023.

H&S data is gathered at site level and further consolidated 
at Country/Group Reporting Unit level, and covers all 
business segments and their industrial production sites, 
including corporate and above country, regional and 
service entities.

In 2024, H&S data was collected through Holcim’s 
reporting system: iCare | HSE Incident management 
module. Data are segregated according to on-site and 
offsite incidents, and cover employees, contractors and 
third parties. The hours worked that are used to calculate 
incident rates for employees and contractors are 
calculated and/or estimated locally by business units.

Incidents are classified as Direct Control or Indirect 
Control, with only Direct Control incidents – where Holcim 
has direct responsibility or supervision – being publicly 
reported. To ensure clarity, Holcim applies a detailed 
framework to define non-work-related cases, examples 
include events unrelated to work such as sporting events 
and certain medical conditions.

Human Resources indicators
In 2024, People data was primarily collected through the 
HR software platform Success Factors and complemented 
where necessary with additional indicators collected 
through the People questionnaire part of the annual 
Sustainability reporting campaign.

The 2024 human resources data are derived from a survey 
covering 72 entities representing 96% of the total Group 
workforce.

Human resources reporting involves a thorough validation 
process of Success Factors (SF) data. Group reporting 
units confirm and formally approve their data. Any 
discrepancies are individually addressed, requiring 
updates in SF or detailed explanations for mismatches.

Data is gathered at Country/Group reporting unit level 
and covers all business segments and their industrial 
production sites, including corporate and above country, 
regional and service entities.

People and Social Initiatives indicators
In 2024, social impact data was collected through 
Holcim’s reporting system and respective protocol: the 
annual human rights and social impact questionnaire. 
Information about spending on social initiatives was 
reported through Holcim’s financial reporting process on 
a quarterly basis, at the Country/Group Reporting Unit 
level, and covers all business segments and their 
industrial production sites. 

The 2024 human rights and social impact data are derived 
from a survey covering 62 entities representing 87% of 
the total Group workforce and include majority-owned 
entities and managed assets. We collect information on, 
among other aspects, the entities’ implementation of the 
human rights approach, human rights assessment and 
action plans, stakeholder engagement activities and 
community engagement structures, specific impact 
indicators of social initiatives, volunteering activities, 
political donations and subsidies.

The total contribution to create positive social impact is a 
cumulative KPI from 2021 to 2030. In 2024, it is calculated 
by including the total spend on the social initiatives made 
by Holcim to implement social impact projects and 
donations. It also includes third-party contributions, 
which are the resources received through external 
partnerships to implement social initiatives led by Holcim 
in the countries.

Holcim differentiates four categories for the social 
initiatives, which are:

• Housing and Infrastructure: Initiatives that facilitate 
access to housing and infrastructure for the community, 
such as affordable housing solutions, building or 
improving community facilities (emergency relief 
shelters, sanitation, parks, rural roads, etc.).

• Health: Health awareness campaigns, vaccination 
programs, general healthcare services and building or 
improving hospital infrastructure.

• Education and Skills: Road safety, lectures in partnership 
with schools and universities, livelihood and income-
generation programs, professional training targeting the 
community and building or improving school 
infrastructure.

• Other: Environmental management and awareness, 
cultural, recreational or other initiatives to contribute to 
positive social impact.

Under Human Rights and Social Impact reporting, data 
such as number of community advisory panels, number of 
engagements with key stakeholders at site level, and 
complaints related to human rights, environmental impact 
and other potential risks are recorded. Furthermore, any 
conflicts with stakeholders that sites may have or expect 
in the future, and how such conflicts are addressed, are 
captured. Also, countries report on the latest version of 
their human rights assessments and the status of 
implementation of their human rights action plans. 

Reporting cycle
The Holcim Group will continue to report annually.
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Independent verifier’s limited assurance report on 
a selection of non-financial information for the year ended 
31 December 2024.

To the Executive Committee,

Further to your request and in our quality as an 
independent verifier, member of the network of one of the 
statutory auditors of the entity Holcim Ltd (hereafter, the 
“Entity”), we present our report on a selection of non-
financial information consisting in selected consolidated 
environmental, health & safety, social and taxonomy 
indicators (hereafter, the “Sustainability Indicators”) that 
the Entity has chosen to prepare in accordance with its 
protocols consisting in external standards elaborated by 
the Global Concrete and Cement Association (previously 
the World Business Council for Sustainable Development 
– Cement Sustainability Initiative (WBCSD-CSI)) 
completed with Entity-specific procedures (hereafter the 
“Guidelines”), for the year ended on 31 December 2024, 
presented in its Integrated Annual Report (hereafter, the 
“Report”) and listed in Appendix 1.

Our Limited Assurance conclusion 
Based on the procedures we have performed as described 
under the “Nature and scope of procedures” section and 
the evidence we have obtained, nothing has come to our 
attention that causes us to believe that the Sustainability 
Indicators, taken as a whole, are not prepared, in all 
material respects, in accordance with the Guidelines.  

Understanding how Holcim Ltd has prepared the 
Sustainability Indicators
The absence of a commonly used generally accepted 
reporting framework or a significant body of established 
practice to draw on to evaluate and measure sustainability 
information allows for different, but acceptable, 
measurement techniques that can affect comparability 
between entities and over time. 

Consequently, the Sustainability Indicators need to be 
read and understood together with the Guidelines and 
the basis of preparation set out in the “Methodology and 
consolidation 2024” section of the Sustainability 
Performance Report chapter of the Report (together, “the 
Criteria”), which the Entity has used to prepare the 
Sustainability Indicators.

The Entity’s responsibility 
Management of Holcim Ltd is responsible for: 

• Selecting or establishing suitable criteria for preparing 
the Sustainability Indicators.

• Preparing the Sustainability Indicators in accordance 
with the Criteria.

• Designing, implementing and maintaining internal 
control, maintaining adequate records and making 
estimates that are relevant to the preparation of the 
Sustainability Indicators such that they are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibility of the independent verifier
It is our role, in response to the Entity’s request, based on 
our work, to:

• Plan and perform the engagement to obtain limited 
assurance about whether the Sustainability Indicators 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

• Form an independent conclusion, based on the 
procedures we have performed and the evidence we 
have obtained.

• Report our conclusion to the Executive Committee of 
Holcim Ltd.

As we are engaged to form an independent conclusion on 
the Sustainability Indicators as prepared by management, 
we are not permitted to be involved in their preparation, 
as doing so may compromise our independence. 

It is not our responsibility to report on the entire Report 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 or on the 
compliance with other applicable legal provisions.

Independence and quality management
Our independence is defined by the French Code of 
Ethics (Code de déontologie) of our profession and by the 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including International Independence Standards) issued 
by the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants.

EY also applies International Standard on Quality 
Management 1, Quality Management for Firms that 
Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or 
Other Assurance or Related Services engagements, which 
requires that we design, implement and operate a system 
of quality management including policies or procedures 
regarding compliance with ethical requirements, 
professional standards and applicable legal and 
regulatory requirements. 

ASSURANCE STATEMENT
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Means and resources
Our work engaged the skills of 12 people between 
November 2024 and February 2025 and took place on a 
total duration of intervention of about 18 weeks.

Nature and scope of procedures
We performed a limited assurance engagement in 
accordance with international standard ISAE 3000 
(revised)1 (International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements).

We undertook interviews with people responsible for the 
preparation of the Sustainability Indicators in the 
Sustainable Development, Health & Safety, Human 
Resources and EU Taxonomy Project Management 
Departments, in charge of the data collection process 
and, when applicable, the people responsible for internal 
control processes and risk management, in order to:

• Assess the suitability of the Guidelines for reporting, in 
relation to their relevance, completeness, reliability, 
neutrality and understandability.

• Assess the implementation of the process for the 
collection, compilation, processing and control for 
completeness and consistency of the Sustainability 
Indicators, and identify the procedures for internal 
control and risk management related to the preparation 
of the Sustainability Indicators.

We determined the nature and extent of our tests and 
inspections based on the nature and importance of the 
Sustainability Indicators, in relation to the characteristics 
of the Entity, its social and environmental issues and its 
strategy in relation to sustainable development. 

• At the Entity level, we consulted documentary sources 
and conducted interviews to corroborate the qualitative 
information (organization, policies, actions, etc.), 
implemented analytical procedures on the quantitative 
information and verified, on a test basis, the calculations 
and the compilation of the information, and also 
assessed their coherence and consistency with the other 
information presented in the Report.

• At the level of the representative selection of sites and 
entities that we made , based on their activity, their 
contribution to the consolidated indicators, their 
location and a risk analysis, we undertook interviews to 
challenge the correct application of the procedures and 
undertook detailed tests on the basis of samples, 
consisting in verifying the calculations made and linking 
them with supporting documentation. The sites and 
entities selected represented on average 9% of the hours 
worked used for the calculation of safety indicators, 8% 
of the total number of employees (headcount), and 
between 8% and 17% of the environmental information.3

The procedures performed in a limited assurance 
engagement vary in nature and timing from, and are less 
in extent than for a reasonable assurance engagement. 
Consequently, the level of assurance obtained in a limited 
assurance engagement is substantially lower than the 
assurance that would have been obtained had we 
performed a reasonable assurance engagement.

Paris-La Défense
27 February 2025

The Independent Verifier
EY & Associés

Partner, Sustainable Development
Christophe Schmeitzky

STRATEGIC           
REVIEW

FINANCIAL           
REVIEW

GOVERNANCE, RISK & 
COMPENSATION

MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION

SUSTAINABILITY 
PERFORMANCE

HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report  395

1 ISAE 3000 (revised): “Assurance Engagements other than audits or reviews of historical information”.
2 Four cement plants: Bath (Eastern Canada), Milaki (Greece), El-Sokhna (Egypt), Nobsa (Colombia), and 4 Group Reporting Units (GRU): 

Eastern Canada, Greece, Egypt and Colombia.  
3 On average 13% of production (cement produced (10%), aggregates produced (16%), RMX produced (13%)), 12% of absolute Scope 1 emissions – Gross, 

9% of absolute scope 2 emissions (market-based), 9% of waste derived resources, 17% of air emissions, and 8% of cement freshwater withdrawal.
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The Sustainability Indicators

Products and solutions

• Clinker produced
• Cement produced
• Cementitious material produced
• Aggregates produced
• RMX produced
• Clinker factor (average % of clinker in cements)

Recycling waste and internal waste

• Total raw material consumed – excl. fuels
• Waste derived resources 
• Construction and demolition materials (CDM)
• Internal hazardous waste recycled or recovered
• Internal hazardous waste disposed
• Internal non-hazardous waste recycled or recovered
• Internal non-hazardous waste disposed

Energy and GHG emissions

• Energy consumption total
• Thermal energy consumption
• Electrical energy consumption
• Absolute Scope 1 emissions – gross
• Absolute Scope 2 emissions (market-based)
• Absolute Scope 3 emissions – total
• Absolute Scope 3 emissions per category of emissions (as defined by 

the GHG Protocol)
– Category 1 – Purchased goods and services
– Category 2 – Capital goods
– Category 3 – Fuel and energy-related activities
– Category 4 – Upstream transportation and distribution
– Category 5 – Waste generated in operations
– Category 6 – Business travel
– Category 7 – Employee commuting
– Category 8 – Upstream leased assets
– Category 9 – Downstream transportation and distribution
– Category 10 – Processing of sold products
– Category 11 – Use of sold products
– Category 12 – End-of-life treatment of sold products
– Category 13 – Downstream leased assets
– Category 14 – Franchises
– Category 15 – Investments
– Specific CO₂ emissions – net (Scope 1) – cement plants only
– Specific CO₂ emissions – gross (Scope 1) – cement plants only
– CO₂ emissions – electricity (Scope 2) – cement plants only
– CO₂ indirect emissions from purchased fuels (Scope 3)
– CO₂ indirect emissions from purchased clinker and cement (Scope 3)
– CO₂ indirect emissions from downstream transportation (Scope 3)

Water

• Cement Specific freshwater withdrawal
• Aggregates Specific freshwater withdrawal
• Ready-mix Specific freshwater withdrawal
• Total water withdrawal

Environmental management systems (EMS) and compliance

• Cement sites with ISO 14001 certification

Biodiversity

• Quarries assessed using BIRS methodology – active only
• Quarries with rehabilitation plan in place
• Quarries with biodiversity importance 
• Quarries with biodiversity importance with biodiversity management 

plans in place

Air emissions

• Clinker produced with continuous monitoring of dust, NOx and SO₂ 
emissions

• Clinker produced with monitoring of dust, NOx and SO₂ emissions
• Total dust, NOx, SO₂, VOC, mercury, dioxin/furans emissions
• Specific dust, NOx, SO₂, VOC, mercury, dioxin/furans emissions

People: Social initiatives

• Total contribution to create positive social impact

Health and safety

• Fatalities (employees and contractors)
• Lost time injury frequency rate (LTIFR) for employees on site
• Lost time injury frequency rate (LTIFR) for contractors on site
• Total injury frequency rate (TIFR) for employees and contractors on site

Social

• Number of employees (headcount): total
• Number of employees (headcount): by gender
• Number of employees (headcount): by contract type (permanent & 

temporary)
• Number of employees who have left undertaking
• Overall employee turnover rate
• Gender distribution in percentage of employees (headcount) at senior 

management level
• Distribution of employees under the age of 30; between 30 and 50; 

above 50 years (in headcount percentage)
• Gender distribution in percentage of employees who had an annual 

performance review
• Average of training hours per employee and by gender

EU Taxonomy

• EU Taxonomy-aligned turnover
• EU Taxonomy-aligned CapEx
• EU Taxonomy-aligned OpEx
• EU Taxonomy-eligible turnover
• EU Taxonomy-eligible CapEx
• EU Taxonomy-eligible OpEx

APPENDIX 1: SELECTION OF NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION



Holcim Ltd has begun to adopt the European Sustainability 
Reporting Standards (ESRS) on a voluntary basis for the period 
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024.

As a leader in sustainability reporting, Holcim is proud to  
begin adopting the EU Corporate Sustainability Reporting 
Directive (CSRD) and European Sustainability Reporting 
Standards (ESRS) on a voluntary basis, ahead of regulatory 
requirements coming into force. This year’s Integrated 
Annual Report reflects our alignment with these new 
frameworks for the period from 1 January 2024 to 
31 December 2024. Material topics are presented in the 
Materiality Matrix on page 197 of the 2024 Integrated 
Annual Report.

In the double materiality assessment, the following topics 
were identified as material:

• Climate change

• Pollution

• Water and marine resources

• Biodiversity and ecosystems

• Resource use and circular economy

• Own workforce

• Workers in the value chain

• Affected communities

• Business Conduct 

Where we have available data on ESRS topics and 
disclosures, we have included this data and the relevant 
links (where applicable) in the content index.

AR: 2024 Integrated Annual Report
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CSRD INDEX

CROSS-CUTTING STANDARDS 
ESRS 2 – General disclosures

Disclosure requirements and incorporation by reference Report Location / Website / Omissions / Explanations GRI Reference

BP-1 General basis for preparation of 
sustainability statements

AR: page 390 GRI 2, 2-2; GRI 3, 3-1

BP-2 Disclosures in relation to specific 
circumstances

AR: page 390 GRI 2, 2-4; GRI 2, 
2-22; GRI 3, 3-2; 
GRI 3, 3-3

GOV-1 The role of the administrative, 
management and supervisory 
bodies

AR: pages 138–144 GRI 2, 2-9; GRI 2, 
2-12; GRI 2, 2-13; 
GRI 2, 2-14; GRI 2, 
2-17; GRI 405, 405-1

GOV-2 Information provided to and 
sustainability matters addressed by 
the undertaking’s administrative, 
management and supervisory 
bodies

AR: page 143
holcim.com/governance

GRI 2, 2-12; GRI 2, 
2-13; GRI 2, 2-16; 
GRI 2, 2-24

GOV-3 Integration of sustainability-related 
performance in incentive schemes

AR: pages 166–191 Compensation Report GRI 2, 2-19; GRI 2, 
2-20

GOV-4 Statement on due diligence AR: pages 114–117, 120–123, 149–150
holcim.com/sustainable-procurement-directive
holcim.com/human-rights-directive

GOV-5 Risk management and internal 
controls over sustainability 
reporting

AR: pages 112, 143–148, 194–235
AR: pages 136–164 Corporate Governance Report
AR: pages 390 “Methodology” section
holcim.com/minimum-control-standards-2025

GRI 2, 2-14

SBM-1 Strategy, business model and value 
chain

AR: pages 4–9, 12–22, 52–57
AR: pages 120–122, 196–199
holcim.com/sustainable-supply-chain

GRI 2, 2-6; GRI 2, 2-7; 
GRI 2, 2-22; GRI 3, 
3-3; GRI 201, 201-1

SBM-2 Interests and views of stakeholders AR: pages 100–104, 114–116, 196, 212–213
holcim.com/human-rights-social-policy
holcim.com/human-rights-directive

GRI 2, 2-12; GRI 2, 
2-29

SBM-3 Material impacts, risks and 
opportunities and their interaction 
with strategy and business model

AR: pages 194–235 “Risk and control” section GRI 2, 2-27; GRI 3, 
3-2; GRI 3, 3-3; 
GRI 201, 201-2; 
GRI 303, 303-1; 
GRI 306, 306-1; 
GRI 308, 308-2; 
GRI 413, 413-2; 
GRI 414, 414-2

IRO-1 Description of the process to 
identify and assess material 
impacts, risks and opportunities

AR: pages 194–235 “Risk and control” section GRI 2, 2-14; GRI 3, 
3-1;

IRO-2 Disclosure requirements in ESRS 
covered by the undertaking’s 
sustainability statement

AR: pages 198–199

MDR-P Policies adopted to manage 
material sustainability matters

holcim.com/esg-policies GRI 2, 2-23; GRI 2, 
2-24; GRI 3, 3-3

MDR-A Actions and resources in relation to 
material sustainability matters

AR: pages 50–122 Leading in sustainability
holcim.com/sustainability

GRI 3, 3-3

MDR-M Metrics in relation to material 
sustainability matters

AR: pages 378–389 Performance data tables
AR: pages 390–393 “Methodology” section

GRI 3, 3-3

MDR-T Tracking effectiveness of policies 
and actions through targets

AR: pages 58–59, 379 GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 303, 
303-1

CSRD CONTENT INDEX 2024 CONTINUED
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https://www.holcim.com/who-we-are/governance
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/docs/02-sustainable-procurement-directive-2024_final.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2023-07/holcim_human-rights-directive.docx.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/docs/mcs-booklet-2025.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/sustainable-supply-chain
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/documents/21062021_holcim_sustainability-human-rights-social-policy.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2023-07/holcim_human-rights-directive.docx.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/esg/esg-policies-documents-reports
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability


CSRD INDEX

ENVIRONMENTAL STANDARDS
ESRS E1 – Climate change

Disclosure requirements and incorporation by reference Report Location / Website / Omissions / Explanations GRI Reference

E1.GOV-3 Integration of sustainability-related 
performance (climate) in incentive 
schemes

AR: page 175 GRI 2, 2-19

E1-1 Transition plan for climate change 
mitigation

AR: pages 66–69
holcim.com/climate-action

E1.SBM-3 Material impacts, risks and 
opportunities and their interaction 
with strategy and business model

AR: pages 214–235 GRI 201, 201-2

E1.IRO-1 Description of the processes to 
identify and assess material 
climate-related impacts, risks and 
opportunities

AR: page 194

E1-2 Policies related to climate change 
mitigation and adaptation

holcim.com/climate-policy
holcim.com/cement-environmental-directive

E1-3 Actions and resources in relation to 
climate change policies

AR: pages 66–104
holcim.com/climate-action

GRI 305, 305-5

E1-4 Targets related to climate change 
mitigation and adaptation

AR: page 67
holcim.com/net-zero-journey

GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 305, 
305-1; GRI 305, 
305-2; GRI 305, 305-3

E1-5 Energy consumption and mix AR: pages 74–76, 380
holcim.com/climate-action

GRI 302, 302-1; 
GRI 302, 302-3

E1-6 Gross Scopes 1, 2, 3 and Total GHG 
emissions

AR: pages 68, 381 GRI 305, 305-1; 
GRI 305, 305-2; 
GRI 305, 305-3; 
GRI 305, 305-4

E1-7 GHG removals and GHG mitigation 
projects financed through carbon 
credits

AR: page 67 GRI 305, 305-5

E1-8 Internal carbon pricing Not disclosed in 2024

E1-9 Anticipated financial effects from 
material physical and transition 
risks and potential climate-related 
opportunities

AR: pages 214–235 GRI 201, 201-2
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https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/climate-action
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2023-04/holcim_climate_policy.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/documents/lafargeholcim_cement_environmental_directive_revison_2020.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/climate-action
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/climate-action/our-net-zero-journey
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/climate-action


CSRD INDEX

ENVIRONMENTAL STANDARDS CONTINUED
ESRS E2 – Pollution

Disclosure requirements and incorporation by reference Report Location / Website / Omissions / Explanations GRI Reference

E2.IRO-1 Description of the processes to 
identify and assess material 
pollution-related impacts, risks and 
opportunities

AR: pages 194–197
holcim.com/environment

GRI 3, 3-3

E2-1 Policies related to pollution holcim.com/cement-environmental-directive
holcim.com/water-directive

E2-2 Actions and resources related to 
pollution

AR: pages 112–113 GRI 3, 3-3

E2-3 Targets related to pollution AR: pages 112–113, 379
holcim.com/environment

GRI 3, 3-3; 
GRI 303, 303-2

E2-4 Pollution of air, water and soil AR: pages 112–113, 379, 383–385
Pollution of soil is not material for Holcim
holcim.com/environment

GRI 2, 2-27; 
GRI 305, 305-7

E2-6 Anticipated financial effects from 
material pollution-related risks and 
opportunities

AR: pages 213, 229

ESRS E3 – Water and marine resources

E3.IRO-1 Description of the processes to 
identify and assess material water 
and marine resources-related 
impacts, risks and opportunities

AR: pages 194–197
holcim.com/water

GRI 303, 303-1

E3-1 Policies related to water and marine 
resources

holcim.com/nature-policy
holcim.com/water-directive

E3-2 Actions and resources related to 
water and marine resources

AR: pages 96–98
holcim.com/water

GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 303, 
303-1

E3-3 Targets related to water and marine 
resources

AR: pages 96, 383
holcim.com/water

GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 303, 
303-1

E3-4 Water consumption AR: page 383 GRI 303, 303-3; 
GRI 303, 303-4; 
GRI 303, 303-5

E3-5 Anticipated financial effects from 
material water and marine 
resources-related risks and 
opportunities

AR: pages 228–230

CSRD CONTENT INDEX 2024 CONTINUED
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https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/hse/environment
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/documents/lafargeholcim_cement_environmental_directive_revison_2020.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/documents/lafargeholcim_additional_esg_resources_-_water_directive_.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/hse/environment
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/hse/environment
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/nature/water
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2022-06/holcim_nature_policy.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/docs/holcim-directive-water-directive_december-2024.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/nature/water
https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/nature/water


CSRD INDEX

ENVIRONMENTAL STANDARDS CONTINUED
ESRS E4 – Biodiversity and ecosystems

Disclosure requirements and incorporation by reference Report Location / Website / Omissions / Explanations GRI Reference

E4-1 Transition plan and consideration of 
biodiversity and ecosystems in 
strategy and business model

AR: pages 96–99
holcim.com/biodiversity
holcim.com/sustainable-procurement-directive

GRI 3, 3-3

E4.SBM-3 Material impacts, risks and 
opportunities and their interaction 
with strategy and business model

AR: pages 228–230 GRI 304, 304-1

E4.IRO-1 Description of processes to identify 
and assess material biodiversity and 
ecosystem-related impacts, risks 
and opportunities

AR: pages 194–197 GRI 304, 304-1

E4-2 Policies related to biodiversity and 
ecosystems

AR: pages 96–99
holcim.com/biodiversity   
holcim.com/nature-policy 
holcim.com/quarry-rehabilitation-biodiversity-directive

Several

E4-3 Actions and resources related to 
biodiversity and ecosystems

AR: pages 96–99
holcim.com/biodiversity   

GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 304, 
304-3

E4-4 Targets related to biodiversity and 
ecosystems

AR: pages 96–97, 384
holcim.com/biodiversity   

GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 304, 
304-3

E4-5 Impact metrics related to 
biodiversity and ecosystems 
change

AR: page 384 GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 304, 
304-1; GRI 304, 
304-2; GRI 304, 304-4

E4-6 Anticipated financial effects from 
material biodiversity and 
ecosystem-related risks and 
opportunities

AR: pages 96–99
holcim.com/biodiversity

ESRS E5 – Resource use and circular economy

E5.IRO-1 Description of the processes to 
identify and assess material 
resource use and circular economy-
related impacts, risks and 
opportunities

AR: pages 194–199
holcim.com/circular-economy

GRI 3, 3-3

E5-1 Policies related to resource use and 
circular economy

holcim.com/circular-economy-policy
holcim.com/waste-management

GRI 3, 3-3

E5-2 Actions and resources related to 
resource use and circular economy

AR: pages 26–27
holcim.com/circular-economy

GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 306, 
306-2

E5-3 Targets related to resource use and 
circular economy

AR: page 384  
holcim.com/circular-economy

GRI 3, 3-3

E5-4 Resource inflows AR: page 70–77
holcim.com/circular-economy

GRI 301, 301-1; 
GRI 301, 301-2; 
GRI 306, 306-1

E5-5 Resource outflows holcim.com/circular-economy GRI 306, 306-2; 
GRI 306, 306-3; 
GRI 306, 306-4; 
GRI 306, 306-5

E5-6 Anticipated financial effects from 
material resource use and circular 
economy-related risks and 
opportunities

AR: pages 202, 204, 226, 228
holcim.com/circular-economy
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CSRD INDEX

SOCIAL STANDARDS 
ESRS S1 – Own workforce 

Disclosure requirements and incorporation by reference Report Location / Website / Omissions / Explanations GRI Reference

S1.SBM-2 Interests and views of stakeholders AR: pages 114–116

S1.SBM-3 Material impacts, risks and 
opportunities and their interaction 
with strategy and business model

AR: pages 194–197 GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 408, 
408-1; GRI 409, 409-1

S1-1 Policies related to own workforce AR: pages 106–112
holcim.com/human-resources-policy
holcim.com/diversity-inclusion-standard
holcim.com/code-of-business-conduct
holcim.com/health-safety-environment-policy

GRI 2, 2-23; GRI 2, 
2-25; GRI 2, 2-29; 
GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 403, 
403-1; GRI 403, 
403-3; GRI 404, 
404-2; GRI 408, 
408-1; GRI 409, 409-1

S1-2 Processes for engaging with own 
workforce and workers’ 
representatives about impacts

AR: pages 106–116
holcim.com/human-rights

GRI 2, 2-12; GRI 2, 
2-29; GRI 3, 3-3

S1-3 Processes to remediate negative 
impacts and channels for own 
workforce to raise concerns

AR: pages 106–116
holcim.com/human-rights

GRI 2, 2-25; GRI 2, 
2-26; GRI 403, 403-2

S1-4 Taking action on material impacts 
on own workforce, and approaches 
to managing material risks and 
pursuing material opportunities 
related to own workforce, and 
effectiveness of those actions

AR: pages 106–116
holcim.com/human-rights

GRI 2, 2-24; GRI 3, 
3-3; GRI 203, 203-2; 
GRI 403, 403-9; 
GRI 403, 403-10

S1-5 Targets related to managing 
material negative impacts, 
advancing positive impacts, and 
managing material risks and 
opportunities

AR: pages 106–116
holcim.com/human-rights

GRI 3, 3-3

S1-6 Characteristics of the undertaking’s 
employees

AR: pages 388–389 GRI 2, 2-7; GRI 401, 
401-1; GRI 405, 405-1

S1-7 Characteristics of non-employees in 
the undertaking’s own workforce

Not disclosed in 2024 GRI 2, 2-8

S1-8 Collective bargaining coverage and 
social dialogue

AR: page 389 GRI 2, 2-30

S1-9 Diversity metrics AR: pages 388–389 GRI 405, 405-1

S1-10 Adequate wages We do not currently collect this specific information. GRI 202, 202-1

S1-11 Social protection We do not currently collect this specific information. GRI 401, 401-2

S1-12 Persons with disabilities Information on persons with disabilities is not available as of the date of 
this publication. This information will published once available.
holcim.com/diversity-inclusion-additional-indicators

GRI 405, 405-1

S1-13 Training and skills development 
metrics

AR: page 388 GRI 404, 404-1; 
GRI 404, 404-3

CSRD CONTENT INDEX 2024 CONTINUED
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CSRD INDEX

SOCIAL STANDARDS CONTINUED
ESRS S1 – Own workforce

Disclosure requirements and incorporation by reference Report Location / Website / Omissions / Explanations GRI Reference

S1-14 Health and safety metrics AR: page 387 GRI 403, 403-8; 
GRI 403, 403-9; 
GRI 403, 403-10

S1-15 Work-life balance metrics We do not currently collect this specific information. GRI 401, 401-3

S1-16 Remuneration metrics (pay gap and 
total remuneration)

Information on gender pay gap is not available as of the date of this 
publication. This information will published once available.
holcim.com/diversity-inclusion-additional-indicators

GRI 2, 2-21; GRI 405, 
405-2

S1-17 Incidents, complaints and severe 
human rights impacts

AR: page 148 GRI 2, 2-25; GRI 2, 
2-27; GRI 3, 3-3; 
GRI 406, 406-1

ESRS S2 – Workers in the value chain

S2.SBM-3 Material impacts, risks and 
opportunities and their interaction 
with strategy and business model

AR: pages 120–122, Sustainable supply chain GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 408, 
408-1; GRI 409, 409-1

S2-1 Policies related to value chain 
workers

holcim.com/sustainable-procurement-directive
holcim.com/code-of-conduct-suppliers
holcim.com/workers-in-the-value-chain-directive

GRI 2, 2-23; GRI 2, 
2-24;  GRI 2, 2-25; 
GRI 2, 2-29; GRI 3, 
3-3; GRI 408, 408-1; 
GRI 409, 409-1

S2-2 Processes for engaging with value 
chain workers about impacts

AR: pages 120–122, Sustainable supply chain GRI 2, 2-12; GRI 2, 
2-29; GRI 3, 3-3

S2-3 Processes to remediate negative 
impacts and channels for value 
chain workers to raise concerns

AR: pages 120–122, Sustainable supply chain GRI 2, 2-25;  GRI 2, 
2-26; GRI 2, 2-29; 
GRI 3, 3-3

S2-4 Taking action on material impacts 
on value chain workers, and 
approaches to managing material 
risks and pursuing material 
opportunities related to value chain 
workers, and effectiveness of those 
actions

AR: pages 120–122, Sustainable supply chain GRI 2, 2-24; GRI 2, 
2-25; GRI 203, 203-2; 
GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 203, 
203-2; GRI 204, 1.1; 
GRI 403, 403-7

S2-5 Targets related to managing 
material negative impacts, 
advancing positive impacts, and 
managing material risks and 
opportunities

Not disclosed in 2024 GRI 3, 3-3
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https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/docs/workers-in-the-value-chain-people-directive-2024.pdf


CSRD INDEX

SOCIAL STANDARDS CONTINUED
ESRS S3 – Affected communities

Disclosure requirements and incorporation by reference Report Location / Website / Omissions / Explanations GRI Reference

S3.SBM-3 Material impacts, risks and 
opportunities and their interaction 
with strategy and business model

AR: pages 114–118, Human rights and our communities GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 413, 
413-2

S3-1 Policies related to affected 
communities

holcim.com/human-rights-and-social-policy
holcim.com/human-rights-at-holcim
holcim.com/human-rights-directive

GRI 2, 2-23; GRI 2, 
2-25; GRI 2, 2-29; 
GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 411, 
411-1

S3-2 Processes for engaging with 
affected communities about 
impacts

AR: pages 114–118, Human rights and our communities GRI 2, 2-12; GRI 2, 
2-29; GRI 3, 3-3

S3-3 Processes to remediate negative 
impacts and channels for affected 
communities to raise concerns

AR: pages 114–118, Human rights and our communities
AR: pages 212–213, Human rights – salient risks

GRI 2, 2-25;  GRI 2, 
2-26; GRI 3, 3-3

S3-4 Taking action on material impacts 
on affected communities, and 
approaches to managing material 
risks and pursuing material 
opportunities related to affected 
communities, and effectiveness of 
those actions

AR: pages 114–118, Human rights and our communities
AR: pages 212–213, Human rights – salient risks

GRI 2, 2-24; GRI 2, 
2-25; GRI 3, 3-3; 
GRI 203, 203-2; 
GRI 413, 413-1; 
GRI 411, 411-1

S3-5 Targets related to managing 
material negative impacts, 
advancing positive impacts, and 
managing material risks and 
opportunities

Not disclosed in 2024 GRI 3, 3-3
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https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/documents/21062021_holcim_sustainability-human-rights-social-policy.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2023-07/human-rights-at-holcim_governancecase-studies.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2023-07/holcim_human-rights-directive.docx.pdf


CSRD INDEX

GOVERNANCE STANDARDS
ESRS G1 – Business conduct

Disclosure requirements and incorporation by reference Report Location / Website / Omissions / Explanations GRI Reference

G1.GOV-1 The role of the administrative, 
management and supervisory 
bodies in business conduct

AR: pages 136–164 Corporate Governance Report
AR: page  389
holcim.com/code-of-business-conduct

GRI 2, 2-9; GRI 2, 
2-12

G1.IRO-1 Description of processes to identify 
and assess material impacts, risks, 
dependencies and opportunities in 
relation to business conduct 
matters

AR: pages 194–235 “Risk and control” section

G1-1 Business conduct policies and 
corporate culture

AR: pages 136–164 Corporate Governance Report
AR: pages 106–111
holcim.com/code-of-business-conduct
holcim.com/governance-code-of-conduct

GRI 2, 2-16; GRI 2, 
2-23; GRI 2, 2-24; 
GRI 2, 2-26

G1-2 Management of relationships with 
suppliers

AR: pages 104–105, 120–123, 149–150
holcim.com/sustainable-procurement-directive
holcim.com/supplier-code-of-conduct
holcim.com/sustainable-supply-chain

GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 204, 
1.1; GRI 308, 308-1; 
GRI 414, 414-1

G1-3 Prevention and detection of 
corruption and bribery

AR: pages 147–148 
holcim.com/anti-bribery-and-corruption-policy
holcim.com/compliance-program-faq

GRI 2, 2-13; GRI 2, 
2-16; GRI 2, 2-26; 
GRI 3, 3-3; GRI 205, 
205-2; GRI 205, 1.2

G1-4 Incidents of corruption or bribery  AR: pages 147–148 GRI 2, 2-27; GRI 3, 
3-3; GRI 205, 205-3

G1-5 Political influence and lobbying 
activities

AR: pages 100–103, 389
holcim.com/public-policy-positions
holcim.com/lobbying-and-advocacy-directive

GRI 2, 2-9; GRI 415, 
415-1

G1-6 Payment practices holcim.com/code-of-business-conduct
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https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/docs/holcim-code-of-business-conduct-cobc.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/docs/holcim-code-of-business-conduct-cobc.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/who-we-are/governance/code-of-conduct
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https://www.holcim.com/sustainability/sustainable-supply-chain
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https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/docs/holcim-code-of-business-conduct-cobc.pdf


Holcim Ltd has reported in accordance with 
SASB Construction Materials Sustainability 
Accounting Standard for the period 
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024.

As of August 2022, the International Sustainability 
Standards Board (ISSB) of the IFRS Foundation assumed 
responsibility for the SASB Standards. The ISSB has 
committed to maintaining, enhancing and evolving the 
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) 
Standards and encourages preparers to continue applying 
the SASB Standards. The SASB Standards guide the 
disclosure of financially material sustainability information 
by companies to their investors. SASB Standards identify 
the subset of environmental, social and governance (ESG) 
issues most relevant to financial performance in 77 
industries. The SASB Standards focus on financially 
material issues because their mission is to help businesses 
around the world report on the sustainability topics that 
matter most to their investors. Although a great deal of 
ESG and sustainability information is publicly disclosed, it 
can often be difficult to identify and assess which 
information is most useful for making finance-related 
decisions. SASB identifies financially material issues, 
which are the issues that are reasonably likely to impact 
the financial condition or operating performance of a 
company and are hence most important to investors. 

The material issues identified by SASB for the 
Construction Materials sector are:

• GHG emissions

• Air quality

• Energy management

• Water management

• Waste and hazardous materials management

• Biodiversity impacts

• Workforce health and safety

• Product Innovation

• Pricing Integrity and Transparency

SUSTAINABILITY ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD (SASB) CONTENT INDEX
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SASB INDEX

SASB reference Description Page, comment, performance

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

EM-CM-110a.1 Gross global Scope 1 emissions, percentage 
covered under emissions-limiting 
regulations

AR: page 381

EM-CM-110a.2 Discussion of long-term and 
short-term strategy or plan to manage 
Scope 1 emissions, emissions reduction 
targets, and an analysis of performance 
against those targets

AR: pages 66–69
AR: page 381
holcim.com/climate-action

Air Quality

EM-CM-120a.1 Air emissions of the following pollutants:
• NOx (excluding N₂O)
• SOx

• Particulate matter (Dust-PM10)
• Dioxins/furans
• Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs)
• Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)
• Heavy metals

AR: page 385 
We report annually on all emissions, with the exception of polycyclic aromatic 
hydrocarbons (PAHs), in our Sustainability Performance Report. We report not 
only absolute emissions of these substances but also specific emissions by both 
clinker and cementitious material. 

The only PAH we consider material and measure is benzene, and this is measured 
as required by the Global Cement and Concrete Association. Our measurements 
of benzene emissions in 2024 were: 
Total benzene emissions (tons): 204
Specific benzene emissions: 
• Milligrams/ton clinker: 2.3

Energy Management

EM-CM-130a.1 Total energy consumed AR: page 380

EM-CM-130a.1 Percentage grid electricity AR: page 380

EM-CM-130a.1 Percentage alternative energy AR: pages 380-381

EM-CM-130a.1 Percentage renewable AR: page 380

Water Management

EM-CM-140a.1 Total water withdrawn AR: page 383
We report water withdrawn from a number of sources for all segments and for 
captive power plants separately.

EM-CM-140a.1 Total water consumed AR: page 383
We report total water consumed for all segments and for captive power plants 
separately.

EM-CM-140a.1 Percentage in regions with High or 
Extremely High Baseline Water Stress

AR: page 383
We measure and report on the number of sites located in Medium-High to 
Extremely High water risk areas according to the WRI Aqueduct tool. The concept 
of water risk includes not only water stress but also water quality, regulatory and 
reputational risks. We do not currently disclose water withdrawn.
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SASB INDEX

SASB reference Description Page, comment, performance

Waste Management

EM-CM-150a.1 • Amount of waste generated
• Percentage of hazardous waste
• Percentage of recycled

AR: page 384

Biodiversity Impacts

EM-CM-160a.1 Description of environmental management 
policies and practices for active sites

Our management policies and practices are documented in our Quarry 
rehabilitation and biodiversity Directive
holcim.com/esg-quarry-rehabilitation-and-biodiversity-directive

EM-CM-160a.2 Terrestrial acreage disturbed, percentage of 
impacted area restored

AR: page 384
• Total rehabilitated area was 13,685 ha
• Total of area disturbed in 2024 was 51,254 ha
• We do not currently disclose percentage of impacted area restored 

Workforce Health & Safety

EM-CM-320a.1 • Total recordable incident rate (TRIR)
• Near-miss frequency rate (NMFR) 
for direct employees and contract employee

AR: page 387
We report in our Sustainability Performance Report TIFR and OIFR, which are
calculated with a denominator of one million hours

TRIR employees – 1.53 (per 200,000 hours worked)
TRIR contractors on-site – 0.94 (per 200,000 hours worked)
NMFR employees and contractors – 5.3 (per 200,000 hours worked)

EM-CM-320a.2 Number of reported cases of 
silicosis

In 2024, we had 0 reported cases of silicosis.

Product Innovation

EM-CM-410a.1 Percentage of products that qualify for 
credits in sustainable building design and 
construction certifications (% sales by 
revenue)

We do not currently collect this specific information. However, we collect data on 
our portfolio of sustainable solutions, which in 2024 amounted to 28% of net 
sales. The largest contributor was low-carbon cements and concrete.

EM-CM-410a.2 Total addressable market and share of 
market for products that reduce energy, 
water, and/or material impacts during usage 
and/or production

We do not currently have this information.

Pricing Integrity & Transparency

EM-CM-520a.1 Total amount of monetary losses 
as a result of legal proceedings 
associated with cartel activities, 
price fixing, and antitrust activities

AR: pages 342–343
Detailed description of ongoing legal proceedings (including anti-competition) 
is provided.

Activity Metric

EM-CM-000.A Production by major product line AR: page 385
See “Products and solutions” section for details of production per product line.

SUSTAINABILITY ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD (SASB) CONTENT INDEX CONTINUED

408  HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report

https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/documents/lafargeholcim_additional_esg_resources_-_quarry_rehabilitation_and_biodiversity_directive.pdf


STRATEGIC           
REVIEW

FINANCIAL           
REVIEW

GOVERNANCE, RISK & 
COMPENSATION

MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION

SUSTAINABILITY 
PERFORMANCE

HOLCIM  2024 Integrated Annual Report  409



The following sections comprise the report on 
non-financial matters in accordance with Art. 964b 
of the Swiss Code of Obligations. The advisory 
vote on the report at the Annual General Meeting is 
limited to the content of these sections.

Sustainability is at the core of Holcim’s business and is 
deeply embedded in its corporate strategy. Recognizing 
that sustainability cannot be viewed separately from our 
broader business activities, Holcim adopts an integrated 
approach for the report on non-financial matters pursuant 
to Art. 964b of the Swiss Code of Obligations. Through the 
integration of sustainability topics alongside other 

relevant topics covered in the Integrated Annual Report, 
we aim to provide our shareholders and other 
stakeholders with a comprehensive view of our business 
activities.

CONTENT INDEX

Art. 964b content requirement Section Page reference 

Description of the business model • Record performance pages 18–35

Environmental matters, in particular CO₂ goals • Sustainability performance highlights
• Climate Report
• Performance against targets

pages 58–59
pages 62–105
page 379

Employee-related issues • Holcim people
• Health, safety & environment

pages 106–111
pages 112–113

Social issues and respect for human rights • Human rights and our communities
• Just Transition 
• Report on due diligence and transparency in relation 
   to minerals and metals from conflict-affected  
   areas and child labor

pages 114–119
pages 104–105
pages 149–150

Supply chain • Sustainable supply chain
• Report on due diligence and transparency in
   relation to minerals and metals from conflict-affected  
   areas and child labor

pages 120–123
pages 149–150

Combating corruption • Corporate governance
• Compliance program – performance with integrity 

pages 134–146
pages 147–148

Material risks • Risk and control 
• Material priorities 
• Climate and nature risks and opportunities
• Scenario analysis

pages 194–211
pages 196–197
pages 214–230
pages 232–235

Non-financial performance indicators • Compliance program – performance with integrity 
• Sustainability Performance Report 2024
• Scope and methodology
• Assurance statement 

pages 147–148
pages 376–389
pages 390–393
pages 394–396

DISCLOSURES FOR SWISS CODE OF OBLIGATIONS (ART. 964B)
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In 2024, we made great strides in our mission to 
decarbonize building. From our operations 
to construction and making buildings sustainable 
in use, we are decarbonizing the entire building 
life cycle for a net-zero future. 

Holcim is at the forefront of ESG reporting, showcasing 
an unwavering commitment to transparency and 
environmental responsibility. Pioneering the adoption of 
the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures 
(TCFD) guidelines, the company has consistently led the 
disclosure of its risks and opportunities. For four 
consecutive years, Holcim has published comprehensive 

climate reports. The latest report is fully integrated into 
the company’s Annual Report, underscoring Holcim’s 
holistic approach to reporting. Moreover, Holcim's 
decarbonization targets for 2030 and 2050 are aligned 
with its sector’s 1.5°C science-based framework, 
confirming its commitment to decarbonizing building in 
line with the most advanced science.

CONTENT INDEX

Page reference 

Making progress across all decarbonization levers pages 64–65

Decarbonizing Holcim to become net-zero pages 66–69

Decarbonizing our solutions pages 70–73

Decarbonizing our energy mix pages 74–77

Holcim's value chain: Scope 3 emissions pages 78–79

Decarbonizing our mobility pages 80–81

Driving advanced technologies pages 82–87

Advancing smart design pages 88–89

Circular construction pages 26–27

Circular living pages 90–91

Regenerative Revolution pages 92–93

Sustainable construction pages 94–95

Building a nature-positive future pages 96–99

Advocacy positions and transparency pages 100–103

Just Transition pages 104–105

Climate governance pages 143, 175

Climate risks and opportunities pages 214–230

Scenario analysis pages 232–235

Performance data tables pages 378–382
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About this document
This complete edition of the Holcim 2024 Integrated 
Annual Report (English only) is legally binding, 
and is available at holcim.com/annual-report-2024. 
An extract of this Annual Report is also available 
in English and German.

https://www.holcim.com/investors/publications/annual-report-2024


In 2022, the SBTi validated 

Holcim’s 2030 targets as aligned 

with a 1.5°C scenario.

For TCFD-guided disclosures

see page 216 of the complete 2024 

Integrated Annual Report.

ABOUT HOLCIM
Holcim is a global leader in innovative 
and sustainable building solutions 
with net sales of CHF 26.4 billion 
in 2024. Our 65,000 employees are 
driven by our purpose to build 
progress for people and the planet 
across our regions to improve living 
standards for all. We partner with 
our customers to offer the broadest 
range of advanced solutions, 
from sustainable building materials 
ECOPact and ECOPlanet, to our 
circularity technology ECOCycle®, 
all the way to Elevate’s advanced 
roofing and insulation systems. 

For more information visit: 
holcim.com

INTEGRATED REPORTING
This report applies the principles of 
Integrated Reporting to show how we 
manage the company sustainably, as 
well as the financial and non-financial 
value we created in 2024.
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